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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER B8 HAIE X & 4
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1 Dongguan Lee & Man
REEX

Annual 590,000 tons of paper
production

capacity:
FERE: 59 MAAK

3 Guangdong Lee & Man
BEREX

Annual 2.30 million tons of paper
production and 110,000 tons of tissue
capacity: paper

FERE 230BMEAR &% 11 B WART A 4K

7 Malaysia Lee & Man
BREDREX

Annual 400,000 tons of pulp board
production

capacity:
FERE: A0EE M FE AR

2 Jiangsu Lee & Man
SRR IE L

Annual 1.12 million tons of paper
production

capacity:
FERE: 1128 M 4%

Chongqing Lee & Man
BEEFEX

Annual 900,000 tons of paper,
production 180,000 tons of pulp and
capacity: 575,000 tons of tissue

paper
0EMAAL « 18E AL
57 58 MEE A 4K

Vietham Lee & Man

HMEEX

Annual 550,000 tons of paper/
production products

capacity:

FERE . 558 WA 4%/ m

o

PRODUCTS Em

Kraft Linerboard TR _
Test Linerboard A1 4R [
Coated Duplex Board BB R4 =

White Top Linerboard HESEE
High Strength Corrugating Medium m?ﬁﬁﬁ%/ﬁ\? ""/
Pulp

Tissue Paper ’?EI’E%R ™

_— —
/
|

BGERER AR 2019 F£3R 3



CORPORATE INFORMATION

AR EH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sas Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH sp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sas sp
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

RNEEH (FE)

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
In Hong Kong and Macau:

Hang Seng Bank

Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

DBS

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
3rd Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54 Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue Profit for the year Total Assets
[ ON FERF EERE
HKS milion HKS million HKS million
BN HEEL FEET
35,000 — 6,000 50,000 {
43,290 49777497
30,000 r1en 5040 4 ga 45,000
25,837 ’ 5,000 40,000
35,599
25,000 1 85,000
35,000
4,000
3,300 ]
1 18,342 g 30,000
200001 |, o183
3,000 1 2863 25,000 |
15,000 2,332
20,000
10,000 2,000 15,000
10,000
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5,000 |
0 0 0
5 & «@5"* & 5 & & & 5 80 & 50 0
0 q/Q\ r)/ q/ Q\@ 6\% Q\« Q\Q’ @\Q R RGN
Qk ‘ZO/ R Q(L drb Qﬁ/ d‘b & AT T A A
Total Equity Sales Volume (Packaging Paper)  Sales Volume (Tissue Paper)
ESAE HEZ (BFEK) SHES (FEHK)
HK$ million , ,
= g 000 Tons 000 Tons
AEBIT i i
30,0007 6,000 5,519 5,628 200 | 663
26,083 5 500 5,250 5167
: : 601
25,000 ” 91623,146 5,000 600 1
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20,000 , 500 +
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400 - 352
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2,500 300 1
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15001 200 1 141
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Year ended
31 December
HE
12A31BLLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THEx THET THT
RESULTS |
Revenue WA 17,615,641 18,341,677 25,836,384 32,208,082
Profit before tax BIAIRF 2,750,162 3,354,017 6,323,175 6,127,332
Income tax expense MNEFRTH (418,487) (491,274) (1,282,883) (1,247,112)
Profit for the year FERAH 2,331,675 2,862,743 5,040,292 4,880,220
At 31 December
W12A318
2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEr FET THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZEREE
Total assets BEE 35,599,063 34,995,978 43,289,793 42,776,828
Total liabilities MEE (18,362,876)  (18,173,013)  (21,373,675) (19,630,977
Net assets EEFE 17,236,187 16,822,965 21,916,118 23,145,851

2019
HK$'000
TR

27,144,210

4,020,195
(719,930)

3,300,265

2019
HK$'000
TER

43,497,407
(17,414,787)

26,082,620
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

In the year 2019, under the impact of supply-side reform, trade
frictions and other factors, the paper manufacturing industry has
been encountering challenges and adjustments. Lee & Man Paper has
experienced slowdown amidst stability, recording decreases in both
sales revenue and profit, which was within the expectation of the
Group. The strategic goal of the Group remained unchanged. For the
year 2019, the Group recorded total revenue of HK$27.14 billion,
decreased by 15.7% as compared to last year. Net profit decreased
by 32.4% to HK$3.30 billion. Earnings per share for the year was
HK73.95 cents (2018: HK109.92 cents). The board of directors
proposed a final dividend of HK13 cents (2018: HK15 cents) per
share for 2019. During the year, the aggregate sales of the Group
amounted to 6.29 million tons, while its net profit per ton was of
HK$525.

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

According to ASKCI Consulting Company Limited, over the four years
from 2014 to 2017, the operating income of the paper
manufacturing industry in China continued to grow and the
profitability also tended to be stable. However, from the second half
of 2018, with the promotion of supply-side reform in Mainland China
as well as the restriction of new capacity investment owing to the
tightening of environmental policy, both supply and demand of the
industry stayed low. In the international arena, the US-China trade
war began in late August 2018, 25% tariffs on imported waste paper
were imposed resulting in shortage of raw materials supply. At the
same time, market demand from downstream remained poor.
Amidst the impact of a series of factors, the profitability of the paper
manufacturing industry has declined.

8 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report

EBZOERREE

2009 X MG RAIREURBESERER
ZY 2 ERTEERE TR H
B ENEABPBEE  2019FHEIK
ARFEEEMTE  BHESETESR 2
A EEEEEZRETE - 20196482
WAL EFRETEI5.7%E271.48%8
TG FAE T E32.4% =33.0887T - F
A& ZH73.95481L (20184 : 109.92
L) - EEEEHE2019F R KRR S
FRR137ML (20184  15581l) - KEH
20196 AHEE B6298 M - EmTHE
WE S FE A5258 7T ©

TEREKEE

BEFEEXHERBRATERNERFE
T~ B2014-2017F A MER - REEAR
TELEEWRARERZT ik - BN
BREBE - BHR2018FE T FERH - B
ERNHARREREE - M2BENR
RBURBR BIFTISEREIRA » FE1TTEMRDT
TRREFIIRIRE - BIFE £ - 20188 AK -
FEZSEFARRER  EOEEME25%
A SERES RN EFERR
FERMEAZR - R NEERKTR - f£—
RIMAEZZET EECEFBBAT

B e



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

The paper manufacturing industry still faced certain pressure in 2019.
In addition, the ongoing US-China trade friction resulted in the
substantial increase in the cost of paper production, which has in
turn affected consumer confidence. The Group has proactively
responded to the changes in market. The Group has been committed
to developing a vertical business model through active consolidation
of its upstream resources covering pulp manufacturing and recycling
of waste paper so as to achieve an integrated industrial chain to
ensure the supply of raw materials. At the same time, by expanding
scale, controlling costs and strengthening production capacity
leveraging the existing business foundation, the Group will have

more opportunities for business development.

BUSINESS PROSPECT

With the signing of the first phase of the US-China trade agreement
at the beginning of the year, uncertainties have been greatly reduced
and it is expected that market sentiments will be enhanced which
should be conducive to global economic recovery supporting the
potential economic growth of China. However, the recent novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic might also be posting uncertainty
to the situation. The Group will make a proactive effort to optimise
the industrial chain for achieving diversification of the paper and pulp
businesses. In the meantime, leveraging the existing business
foundation, the Group will support the “Belt & Road” initiatives,
targeting Southeast Asia market for international development and
new production capacity increase. In future, the Group will continue
to seek business opportunities in countries and cities along the Belt &
Road and is confident in the long term development of the region.

2019 EMATHE KA EHE —EE S - N
2 PEBHGERMEAFE  SHEKAR
BEA FEEBENHEREDL A&
BEERETSEL  BEEYH - SB—EX
TRBRBERES LHER  ZERER
PRERBBNEEEBERN - AEXE
—BEARERE  BREMBNOEE: R
W SETERBEBERE  TEERE
BRI - IRAERE  LEBERE
ZHHEBEREE -

EBRAR

EEFVTXEZERRBBENREE AR
BRIET AEEN  BRATSHEE B
MREBIREEER - B HEEELEE
R EBERBTIXSOFEBRBERIELZ
THERAFE - AKEEGELEERE - U
BERERMEREIFZNZ LA - A - £
RENEERENER L SEERE[—
B BERBEMS  BRE
BREXMB  BIMMER  KREKEEE
— S RERARETRERK  KEY
R—E—BREERBAEEDL -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFHmE (&)

As for the tissue paper business, it is a major focus of the Group and
an integrated product chain has been formed. Lee & Man Paper has
endeavored to improve the quality of consumer tissue and boost its
scale of production in order to satisfy people’s needs for health and
environmental protection as well as consumption requirements. The
tissue business has maintained steady growth as a whole. The new
tissue production lines with capacity of 100,000 tons at Jiangxi plant
have commenced operation and the tissue business has become the
new growth driver of the Group. The Group will focus on the
requirements of the consumers and continue to adopt effective

strategies for developing the tissue business.

Packaging paper is still the core business of the Group. Since the
outbreak of the US-China trade war in 2018, the packaging paper
business in Mainland China has relatively shrunk. In addition,
Mainland China embarked on waste paper import restriction policy
starting from 2017. The relevant policy restricted the supply of raw
materials and had have some bearing on the domestic paper
manufacturing industry, in turn impacting the waste paper recycling
of the Group. The Group will actively seek alternative methods for

the import of waste paper.

The Group will stay committed to offering quality products to the
public, adhere to a principle that places equal emphasis on
production and operation as well as environmental protection,
strengthen environmental management, step up efforts in reducing
sewage, and implement energy conservation and emission reduction
measures. In the long run, it is believed there is still substantial room
for growth in the paper manufacturing industry. The Group will seize
opportunities to expand its market coverage and maintain

competitiveness in the prevailing paper manufacturing industry.

CONCLUSION

The Group would like to express its sincere gratitude to employees
and shareholders for their strong support. Leveraging its leading
position in the paper manufacturing industry and its consistently solid
development advantage, the Group would further enhance its

profitability and maximise the return to shareholders.

10 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W R D

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was HK$27.14 billion and
HK$3.30 billion respectively, while its net profit per tonne was
HK$525.

The earnings per share for the year was HK73.95 cents when
compared with HK109.92 cents for the year ended 31 December
2018.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$612 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019 as compared to HK$581 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018. It represented about 2.3% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 and was
increased as compared to about 1.8% for the year ended 31
December 2018.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$1,163
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 as compared to
HK$1,518 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. It
represented about 4.3% of the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2019 and was decreased as compared to that of 4.7% for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

TR MK A S
KERE

m=R

HE2019F12A31BIEFEMWA R AK
NREE AEGEFR DR AE271.48B T
K33.088 7T BBEALFIS25E T ©

AEENESRAENE73.95FW - H=
201812 A31HIEFE R A109.92/8
fily

REBEFHZ2019F12A3MBILEFEN
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2018F 12 H31BIEFE RS5.81{EB T o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (E)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s total finance costs (including the amounts capitalised)
was HK$418 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 as
compared to HK$389 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in average interest rate
on bank borrowings during the year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 54 days and 10 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2019 as compared to 61 days and 16 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 39 days for the year ended
31 December 2019 as compared to 35 days for the year ended 31
December 2018. This is in line with the credit terms granted by the
Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 27 days for the year ended
31 December 2019, which was comparable to 33 days for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

1 7 A AR

HZE2019F 128318 ILFE » REEX
BUBERA(BREEERLLSE) B4 18E
BT MAEBE2018F 12831 IEEE
Al A3.89EBT - RAKMEZERNEFR
RITERFHFELEFH -

78 BUSRRRENERREDE
]
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BEERKEFERESHS R R548 &
108 » MAREE2018F12A318LFE
Bln Rl A61E R168 °

REEREZ2019F12A31HLEFEN
JEUWEBR X BEH 5398 - MEZ=20184F
12A31BIEFERA3SH - FEERE
B TEFPHEERS-

AEBREE2019F12A31BIEFERN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2019
was HK$26,083 million (2018: HK$23,146 million). As at 31
December 2019, the Group had current assets of HK$12,491 million
(2018: HK$ 13,280 million) and current liabilities of HK$8,460 million
(2018: HK$10,222 million). The current ratio was 1.48 as at 31
December 2019 as compared to 1.30 at 31 December 2018.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$12,336 million
(2018: HK$13,790 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2019, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$2,919 million (2018: HK$2,012 million).
During the year, the Company issued USD300 million perpetual
capital securities and the Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio (total
borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’
equity) further decreased from 0.51 as at 31 December 2018 to 0.36
as at 31 December 2019.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
or Euro. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2019.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWE DM (&)

(o

EMPLOYEES 1

\

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a workforce of about 8,300 2019412 31 H » A& EHE T X
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and 8,300 % ° {E & 7 Bl 4 #5 70 B 3t F 71K
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour F ' W& B FN - BEEVBEEMS T
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal ~ M35 M&EEM NBE - AEE T AEE R
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance A B IFHN - Wiz & TRE A EEZF)
and profits of the Group. BERRALAL ©

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its ~ ANEEY EEBETMNEAEREME - A
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor EEEdp<EE@RE  THERKER
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of &AREEMNE T TEIF TS HREE - K
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its & B {E 8 FIBE R R 4f -

employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI E

TEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "“Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-
to-day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond s8s sp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp

Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director:

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas sp

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of three executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management

expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business

operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly

identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES  E2RABEHLE
Tttux% ERRZEE FeBRARD

R
REBEZTHRABRETEES  0F
RN IR EREIE ©

T EFABRER
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Bl E =& XXM RAARE F SoE s 12
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FRN CHAREZREZSSR  SEEY
FIERFHIIIMT -

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEpE HEER SREKH
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sgs EXERELwenes P41 8/8
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp FXWE L pmns KFmt 8/8
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRiBRE 8/8
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas J ERHABBE o2 HEE ATt 8/8
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRUESLE 8/8
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst 4 8/8
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David FAK LA 8/8

BGERER AR 2019 F£3R 17



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BUZEEFOR BRI ZERERSE
X 2EERBMARER ZABEIN - X
BRZEFHARA ZEBMEFTEE
B2 WD MBRN WA KA
MEERE NCBEERER -

Each appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

EEMREREERYEHAANS MB M
EAARARBELER - TRMIIEE
ER2019F BV EELTRARAESRTZ
AR BERBECHEEXEREZ
S ETRE o

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2019 is recorded in the table below.

Attending external

seminars/
Reading regulatory programmes
updates 2|
MEEERTE SRBBEY
Name of director EEpg BHER mHg B
Executive directors HITES
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sgs Jp T BT agnes cFet
Mr. Lee Man Bun wmHJp PR L2885 AFHL
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRERE
Non-executive director kBTES
Professor Poon Chung Kwong GBs Jp BRNR T 22mE2E A TH+ v v
Independent non-executive directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRRLE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies5t 4
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEK &

18 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. To conform to the
provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, the written terms of
reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012, and
revised in (i) January 2016 to reflect the additional responsibilities of
the Audit Committee arising from the Stock Exchange’s proposal on
risk management and internal control under the Code applicable to
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016; and (ii)
January 2019 to reflect the amendments of the Code with effect
from 1 January 2019. A copy of the terms of reference is posted on
the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the

individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FAR- - ABR=ZRERZEEESE @ @5
RE®HFEBERFINNAT

Number of attendance

Name of member BE®SR R
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David JEEK A 3/3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE 3/3
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies/t 4 3/3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEES

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the HMMZEE M 2005F K WK E R
current members include: &

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) BERLEE(EE)

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR £

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the

Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all

members have attended in the meeting.

Peter A. Daviesst 4
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and

the current members include:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March
2012 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is
posted on the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held

during the year and all members have attended in the meeting.

Nomination Policy

Objectives
The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination

Policy”) shall inter-alia include the following:

o to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

o to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business; and

o to ensure the Board's continuity and appropriate leadership at

the Board level.
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Appointment and Re-appointment of Director

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is
considered for being appointed/re-elected as director and apply due
diligence in compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules including any amendments
thereto from time to time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall
consider recommendations for candidates to the Board from
shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations
and undertakings as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules. In the case of independent non-executive
directors, the Nomination Committee shall ensure that the
independent non-executive directors meet the criteria of

independence as laid down in the Listing Rules.

While recommending any potential new member(s)/re-appointment
of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall

consider the following:

o candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company which are relevant to the Company’s business and

corporate strategy, other commitments and the like;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

o requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence, gender diversity and diversity of perspectives;
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o willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

o such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy and the Board’s succession
plan and, where applicable, which may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from
time to time for nomination of Directors and succession

planning; and

o any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit
to consider in the best interests of the Company and

shareholders of the Company.

Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with
its evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or
persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of
an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance
on the knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee,

the Board or the management.

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other
professional third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating

potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the
composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the
Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and

regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable laws
and regulations, Mr. Li King Wai Ross and Mr. Chau Shing Yim David,
shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity (the “Policy”)
to ensure adequate diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January
2019.

Vision

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board’s
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it

considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the

Company and the market from time to time.

Policy Statement

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive

advantage.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which will include but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and the like. The ultimate decision will be based on
overall contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any

such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company’s business model and specific needs.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fee payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:
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FET

Audit services EZRTE 8,519
Non-audit services (included tax matters, EEERE(BEREEE -

review and other reporting services) FEH M EMEBRRE) 1,186

9,705

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group'’s risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as
reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across
business operations effectively.
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The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Management Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall
responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the
overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control

systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management
Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement
of the Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and
risk owners are then established and assigned for those risks

considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to provide internal audit services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design
and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including but not limited
to the Group’s ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of
management’s review on risk management and internal control
systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified
and their related implications; and status of compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are effective.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“"SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires

equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and prepared the
accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.

Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one of
the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to

shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights
to dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim
dividend and recommends the final dividend which requires the
approval of shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be
distributed in the form of shares. Any distribution of shares also

requires the approval of shareholders.
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Retained profits can be used to achieve growth in corporate value.
The Board has been making effective use of retained profits to
strengthen the operating base and the development of businesses.
According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1
January 2019, the Board takes into account the following factors
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

o financial results;

. cash flow situation;

o availability of distributable profits;

° business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings,

o development plans;

o cash requirements;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of shareholders as a whole;

o any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends;
and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In practice, the Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

o there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is
or would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its
liabilities or discharge its obligations as and when they become
due;

o pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent
or bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the
Company would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

o there is any other case set forth by any law.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
principal office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F.,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

With growing concerns from the various walks of life on how
enterprises have shouldered their social responsibilities, Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Paper”, the “Group” or
“We") has prepared this Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (this “Report” or “ESG Report”) for the period between 1
January 2019 and 31 December 2019 (the “Year”) in accordance
with the requirements under Appendix 27 “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” of the Main Board Listing Rules of
Hong Kong Stock Exchange in order that stakeholders can better
understand our performance in respect of environment, social and

governance (“ESG") and related information.

REPORTING STANDARDS AND SCOPE

Unless otherwise stated, this Report focuses on the Group's core
paper manufacturing business in Guangdong, Jiangsu and
Chongging. The annual production capacities of these three plants
ranked the top three of the Group, and their total production
capacities accounted for over 70%' of all plants of the Group with
thousands of employees hired, exerting a clear and significant impact
on the Group’s operation and ESG performance, and therefore they

are regarded as our primary reporting targets.

Comparing with last year, this Report includes additional and higher
concerns to issues of climate change, global warming, and
employment, and reports on various social key performance indicators
and sets targets for certain environmental key performance

indicators.

1 Since the plant invested by Lee & Man Paper in Malaysia is newly completed this
year, its production capacity was not included in the calculation of the Year.
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The Group reports on the policies, measures, performance and key
performance indicators with significant impacts on ESG issues based
on the following four principles.

o Materiality: Significant environmental and social issues are
determined by key stakeholders;

o Quantitative: Measurable key performance indicators are
reported in a quantitative way with narrative and comparative
data where appropriate, and further improvement goals are
set;

o Balance: The Group’s ESG performance is reported in an
objective and fair manner;

o Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to make data
comparable.

Information contained in this Report has been identified by the
personnel in charge of the Group’s ESG together with our key
stakeholders, and material ESG issues have been prioritised in
accordance with the materiality assessment. Preparation of the
Report involved participation of the management and employees
from all departments and has been approved by the Board to ensure
the truthfulness and accuracy of the content and create values for all
stakeholders.

ESG CULTURE AND VISION

Embracing people-oriented principle
Protecting environment and saving energy
Striving for improvements

Contributing to society

Lee & Man Paper always adhered to a principle that places equal
emphasis on production and operation as well as environmental
protection. Through sound corporate governance, we aim at creating
a future in which operation will be performed in parallel with
sustainable development. We continue to invest resources in climate
change management, environmental conservation and technology
research and development to reduce emissions and strive to produce
sustainable products with the highest quality. With our long-term
establishment of a people-oriented and efficient corporate culture,
the vision of environmental protection and harmony will be promoted
to the whole country and even beyond.
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ESG MANAGEMENT AND POLICIES ESGEERIBEK

The Board of the Group attaches great importance to the Group's A SEBEEZEsEERAEEBMNIHE
sustainable development and has established an ESG task force led #E @ RV THEREREETEMNESGE
by senior management, whose members including the heads of the & /4 ' KEBEMEREFDLBE - &
quality control department, information and technology department, & ﬂ?ﬁ*ﬁ&/\j} BRI E - TR
and human resources department, as well as administration $HE&LEE - LB EZESGHEE - ©H
managers and sales managers, etc., to identify major ESG issues, AEEKE l HIESGE b BB AN B B AR &
manage the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities and monitor the EIESGXRIE - WREREER - EEES
Group’s ESG performance on a regular basis, and report to the EWSE?&%LA&ETEE%E%%%J%EH%%E
management. The management will assess its impact and develop BB @ &ZEBEZTSEZE - AEEK
long-term and short-term plans to address potential risks, which will ESGEARBIAT :
be reviewed and approved by the Board. The Group’s ESG structure
is as follows:
Formulate the overall ESG development direction and ensure
T)IEianrd the effectiveness of the risk management and corresponding internal control system

B5E in respect of the Group’s ESG, with a view to minimising the ESG risks exposed
by the Group and capturing opportunities, while promoting

the Group's sustainable development.
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Senior management Establish ESG management approaches, formulate ESG policies and
(including the heads and relateg measures to !ntegrate ESG elements into operations.
persons-in-charge of departments) I ESGERTTE! + HIFESGHK RARRAHE 1 -
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Coordinate and supervise ESG issues (including ESG report),
(e e el e, regularly review the prog:isecirnl;e:dpsgic;;;atzce indicator targets and
safety steering team and e B A ) S
incidents respo e team, etc) FEMEEESCHE (RIEESCHE)
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Dedicated working team

Business units and

Employees related personnel
ST EZV VD
HEAE
Set personal sustainable development goals and Comprise personnel with relevant environmental and
integrate the Group's philosophy into daily work. safety management qualifications to materialise
AIVEARRERERE  BAREEES the implementation of ESG policies and measures and report to
REBIESS - the management on a regular basis.
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STAKEHOLDERS
ENGAGEMENT

IDENTIFICATION AND

Our stakeholders are internal and external interested parties of the
Group, which are closely related to the ESG management and
performance of the Group. By sorting out the individuals and parties
that can affect or be affected by the operations of the Group, the
management of each department summarises the following seven
key stakeholder groups. The Group values the engagement of each
stakeholder and actively collects their opinions and expectations
through interactions in daily operation, understands the impacts
brought to them by our operation, so as to identify the Group’s ESG
risks and opportunities.
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Stakeholder groups Stakeholder engagement
&R R FHESEBRE
Employees Internal communication channels Performance evaluations and
Intranet and employee newsletters regular meetings
Training and activities
BT MEBEARE RIRFE M EREE
WEEAE 2 B TH%) B R B
Customers Official website Service hotline and opinion survey
Advertisements and communication Interviews and meetings with customers
=R B 77 A8k RBBR LB RFE
BB BEFE#XREZE
Suppliers and business Business meetings Site visits
partners Audit and performance evaluations Industry forums
MEBREBERH E 30 B ER
Eit MREF G ERwig

Annual general meeting
Annual and interim reports
BRERBFERG
FERPHEE

Investors and shareholders

BREERKRR

Government and regulatory Public consultation

authorities

BAREEKER NS
Media Official website
=R B A8k
Community groups Social services
Charity activities
HEER & R
BRELY

Circulars and announcements

B R AE

Seminars and meetings
magkes

Press releases
S

Public consultation
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to determine the ESG issues that are significant to the
Group, the Group has conducted an ESG materiality assessment with
the representatives of the aforesaid key stakeholder groups through
interview and questionnaire. Relevance and materiality of issues are
assessed by internal and external stakeholders in order to identify and
analyse the most significant ESG issues of the Group. Such ESG issues
are determined in accordance with the ESG aspects as stated in the
Appendix 27 “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” of the Main Board Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and based on other factors which have an impact on the
Group's operation and management system, objectives and core

value, and risks and opportunities.

INTERNAL ASSESSMENT
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

Based on the assessments of all stakeholders on various issues, we
have identified the top 28 issues that are most significant to the
Group'’s stakeholders and our development, and these issues are
ranked according to the materiality. In response to the increased
concerns of the Group’s stakeholders on social issues during the
Year, the reporting focus of the Year has also been adjusted. The
Group will continue to improve the group’s development framework
to meet the needs of stakeholders in ESG management.
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Awards & Accolades for 2019

The Group has been putting continuous efforts since its inception
with consistent commitment to our customers, employees and -
community. Adhering to a principle that places equal emphasis on
production and operation as well as environmental protection, we
stay committed to offering quality products and services to the
customers. With the support from various sectors, we have received

2019 FRiE SR T FI4E &

AEEBRYAR-BERAM - HE
BT  HERABBRE—  RAEALE

KERRBREVENTE  AEETKR
FEENEMERS BEEAXIR K
FEBRMESTZAREESE - THA
20195 Eh ) SRIEFN LR 2

a number of recognition during the Year. The following table sets

out some of the awards and accolades received in 2019:

Awards & Accolades

RIFMEE

Issued by
BN

Council member of Chongging Hi-tech Enterprise
Association*

EETSHMRMERGEEEEN

Direct Reporting Enterprise of Steam Coal Price Index in
Upper and Middle Yangtze River Region (Chongging)*

IR (ER) B IREBEHEREE

The Second Runner up of the Forklift Competition, Port
Operation Category of the 2019 Chongqing Waterborne
Transportation Industry Production Skill Contest*

2019 EEEMKETELSHRERE
BRELHENELEE=F

Outstanding Labour Union*
EREETS
Council member of Chongging Big Data Industry Talent

Consortium*

EETARBELA S BB E B

* For identification purpose only

* E

Chongqing Hi-tech Enterprise Association™*

BEEMmaHRMEEGE

The China Coal Industry Association*,
The China Trading Association*,
Chongging Economic and Information Technology
Commission™,
Shaanxi Coal Trading Centre Co., Ltd.*
FEEXKTERS -
hEEKEHGE
BEEM&EMEE(EES
PREGHE IR X Z O AR A A

Chonggqing City Transportation Bureau®,
Chongging Federation of Trade Unions*

EETMRER -
EETATS

Federation of Trade Unions of Yongchuan District,
Chongqing*
BEMXIERELE

Chongging Big Data Industry Talent Consortium*

BEETAREMEEATHEA
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED
Anti-corruption

Anti-bribery and Anti-money Laundering

The Group attaches great importance to integrity supervision, and is
committed to preventing corruption, bribery, fraud and other
behaviors that are illegal and against commercial ethics, to make sure
we have always observed laws and regulations on prevention of
commercial crimes in our daily operations, including but not limited
to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the "Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and so forth. Enterprises are required under laws and regulations to
abide by the principles of fairness, equality and integrity, to act in a
lawful manner, to adhere to commercial ethics, and not to operate
business by means of theft, bribery, deception, compulsion or other

improper means.

The Group believes that anti-corruption depends on the internal and
external cooperation of all parties. Therefore, all employees are
required to abide by the “Standards for Commercial Ethics” compiled
by the Group, which restricts employees to serve the Company and
customers with professional compliance, equality, fairness, and
integrity. The Worker’'s Manual of the Group also clearly stipulates
code of personal and professional conduct for their stringent
compliance, pursuant to which employees are not allowed to accept
any special privilege during transactions, including but not limited to
rebates, expensive gifts, luxury hospitality, etc., so as not to affect
their objective and professional judgment. The Group has also put in
place a whistleblowing mechanism for employees to report any
violations that will be investigated by independent personnel. We
have regularly assessed and reviewed the internal management
system to ensure that potential corruption risks can be effectively
prevented. In order to emphasise the Group's integrity policies and
allow employees to clearly understand the Company'’s anti-corruption
policy and the importance of integrity, the human resources
department and the legal department regularly provide anti-
corruption trainings to the management and employees, and new
comers are required to receive integrity education and training.
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In the meantime, business counterparties of the Group, including
customers, suppliers and contractors are required to sign an
“Undertaking to Eliminate Bribery” by promising no bribery will be
conducted and integrity will be upheld together with the Group, and
violators shall bear the losses and all legal consequences of the
Group. The Group also encourages its partners to provide their anti-
corruption policies for our reference, ensuring that both parties to
cooperate on a fair, open and just basis.

During the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted
a breach of the aforesaid and other local laws and regulations related

to anti-corruption or anti-money laundering.

Employment

Lee & Man Paper regards employees as one of its important assets
and relies on their contributions to create a competitive advantage
for the Company. The Group actively attracts and motivates
outstanding talents, assists employees in developing their potential to

realise the people-oriented core value.
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Given that staff in Mainland China represents a majority of the
personnel of the Group, the Group fully complied with the
requirements of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
other relevant local employment laws and regulations. In accordance
with the requirements, employees are entitled to compensation,
holidays and leaves, occupational safety, trainings, insurance and
benefits, the right to propose for the handling of labour disputes and
other labour rights. The Group has established policies and
procedures ensuring the implementation of statutory requirements
and hence providing its employees with a work and living
environment of higher level of quality, fairness and respect.

Recruitment, Promotion, Compensation and Benefits

Talents are always in demand and the Group has been eager to
recruit those who share the same values and visions with us so that
we can build a diversified and professional team full of passion. By
external recruitment and internal promotion channels to recruit and
promote staff, as well as the establishment of our internal
“Recruitment Management Policy”, “Termination Management
Policy” and other relevant guidelines to govern administrative works
including staff recruitment, appraisal and termination, the Group
ensured high efficiency, compliance and transparency throughout the
process. The Group also distributed the Worker's Manual to staff
introducing its culture and core values, admission and appraisal,
benefits and holidays, working hours and overtime regulation,
training arrangements etc., ensuring that staff had full understanding
of the human resources policy of the Group and the right to protect
their own interests.
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In order to enable employees to better develop on the existing basis,
improve work ability and strength to become outstanding talents, the
management team maintains two-way communication with
employees, and determines the salary, personal development plans
and training of each employee in accordance with their performance,
experience, expertise and job duties, to enable them to grow with
the Company. We strive to provide employees with better-than-
market benefits and compensation packages to attract and retain

talents.

In terms of benefits, the Group maintains social insurances for its
employees, ensuring that they can work only after being insured. It
also takes full consideration of employees’ needs by arranging
convenient accommodation and meals for employees and their
families. Our employees enjoy work injury leave, marital leave,
maternity leave, compassionate leave, business trip leave, annual
leave, personal leave, sick leave and medical insurance, share options
and bonuses based on employee performance and the Group’s
profit.

We implement five-day work week arrangement with eight hours a
day to ensure reasonable working hours so as to give employees
sufficient rest and to avoid overwork. The additional working hours
must be agreed and the “Overtime Request Form” must be filled by
employees, and then the form should be submitted to the human
resources department for record. For any complaints relating to
working hours which are against employees’ wishes or unreasonable,
the Group will arrange follow-up investigations by the human
resources department to protect employees’ labour rights and

interests.
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Employees’ Data for the Year

Employees by gender
EEMR
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Employees by category
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Employees by age
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Employee turnover rate

BERALLR

Percentage of
hiring in the Year

FEERFBEEI L

Percentage of
termination in the Year
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By gender
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Employee Care
We foster employees’ loyalty through a positive corporate culture,
promote and strengthen cohesion among teams, cultivate closer
relationship between employees and the Company, and achieve the
objective of “a win-win situation for both employer and employee as
ne”. The Group insists on maintaining good communication with
employees. The interaction between employees and the Company
can make both parties easier to hear and understand each other. We
also continue to improve employee services in terms of meals,

accommodation and amenities based on employees’ needs.

We regularly provide recreational activities and festive celebration
activities, such as the Spring Dinner, the National Day Celebration
Dinner and sports competition and so on, to encourage employees
and their families to participate so as to share the joy of life and
promote physical and mental health of employees. In addition, the
Group has set up an employees’ welfare fund to help them meet
emergency needs. If an employee or his/her family had a need for
financial assistance due to an emergency, the Group would allocate
funding to the employee to help them through the difficult time.

Recreational activities for employees
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Equal Opportunities and Anti-Discrimination

The Group encourages mutual respect and trust among our
employees, strives to build a harmonious Lee & Man family, and
prohibits any behavior that undermines a harmonious and integrated
team. The Group is committed to creating a working environment
with fairness, openness and mutual trust for its employees since its
establishment. The Group has drawn up its “Management Rules
against Discrimination, Harassment and Torture”, ensuring that our
employees received equal treatments in our daily operations and in
every aspect of our human resources arrangements and would not
be subject to discrimination on grounds of ethnicity, nationality,
religion, political affiliation, sex, marital status and physical disability.
The Rules also prohibits all forms of harassment, coercion and
misconduct so as to safeguard the wellbeing of our employees. The
Group takes seriously any violation of the Code, and in the face of
unfair treatment or harassment, employees can report such incidents
in written form and put it into our “feedback box”, allowing the
human resources department to conduct investigations and follow-
up. The related employees will be informed of the results and any

form of retaliation is strictly forbidden.

The human resources policies of the Group have been in compliance
with all local labour laws in aspects such as recruitment, dismissal,
salary and benefits, working hours and holiday entitlements. During
the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted a breach
of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other
relevant local laws and regulations in relation to employment and

human resources.
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Health and Safety

As the Group's production procedures involve the use of machinery
and the operation with high risks, we have attached great importance
to the occupational safety of our employees, and have taken all
appropriate measures to safeguard the health and safety of our
workplaces. The safety work of the Group is primarily governed
under the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Law of the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases of the People’s Republic of China” and other relevant safety
regulations, standards and systems. The regulations emphasised that
production safety is important for the safety of employees’ lives and
property. We shall take the objectives of “Safety First, with Emphasis
on Prevention and Integrated Governance” (Z2%E— - AL -
44 7A82) as our guiding principles to establish a sound system of
accountability for production safety and the prevention and control
of occupational diseases, and to form policies and procedures for
safety management with a view to be effectively engaged in
production safety. The Group complies with the requirements under

laws and regulations in five ways as follows:

Occupational health and safety elements:

BEREEZ2TE:

Policies and procedures for production safety management
ZEHEBRREGE

Designated safety managers

ZEEBHEEAE

Policy for safety r
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Policies and procedures for Production Safety Management

We have formulated a sound “Policy for Production Safety
Management” to provide for stringent standards for occupational
safety. Employees shall comply with safety requirements specified in
such policy including those on hazardous goods handling, fire safety
management, warehouse safety management, safety requirements
for special operators and so forth. Moreover, employees are required
to implement the responsibility system for production safety, strictly
follow processes and comply with the safety operation procedures.
The Group has also issued its Worker’'s Manual setting forth policies
and practices on occupational safety for reference by all employees,

to facilitate the implementation of its safety policies;

Designated Safety Managers

We appointed safety managers to take responsibility for the
supervision and monitoring of the safety affairs of the Group and to
ensure its effectiveness. Safety managers shall, based on national
laws and regulations and its objectives of safety management,
determine the annual plan on safety work deployment and
investment, and regularly convene safety meetings at all hierarchical
levels of staff, to know the progress and effectiveness of its safety
work and advocate the concepts of production safety to its

employees;

Policy for Safety Roster and Inspection

A comprehensive policy for safety roster and inspection is in place,
pursuant to which the departmental persons-in-charge shall regularly
inspect equipment and facilities, warehouses, electricity and gases,
meters, repair and maintenance, hygiene, fire safety equipment and
fire safety systems and so forth, and immediate rectifications shall be
adopted against potential threats to safety. On a daily basis,
production staff shall inspect specified areas to further ensure
production safety;
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Safety Education and Training

We have established a mechanism for safety education and training,
under which we systematically plan for training programs and
provide trainings on policies and regulations, occupational safety and
health, case study for accidents and emergency management, in
response to employees’ needs for safety trainings. Employees are
required to meet pre-set training hours every year to ensure adequate
acquisition of safety knowledges. The Group also regularly organises
first aid, fire-fighting, evacuation and escape drills. Different posters
and notices are also posted in production workshops to remind
employees of the importance of occupational safety all the time; and
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Policy for Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
and Mechanism for Management and Inspection of Accidents
Our policy for prevention of occupational diseases and mechanism
for management and inspection of accidents are effective in
safeguarding against the occurrence of occupational diseases, and in
identifying accidents and unsafe factors. The Group has set out
guidelines to be applied in case of emergency to ensure that
employees respond in a correct and timely manner to minimise the
loss arising from and impact of accidents.
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Looking forward, through the above measures, we strive to achieve
the employee training compliance rate of over 99% for occupational
safety. In terms of occupational health and safety, we will arrange
body checks for all employees on annual basis. In addition, we will
treat noises and air emissions in line with national standards and try
to achieve the goal of zero mortality in safety accidents and year-
round fire accidents. Over the last three years (including the reporting
year), a total of O employee died at work and 7,373 working days
were lost due to work-related injuries.

Caring for the safety of employees, the Group has continued to
enhance its safeguards and investment on improving the employees’
workplace, and has received recognition for its professionalism. Our
plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi were granted
with 1ISO45001 certification for occupational health and safety,
respectively. During the Year, the Group did not find anything which
constituted material breach of the “Law of Production Safety of the
People’s Republic of China” and other local laws and regulations in
relation to occupational health and safety.

Training and Development

Talent is the cornerstone of the Group’s development. The Group
treasures every employee and believes that an excellent team can
create greater value for the Group. The Group has customised its
“System for the Management of Training” for cultivating every
employee by inspiring his/her potential and devising annual training
programmes based on the combination of the needs of the Company
and the individual needs of employees, thereby achieving joint
development and attaining goals.
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The training programmes can be divided into three categories: BINRED R=EHE

Internal Training

MBI

External Training

SNEBIE

Management
Trainee Program <
BEREE
BE

f

Admission training: It covers introduction to the firm, rules and procedures, and
attendance and salary matters, mainly for familiarising new joiners with the Group's
background and expectations of the Group on employees

ARSI RGN BESENZEHHH - FZEFABEIRBRAEENER
NMEBTTERHAE

Production safety training: It borrows the concepts of 7S management practices
originated from Japan and the relevant ISO requirements, allowing employees to
enhance production quality and to improve working environment
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Fire safety training: It raises employees’ awareness of fire safety and improves their
ability to address emergencies

HhzE  RRETINHARINARESFRNREREN

Environmental protection knowledge training: It strengthens the importance of energy
saving and emission reduction and environmental protection knowledge, and raises
the awareness of employees toward sustainable development
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Expertise training: Employees are assigned to receive training offered by third party
institutions for acquiring the most updated industry information and techniques
desirable for increasing productivity and competitiveness

TEHEE  SNERIE =B IIMEETE - BRITESRNER - Bi% - #
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Training for selected employees: Experts are engaged to conduct trainings for enabling
such employees to attain adequate knowledge and skills for their positions
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Targeted training: For employees who have the potential and ability to join the
management, the Group would arrange comprehensive management training
programmes for them to prepare them for promotion

BEIE - HRBEBEENARNT LERENET  AEESLHFESBEREIR
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Develop potential successors: We select trainees to attend a two-year diploma course
on paper-making technique offered by the South China University of Technology in
Guangzhou every year. After graduation, those trainees would be assigned job duties
at different positions in the Group
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Training hours of each category FHE R R IZ I RFE

Training hour of
employees, by gender
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FBT — 4,586/ \FF
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Training hour of
employees, by category
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General staff — 4,238 hours

—MR BT — 4,238/\F

Middle management — 1,165 hours
FARERE — 1,165/ )\

Senior management — 256 hours
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Labour Standards

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group recruits qualified workers in adherence to the principles of
fairness, openness and free will. Every subsidiary of the Group
entered into legal employment contract with employees in
accordance with the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and there was no forced labour. In the meantime, the
Group only recruits people who have attained the age of 16 in strict
compliance with the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and other applicable local labour laws and regulations. The Group
formulated its own “Management Rules for the Use of Minors as
Labourers and Prohibition against the Use of Child Labour” (R T
FRAREIHFRETEIRMET) to prevent the use of child or illegal
labour and to protect the legitimate rights and interest of the minors.
During the recruitment process, the human resources department
would check the personal information of applicants and conduct
background investigation. If such investigation generated any
irregular result, the Group would retain the record and cease the
application process accordingly. In the “Worker’s Manual”, the
Group also encourages employees to whistleblow on the use of false
identity documents in order to achieve effective control from

different perspectives.

In view of the aforesaid internal control measures, during the Year,
the Group did not find anything which constituted a material breach
of any of the abovementioned labour standards or other relevant

laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ENERGY
CONSERVATION

Emissions

The Group is a world-leading manufacturer of containerboard, pulp
and tissue paper and is in possession of several large scale
manufacturing plants for papermaking, pulp-making and tissue paper
in China. Therefore, the operation of the Group is principally
governed by the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Protection”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”, the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air
Pollution”, and the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution Due to Solid
Wastes” and other local laws and regulations and emission standards

in Mainland China.
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In accordance with the requirements, environmental protection
strategies adopted by enterprises shall follow a principle of “priority
to protection, emphasis on prevention, integrated governance, public
participation and liability assumption of damages”, in order to
prevent and control pollution and damages with compliance
measures, to establish an accountability system for environmental
protection and to clarify responsibilities of enterprises and related
responsible officers, hoping to create commercial value for all
stakeholders while reducing the impact on environment. The use of
advanced and latest pollutant treatment technologies are also
encouraged by China for facilitating the environmentally-responsible

development.

Being well aware that environmental protection is an important basis
for its development, the Group has adopted a number of
improvement and monitoring measures to ensure performance of
our environmental responsibilities. The Group has established various

environmental protection policies and measures including:

Setting Up Environmental Team
BALBRRNAE

REBEEFR  PEORFRRESAREE
£ EMRE  HFERE - AFR2E B
ERERRA - KaRBBHaSRNE
TOYRVRRREEMESE - AELE
REBAEABNET HEEASEND
FAEBEXBENRE  REHRENR
2 - @RI SB b ERA L E MR
BRIESRY) - HEBRFRER

W\

AEBRARRRECSRELRNEZR
e - [ BRER 2 A DO 8 B I BR 4% U7 A R
RETHRERRNEE - REBD KL
SRR EREE - B

Led by our Chief Executive Officer, the environmental team comprises of members having the relevant expertise,
including senior flue gas treatment experts, sewage treatment technicians, environmental monitoring professionals
and environmental protection technicians so as to ensure effective implementation of the following measures.
HERBNITERESE  KERESERESENK  BRESAERAEM  J5KEEAS BRIBHAALS  BIFRE
BEERMAE - RIE NIIABBRREEE BT

Duties of Environmental Team
IRIR/NEBE

1. Holding internal control meetings regularly to review environmental issues in the plants, to update themselves
with applicable environmental laws and regulations and to give advice on any improvements;

2. On an ongoing basis, the team engages themselves in environmental protection measures to be taken in
production processes, including those employed to lower water consumption, treat sewage water and air
emissions more efficiently, save energy and monitoring emissions to ensure continued compliance with high
environmental protection standards.

1. THAFANEZEeE  SEEHAMBEANRREE - BASK B TAREREE R TN EREX RS
HFEELRENH S REEEESR

2. BERBKBTELEERRETORRER BERIEKE  EREAMNEKEERMN - 64 RER
B RARMNEREIERMN RPEREES - BRI FHEESSRRIFLE -
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Environmental policies and Measures

RIRBUKBEEE

v set up policies for emissions treatment to provide clear targets and state the responsibilities and division of
labour for environmental protection measures adopted by the Group;

v formulate guidelines for energy-saving and reduce emission at the source;

v as part of the various efforts to make us one of the companies which best complies with environmental
protection principles in the world, our different plants have employed technologies with high efficiency to
reduce emission and keep our emission below the latest emission standards laid down by the government as
well as internationally applicable environmental management standards.

v RUBIRMEEIVE - RIRREERMAEN B FENBES T

v RMERIELIRIES! - IRSEREE

v BRENASRERMEEYR - REFERBFSFIOHEREE - URERRREREE  WENKREIR

RHERRRANARZ— -

The Group is committed to satisfying all applicable laws and ~ANEEBESFAHEEIRFRES B E
regulations on environmental protection, including the fBIER - B1E Ll TR RAERDER R HE
aforementioned laws and regulations and other local law it [E 4 HER ERK REENIRE - RASF
requirements and emission standards. During the Year, the Group B ' N&EEW ) H B IV E RIRIER
did not find anything which constituted a breach of relevant EMBIAEFIERHIBER - WBERK - A
environmental protection laws and regulations. Looking forward, in  #—FZREHRENFE  AEERZE
order to further alleviate the impact on environment, the Group has B 1% : =R FEMEIR2% - BEKBERR (&K
set up goals in various aspects: 2% reduction in air emissions, 1% 1% REEEZEW 2% °

reduction in sewage water emissions and 2% reduction in non-

hazardous wastes.
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Air Emissions

To ensure sufficient power supply for operating paper-making
machines in our production, the plants of the Group have had their
own thermal power stations operating coal-fired generators and
therefore, there have been gas emissions including nitrogen oxides
and sulphur oxides. Different plants of the Group have established
energy-saving policies to regulate energy consumption for production
activities and offices. Relevant measures also include formulation of
energy consumption targets, establishment of an inspection system
for energy usage, training programs and promotion for energy
conservation etc.

Case Study: Environmental-friendly Thermal Power Station
Environmental-friendly circulating fluidised bed boilers used in our
thermal power stations can achieve efficient combustion of all kinds
of coal. As the combustion temperature in this kind of boilers is lower
than that in pulverised coal boilers, less nitrogen oxides would be
generated.

In each coal-fired power station, the most advanced air emissions
treatment facilities have been installed, including the employment of
highly efficient bag filters to reduce ashes, SCR/SNCR de-nitration
systems to eliminate nitrogen oxides, and limestone-gypsum flue gas
desulfurisation system to curb sulphur dioxide gas. We successfully
reduce smoke and sulphur by more than 99.9% and 90%
respectively.
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Our effective wet desulfurisation facility further reduced sulphur
dioxide emissions to much less than 400 mg/m® as required by the
“Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal Power Plants”
(GB13223-2011) in China. The Group has monitored the quality of
air emissions on a real-time basis by using online detection

equipment to ensure outperforming the relevant national standard.

- -

B E SRR ERmEE  #E— Iz
SRR ERERENRBERGB13223-
201K NEBmAR S AW BEBUZE) B K
MBI HKI0ZR - AEBEBERE
RELEEREAFRERNEE - BRE
REIRBEEMHER -

Circulating Fluidised Bed Boilers

TERAC R SRIE
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Sewage Discharge TG IKHERR

Water is indispensable in paper production operations. In order to  KEEHKEEBIZEFTAIBRIH—IR -+ A
reduce sewage discharge generated from its production and improve R K A& EBE P H5KEER - REKEE
quality of sewage treatment so as to meet regulatory standards, the 12 - EEEAR EKIZE - REBWRUT=

Group has put efforts into the following three aspects: FEETF

Management Planning EIRHE

e Established a sound “Guidelines for Sewage Treatment”, o EUTEMCOSKEEES) @ 7H
setting out a list of key points for operating and inspecting FKEREHENRIERREZE -
sewage treatment facilities, procedures for repair and RELETIFREAEEEKOE
maintenance and duties of the relevant responsible teams, to %o E—HRARENET SR
further improve the performance of facilities and ensure its {RFZ 8 %

sewage output;

e Recruited sewage treatment technicians with professional ¢ EFABEERMNSKERENA
BERBBEERMEEZRAL

qualifications and professionals responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of sewage treatment from auto-monitoring data;

e

T P e

-1,”_.‘1 _M“' ik 3L LY AT

i
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High-tech Treatment Techniques

Introduced the most effective sewage treatment techniques
employed by the paper-making industry worldwide, specifically
the combined use of physiochemical coagulation-sedimentation
pre-treatment, anaerobic digestion and aerobic digestion
technologies to achieve thorough treatment;

Implemented the integrated management of sewage discharge.
Our sewage treatment stations have been equipped with
automatic programmable logic controllers and online

surveillance systems to monitor the discharge of sewage;

Strictly followed the monitoring requirements of the standards
for water pollutants. With the use of internationally advanced
sewage treatment techniques and facilities, we have
successfully maintained stability in the volume and quality of
sewage discharge, with the CODcr level of major pollutants as
well as the levels of NH3-N and SS in full compliance with the
maximum limits on discharges by pulp and paper-making
operations under National Standard “GB3544-2008"(Standard
on Discharge of Water Pollutants by the Pulp and Paper-Making
Industry). After multiple treatments, sewage discharged by the
Group’s operations has achieved more than 99.5% of

pollutants removal;

Achieved water re-use by the rate of more than 80% in its
production and water discharge less than 10 m’ per tonne of
paper produced. Our sewage treatment stations have been
equipped with water re-use systems to raise sewage re-use and

reduce water consumption;

BRRERETE
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Enabled a reasonable re-use of sludge and methane generated
in the sewage treatment process. Water content of the sludge
was lowered to around 50% with fully automatic recessed
plate filters and then the dried sludge was burnt at thermal
power stations in order to reduce solid wastes. The methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment systems in the sewage
stations was also collected and used as part of the fuel for the
boilers in the power stations, thus greatly saving the coal
required.

Compliance With Regulatory Standards

60

Annually inspection on the air emissions and sewage
disposal from boilers and sewage stations by environmental
department;

Conduct regular calibration for air emissions and sewage online
monitoring systems;

Conduct repair and maintenance for environmental equipment
on a regular basis to meet the emission standards.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report

BERKNAEKEEBRETESE
HOSRMBR  RAEZABMEE
R AE BE R Bl (205 R B 7k R & K 5
50%7%h  BEABNEISREBEAE
MEUETRE  ROBEESR -
HIKVE R R IE R AT E £ RB RN
WRELBEAEFTWHREBE - K
RERKY T IR -

HREREX

SEBERMABMY RIEMSKIE
PR RE R - BE/IGETTESA ¢

EMBEGEBSRER  BKE

FETTE

RRRBEHREZENRE - EREE
BUEIR e



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RiE -degRERHRE (H)

Cope with Climate Change

Global warming is affecting the natural climate by increasing the
frequency and intensity of extreme weather and natural disasters
such as rainstorm, flood and drought. To cope with the intensified
threat of climate change, management of our Group has regularly
assessed the potential risks of climate change and adopted preventive
and contingency measures. In specific, we have selected location for
our plants in a strategic way and made “Extreme Weather
Catastrophes Contingency Plan”. We will rank the extreme weather
catastrophes into four degrees, namely very significant, significant,
major and general according to the degree of harm. Meanwhile, we
have established a clear response system and set up a leadership
team in responses to extreme weather emergency, which expressly
stipulates functions of each member, alert actions and emergency
response arrangements. The Group conducts advocation, trainings
and drills for employees regularly, aiming at enhancing the vigilance
and abilities towards disasters. We will assess how bad we will be
affected by the extreme weather such as hurricane, rainstorm,
thunder, hail, flood so that we can take relevant measures such as
closing our plants, preventing the flood and providing safe place for
our employees. With these measures, we will safeguard our
employees’ safety and avoid losses arising from the malfunction of
equipment. In addition, our plants have their own thermal power
stations and backup power which are necessary for a continuous and
stable production and can reduce the risk of halt in production due

to regional power blackout.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gases are mainly emitted from coal-fired power
generation. The plants have their own thermal power stations
operating coal-fired generators, which discharge direct and indirect

greenhouse gases.
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B BE
AEEREHBENEETDMELNTE

Emission Data

Major emissions, direct and indirect greenhouse gas’ resulted from

production activities for the Year within the reporting scope are as  HE¥) - EENKEEEEREWNT ¢
follows:

Types of Emissions Unit Data in 2019 Data in 2018
BRESR B 20195 BB 20185 BB
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,)’ tonnes 1,137.41 1,785.90
AEALHNO,Y W

Sulphur Dioxides (SO,)’ tonnes 607.61 718.10
—%’ft )\L( ) u@ﬁ

Particulate matter (PM)’ tonnes 129.23 210.10
ER(PM)’ MiE

Water used for production tonnes 49,669,913.00 50,858,912.00
HEERKX 7]

Direct and indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 1% tonnes carbon dioxide

HERMEELERE(HE—) equivalent
—atixEE

Other indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 3°) tonnes carbon dioxide

HifE R =R (fEHE=">) equivalent
—EtiEE
2 For the year 2018 and 2019, the intensities of greenhouse gas emission in 2

aggregate (per tonne of products produced) are 1.32 tonnes and 1.27 tonnes
carbon dioxide equivalent respectively. Moreover, since the electricity of the
Group is powered by our own generator units without additional purchase of
electricity, there is no indirect greenhouse gas emissions by the energy in Scope 2.

3 Emissions resulted from the Group’s power generation activities that use fossil 3
fuels.
4 Scope 1 emissions are the direct greenhouse gas emissions resulted from sources 4

owned and controlled by the Group which are calculated in accordance with the
Accounting Methods and Reporting Guidelines of Greenhouse Gas Emissions for
Paper-Making and Paper Products Manufacturing Enterprises (Trial
Implementation)(GERAF AR M AEED FRERBHHZE T ARRERRE (R
77))) issued by the PRC National Development and Reform Commission.

5 Scope 3 emissions are the indirect greenhouse gas emissions resulted from water 5
used for the Group’s production which are calculated in accordance with
“Greenhouse gas reporting — Conversion factors 2019" issued by the Department
for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy of United Kingdom.
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Wastes

The wastes generated in our operations were mainly non-hazardous
ones produced in the course of paper-making, together with a small
quantity of wastes due to routine office work. In order to reduce and
dispose of waste produced in the paper-making process, the Group
has established the “Guidelines for Waste Management” to classify
wastes of all production activities and clarify the workflow of
processing. Policies also provide for guidelines for the storage,
transport and disposal of wastes and require them to be recorded to

ensure that treatment process is in compliance with rules and is safe.

The Group has principally reduced or disposed of wastes generated
from its paper-making operations in three ways:

o Sewage treatment facilities in plants will filter sewage
generated from the paper-making process. This process would
generate certain amount of sludge. It is then burnt in boilers
after treatment and deep drying. The energy generated by
burning the waste in a circulating fluidised bed boilers could be
reused in the paper-making process and therefore, not only
secondary pollution would be avoided but also saving energy;

o The Group used lots of waste paper as a raw material in its
paper-making operations, paper-making residue was left
behind after extraction of useful fibres for the paper-making
process. As the residue contained different impurities, the
residue was carried to a washing line where reusable metal
wires, aluminium cans and plastics in the residue were collected
and sold to recyclers;

o Established “Directory of Hazardous Wastes”, so as to clarify
hazardous wastes before processing or disposal of the
recyclable.
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The Group has actively adopted the aforesaid measures of treating SEEERER LB MHEREEY > KK
wastes, striving to meet the standard of processing solid wastes, 100% E | EH & BRIZEYE R ITE
liquid wastes and hazardous wastes stipulated in the “Measures of &) B jE 5% )FNC 1% 6 B8 17 85 75 Bk 25 & 19 9%
Guangdong Province on Implementation of Administrative Licensing & )%= iRFT Bk a) B EE - /R EM B ERIT
for Controlled Waste Treatment” and the “Measures on the ZIE -

Management of Hazardous Waste Transfer”.

Major wastes resulting from the Group’s production activities for the AKEBRKNFE RS SHE RN AEEEIE

Year within the reporting scope are as follows: EREFEEEMOT -

Types of wastes Unit Data in 2019 Data in 2018

BERYER BEfy 20195 8i& 2018F &
Non-hazardous wastes

Paper-making residue tonnes 189,685.27 360,246.44

IEEEE WA

Coal ash, cinder tonnes 776,140.99 921,275.13

BX - BB WA

Impurities contained in waste paper as raw tonnes 47,461.94 13,953.10°
material (Including plastics, metal wires) 18

BERRE A ME (BREH - #4%)

Sludge tonnes 249,974.68 249,429.85

VDS Mg

Wood chip tonnes 165.67 224.60

R AR 7

Hazardous wastes’

BEEEY

Waste batteries tonnes 19.19 8.76
%M, Mg

Used oil, waste paint, waste liquid etc tonnes 98.77 122.92

FEMOH - BERR - BEARSE WA

Used lamps/bulbs tonnes 1.67 0.54

EEE /B Mg

6 Data of waste aluminum in 2018 is restated after revision of calculation. 6 2018 F EREREBIR HELEREML -

7 Types of Hazardous wastes are identified with reference to the “Directory of 7 2EREARAMBRBREDBEMOCEK

National Hazardous Wastes” issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection EREYEREIMBIESEEMERE -

of the People’s Republic of China.
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USE OF RESOURCES

With sustainable development as the prerequisite, the Group sets
goals for resource consumption to protect environment, to make
rational and scientific use of energy and resources and to reduce
production costs. The Group has formulated the “Guide for Energy-
saving and Control and Management of Resources” to regulate the
use of energy and resources in various activities. The policy specifies
the responsibilities of and division of labour among departments,
whereby departments related to production including the
procurement department, the production department and
departments using maintenance workshops and facilities are required
to control the consumption of energy and resources such as raw
materials, equipment, water, electricity, paper, packaging materials
and so on. Administrative departments including the human
resources department, the administration department, the logistics
department and so on are responsible for carrying out resources-
saving education for all employees of the Group, monitoring,
recording and comparing the monthly usage of energy and resources.
Generally speaking, the Group takes “education as principal and
supplementing with management and control” as the guideline for
resources-saving, and lead employees to implement green
production. The Group has also set targets for coal, electricity and
water usage for the year by achieving 1% reduction in consumption
per unit production of major factories on quarterly basis compared
with that of corresponding period in last year and will conduct year-
end review of the amount of resources usage for the year in order to
pursue better environmental performance on an ongoing basis.
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The Group has actively adopted measures for energy conservation

and emissions reduction, striving to curb energy consumption in each

of its production processes. Apart from ISO50001 energy

management certification, the Group has indeed received

commendations of the Government Examination Team for Energy-

Saving and Emissions Reduction for our promotion and

implementation of various measures to save energy, reduce emissions

and achieve environmental protection alongside economic growth.

Measures for saving energy and reducing consumption include:

66

Reducing energy consumption by substituting high-
performance equipment for older ones and making relevant

changes to its electricity facilities;

Adopting efficiency-enhancing and energy-saving technologies
such as the full use of frequency conversion and high voltage

compensation devices;

Closely monitoring energy input and output as well as energy
consumption by production and non-production operations
with an effective mechanism for measuring, monitoring,
analysing and appraising energy consumption, and the
corresponding posts to manage the use of energy. The Group
has installed water and electricity meters in various regions of
the plants and implemented a system of rewards and

punishments;

Departments are required to conduct data analysis and
comparisons on a monthly basis to effectively promote energy
conservation and environmental protection to the whole
Group.
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Energy Consumption

The logistics and production processes in our daily operations have
involved the use of great amounts of energy. Diesel and coal have
been the major energy sources we used. Each plant has its own coal-
fired generators to ensure availability of sufficient power necessary
for the high power consuming paper-making machines, and
therefore have not purchased electricity power from the national

power grid.

Improving energy efficiency is one of the ways to effectively reduce
energy consumption. To ensure coal quality has met standards, the
Group adopts strict measures on management of coal storage and
transportation. The Group also conducts regular repair and
maintenance on generators to achieve an optimal operation of
generators and efficient combustion of coal and in turn improve
energy efficiency. In addition, the Group has also employed co-
generation technology to turn residual heat from the power
generation process into heat source for use in paper-making, thus
considerably raising the efficiency of energy use and reducing the

consumption of coal.

Ad(ditionally, in order to achieve energy-saving and reduce emissions,
the Group requires the use of latest technologies in every segment
along the production process. Moreover, the Group has introduced a
number of projects which aimed at lowering energy consumption,
For instance, there was variable-frequency modification of high
electricity-consuming machines which helped to achieve better
energy saving performance and lowered the production cost.
Moreover, methane and certain of the solid wastes which were side
products in the sewage treatment process referred in the “Sewage
Discharges” and "Wastes” sections above could be burnt in boilers
in the thermal power stations, therefore saving fuel for the coal
boilers.
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The Group has also continued to optimise energy management. It
has raised the efficiency of energy use both in the power generation
process and in the paper-making process and have therefore
successfully lowered the energy consumption per unit year by year.
The Group regularly tracks and records energy consumption. During
the Year, the overall energy consumption per tonne of paper
produced by the Group was less than 0.34 tonne of standard coal,
even lower than the national average which is approximately 0.60
tonne of standard coal comparatively.

AEETGHELCERERE  RETBEN
FMoEEERRERRIES RN E » <8
R FRERE  AEBTEHER N
FCHEEREE  RAFER  AEBEL
E — WAV AR A BERE D 100, 34 MR LK -
FHBREBLEE —MAFEML0.60HIEE
B FHBEABERE -

The overall energy consumption per tonne of paper reduced by 18% compared to 6 years ago

HE—MAMNERAERL6FATE18%

Water Usage

As water has been a necessity for our paper-making operations,
water used in our production has accounted for a major part of the
Group's water consumption. In order to minimise the consumption

of clean water resources,

o Regarding water source, the Group has upon governmental
approval obtained its water supply by directly taking water
from rivers and then carrying out purification process to satisfy
the industrial water standard. In doing so, we have helped
protect the valuable potable water resources.

IKE R E
KEERBETUFEEANER - HitE
ERKETAKRERIDOFEKRE - BF
ERFRKERER  AKEE

e XRIE  EBFEHIRBEITEN L
UK - B E B KR & &R
B OAKEEEFERMEIRRN
KIREER - RERD ERAK
BIR -

68 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRSE (H)

o As for water saving, the Group encourages recycling and has o HIXWHEKIE G AEERBBESR

principally adopted the strategy of employment of advanced B ZZXBABBLE X
and highly efficient sewage treatment techniques for reusing A KEETE2EEER KBRS
water in its production. The use of closed circulatory system for A YRV TXRKNHHBERR
industrial water successfully increases the recycled water ratio GooRNEERRPIESERBIRK
in production to more than 80%. As a result, the amount of ML Bl 2 80% LA+ K K&K KR
natural water required by the Group has been considerably KEYERA

lowered.

o In regard to maintenance, to prevent leakage from water o #HE T H THEE AT HBRE K

pipelines and to preserve water resources, the Group also B BIRKAE - KEEEE RH M itk
checks water pipes and repairs water tanks, water taps and Fib o MEFBKEBENREBREL
other water supply facilities regularly. e BB —HKER -

Direct water extraction

from rivers
A Bk Water Paper-making
purification production
BEEFL HEEER

Closed
circulatory system
of industrial water

HERRAS
RERBRALEEK
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Use of Packaging Materials

Some of our paper products required the use of plastic materials for
packaging so as to prevent products from contamination or damages.
The “Guidelines for Packaging Materials Management” is established
by the manufacturing department for waste reduction purpose
through packaging materials classification, labelling, storage and
usage. Also, simple packaging will continue to be our principle so as

to alleviate any environmental impacts.

Energy and Resource Usage Data

Through the above measures, the Group and our employees together
achieved the objective of resources conservation. This year, energy
and resource consumption in respect of production activities within

the reporting scope of the Group were as follows:

2019

20194

BEVFE R

AEENRBERBBOFTEALEHERE
TR NEPERZISRAER - A%
BOEERPFEHE T(EREMHERE
SOURBEEMHODE R T
RER - BOMERE - AEE TS H#E

RABHERRA - MOEIRENTE -
R K ERHE8UE

BB LERE  AREEETELHIE
REBNERNBER - AFEENAKE RS
HENEETHNERLERAEMNT :

2018
20184

Energy and resource

(per tonne of

Intensity Intensity

(per tonne of

consumption Unit Annual data  production) Annual data  production)
RE (e RE(REM

HRRERAE B FEHE EEEBN) FEHE EEEN)

Types of fuel

Coal tonnes 2,849,574.60 0.7132  3,022,876.46 0.7478

B WA

Diesel litres 5,622,280.49 1.4071 5,369,729.24 1.3284

g nH

Petrol litres 152,493.93 0.0382 185,169.19 0.0458

b ~H

Water resources

KEIR

Water tonnes 78,511,618.00 19.6497 64,939,718.67 16.0655

7K L7

Packaging materials

BEIH

Plastic materials tonnes 326.52 0.0001 238.12 0.0001

BRER A
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The use of the environment and natural resources is closely related to
the climate change. The impact of commercial activities on the
environment and natural resources has always been a great concern
to the Group. As a commitment to reduce the logging of timber and
reduce the impact of human activities on natural environment, we
have been using recycled paper as the materials for paper-making,
the primary business of the Group. In addition to complying with
environmental regulations and international rules on protection for
the natural environment, the Group has also incorporated concepts
of environmental friendliness into our internal management and daily
activities. In our striving to attain environmental sustainability, we
have successfully received I1SO 14001 Certification for Environmental

Management.

With the aim of actively promoting environmental protection and
efficient use of resources, we have monitored the potential effect of
our business operations on the environment on an ongoing basis and
promoted the green office and the green production environment in
adherence to four principles, namely, “Reduce”, “Re-use”, “Recycle”
and “Replace”, in order to minimise the impact of our operations on

the environment.

Noise Treatment

As our plants have been equipped with large paper-making
machinery and coal-fired generators, their operation would cause
rather big noises. In view of this, the Group has implemented the

following measures:

o The Group has chosen to use low noise equipment and
products as far as possible in the course of building the pulp
and paper production lines and the thermal power stations in
order that noises could be lowered at the sources;

BRERKRER
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RENEE BRTEBREAERERRE
BRAER] - EYMIREBARRIREI - RNEE
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=
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° In an effort to lower sound pollution to the environment, the
Group has installed sound isolation facilities to contain noises
due to running of machines and has added silencers on noisy

equipment such as blowers and exhaust fans;

o The Group has built soundproof control rooms at the pulp and
paper-making workshops where workers can work in a healthy
environment without being influenced by the big noises;

o The Group has added more vegetation in the factory area to

help dampen the spread of noises apart from purifying the air.

Timber Logging

Among the paper produced by the Group, 98% was made from
recovered paper and only 2% from timber virgin pulp. This was
exactly an example of our utmost efforts to protect forests and
creatures, and minimise the impact of our operations on the natural

environment.

Though the pulp used in production is derived from timber logging,
the Group has no activity in respect of deriving pulp directly from
timber logging. In order to lower the price of raw materials and
achieve the goal of environmental protection, the Group is committed
to developing production machinery that can produce green
sustainable product by treating tons of waste paper as raw material.
In the future, the Group hopes to further raise the percentage of
waste paper being used as raw material and become one of the
containerboard manufacturers with the highest recycling rate in the

world.
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Environment-Friendly Products

The Group invested in the research and development of environment-
friendly products maximising the efficiency of utilisation of wastes
and minimising the addition of chemicals such as brightener and
fluorescer. The Group currently produces products including test
linerboard and environment friendly white linerboard coated in
pursuit of becoming a leader of green products in the industry with
an aim to alleviate the environmental impact caused in the process
from producing to using its products and thus offering more
environment-friendly choices to its customers.

Starting from the selection of raw material, the Group produces test
linerboard with 100% use of recycled waste corrugated board, and
uses waste paper as the main component of environment friendly
white linerboard coated, turning wastes into treasures.

Environmental Awards and Certifications

As described in the sections on environmental protection above, the
Group has been making great endeavours to keep possible pollutions
and negative impacts of our operations on the environment to a
minimum. The Group has received recognitions from government
authorities, professional bodies and many others in the community
including certifications and awards for the investments and efforts
we have made in respect of environmental protection. Over the
years, certifications and accolades won by the Group have included

the following:
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The Group/Specific Plants
EE BE

Certifications/Accolades Obtained
REHRE

All of our plants in China and Vietnam plant

FEBEAMA & B RE

All of our plants in China and Vietnam plant

BB AT R B ERE

All of our plants in China and Vietnam plant

BN MA & B RE

Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and Jiangxi
plants
i paN:ic) il

ER ~ TER

Vietnam plant

Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and Jiangxi
plants

e R IE  TARE

Hongmei, Huangyong and Jiangsu plants
G R IERRE

Lee & Man Paper
B GEMR

Lee & Man Paper
B GEAR

Lee & Man Paper
B GER

Hongmei and Huangyong plants

Hongmei plant

IR
Chongging plant

ISO9001 Certification for Quality Management
ISO9001 & & BIERFE

ISO14001 Certification for Environmental Management
ISO14001IRIZE IR R E

Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-COC) Certification
FMRE RS T HRFE(FSC-COQ)

[ECQ QC 080000 Certification for Hazardous Substance Process
Management System

IECQ QC 080000 EME RIZE I R4t &
OHSAS18001 Certificate for Occupational Health and Safety
Management System
OHSAS18001 BRI FE Je 2 2 B IR R A RE

ISO45001 Certificate for Occupational Health and Safety Management
System
ISO45001 B ¥ {2 R 2 E TR R ATaR a8

ISO50001 Certificate for Energy Management System
ISO50001BE/RETE R4t a7

Named a “National Outstanding Enterprise Proactively Fulfilling Social
Responsibility”
2EBEGREITHEETREME

Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing)

ﬁ/%/ﬁ /g éEE%’ﬁ:(ﬁt %)

Named an “Environment-Friendly Enterprise”
RERFEREE

Named a “Cleaner Production Enterprise in Guangdong” and an
“Qutstanding Labour Law Compliant Enterprise in Guangdong”

EREBREELERERESDA T TEBFLE

Named an “Advanced Energy Conversation Unit”
ERgE S BB AR

Named an “Advanced Ecological Improvement and Environmental
Protection Unit”

RERESCEEMRE
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STRIVING FOR IMPROVEMENTS
Supply Chain Management

As a production enterprise, supply chain management has always
been a critical aspect in our quality control system. The Group works
closely with suppliers to enhance their sense of responsibility, help
them mitigate environmental and social risks and build a green
supply chain. We hope to work together with the supply chain
partners to purchase environment-friendly products and services and
to fulfill our commitment to environmental protection to the extent it
is practicable and cost-effective. We have established a “Policy on
Procurement and Suppliers Management” (%8St R E IR HIE)
to conduct a comprehensive assessment on suppliers and contractors
in accordance with ISO guidelines in respect of, among others, their
environmental protection policies, occupational safety policies, to
ensure that they meet the requirements of national safety,
environmental protection, laws and regulations, have a certain level
of social responsibility management, reach the quality of the Group’s
production and service, and adhere to the sustainable procurement.
In case of any irregularities, the Group will suspend or terminate the

cooperation relationship with relevant suppliers.

Procurement of Raw Materials

The Group uses waste paper instead of virgin pulp as a raw material
for paper-making, and the waste paper is supplied from all over the
world including Netherlands, United Kingdom, United States and
Canada. Our Group has arranged sourcing agents of waste paper
around the world to collect waste papers and purchase the specific
dedicated waste papers in person through various channels including
recyclers, supermarkets, local authorities and retailers, so as to ensure
the quality of our products. The raw materials are shipped by our
logistics teams so that the Group can better control the logistics to
ensure efficient transportation time and use of low-carbon mode.
Besides, the Group has been operating more than 50 waste paper
collecting and packing sites in Mainland China and has also been
sponsoring a number of other business partners in China to source
high quality waste paper locally as a way to develop paper sources as
well as to support paper recycling, so as to improve the green supply
chain.
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Product Responsibility

Product Safety

With customers as our first priority, the Group has always stressed
the importance of fulfilling their requirements with high-quality
products and services. The Group ensures that product information is
made available to customers in a transparent, true and accurate
manner during its sales process. The paper products of the Group are
subject to the “Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other laws, regulations and standards related to product
safety and quality. Enterprises are required under laws and
regulations to shoulder responsibility for product quality and ensure
that products comply with quality and safety standards. As such, the
Group has established the “Procedures for the Surveillance,
Measuring and Control of Products” (Z fEX18 AR 212 HIF2FF) to
supervise and inspect incoming raw materials, semi-finished products

and finished products.

EmRZE
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As we highly value product safety, we have obtained IECQ QC
080000 certification for the hazardous substance process
management of our four plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong
and Jiangxi. As a proof that our paper products are free of banned
hazardous substances, the certification can boost customers’
confidence in the products of the Group. Meanwhile, the various
plants of the Group have also successfully obtained 1SO9001
certification for their quality management system. We have also
obtained the Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-
COQ) certification, a proof that the Group values its product quality
and the sustainability of forest operations. Moreover, the Group has
established a risk assessment team to assess product quality and
safety risks regularly in order to address issues promptly for
protection of the Group’s and customers’ interests. We control our

product quality in the aspects from source, production, finished

AEB+HERERTSE  HE  JTEH -
EOR KT 70 Y S AR RS B9 ERISIECQ QC
080000 B EMHEMRIBEERE « ILRF
FHIMAEENEHNERLES B H
EHBEEVE  ENEFPHAEEER
W%®°$Elﬁﬁwmﬁwmmmgé

EREBENRAMBERREHEERRE
(FSC-COC) CEARNEESREREER
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SEK T BB E/NE - ERFTEESD
e ZR2HEENRBARFELEY -
REAEBREFLFZE - RAKE - &
E KM ERBRENFAAERLE R
i

products to after-sale tracking:

01 Source monitoring

01 KR EE I

The Group requires suppliers to provide inspection
reports on materials, warranty against the use of
hazardous substances, MSDS and so forth. The quality
department also conducts sample checking and batch
inspection in respect of incoming materials to ensure
the compliance with quality requirements. The
purchasing department is responsible for preparing the
list of qualified materials for reference of other

departments.

AEBERHEFHREEDHORAKSE  TERE

EVERBE HEERAERLKNHKR(MSDS)
EEM MBENRTEHRMETHBREILER

o BRHEEENSEL -
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REHLBESRYEI

02 Production process
02 £EBRE

The Group adopts automated and computer-monitored
production processes, while the quality department
conducts inspection on semi-finished products and
records results on the logbook of inspection during
production process, before moving on to the next
stage. In case of any inadequacy, the relevant
production staff members will be notified immediately

for rectification.
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03 Inspection of finished products

03 A mmizis

The Group conducts inspection of finished products for
physical index and the content of hazardous substances
in accordance with the “Operation Guidelines on the
Inspection of Finished Products” (5 ShiBaEZE1EEE).
Regular sample inspection will also be conducted on
the finished paper products after sale, while scrap
paper and pulp samples are sent to testing agencies for
the inspection for hazardous substances.

AEBERE(KRBRBIEEEEE )R T HK RN
YIREBENBEENESE8ETTRERE - ARETEE
HHEROKmARETHERE - WARER  RHR
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04 After-sale Services

04 &1 MR %5

In each of sales territories in China, the Group has
professional after-sale service team to keep close
contact with customers and ensure that their problems,
complaints and opinions are properly addressed and
handled. The Group has drawn up its “Operation
Guidelines on Customer Services” (& R¥1E¥£I5E
£), which explicitly stipulates the problem handling
time and follow-up process of the after-sales service
team, so as to meet the customer requirements clearly
and efficiently.

AEERBEASHERRAEXNERRHEEK -
EREEPRITHE H BAEREHRM  RHF - BRH
BEEEMENBEE - NAEBERL T(EPIRBE
EREE) AR EE R IR B B 28 52 1R
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The Group takes customers' feedbacks seriously. If the customer has
any questions about the quality after sale, the Group will arrange the
customer service department and the specialist from sales department
to go to the customer’s site for verification and quality inspection.
The specialist will keep personal and written communication with the
customers in the process. If the products fail to meet the
requirements of the order, the customer service department will
assist to arrange the recall or discount according to the situation after
checking by sales manager. With strict quality management and
attentive customer service, the Group’s products recalled in the Year
accounted for 0.61% of the total sales, and the number of
complaints on the products and services was 1,675.
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Responsible Marketing

The Group pays great attention to build a good relationship of
mutual trust with customers, presenting the most authentic and
high-quality services and products to customers. Every salesperson
has received professional training. The Group requires that the sales
department strictly follows the “Operation Guidelines on Customer
Services” prepared by the Group to regulate and standardise the
behavior of employees, and ensures that the relevant sales and
publicity materials are in line with the Group’s guidelines. Once any
false and exaggerated advertising means are found, the Group will
impose severe punishment. The sales department also regularly holds
meetings with the employees, and updates products information and
marketing plans, so as to ensure that the employees have a clear

understanding of the products and unify marketing methods.

Intellectual Property Rights

Our Group places high importance on intellectual property protection
and respects the intellectual properties of others as intellectual
property can promote innovation and progress. Our Group has over
200 registered patents and has formed the intellectual property
department to coordinate and supervise the management of our
intellectual property rights. In our daily operation, our employees and
cooperators are required to comply with the regulations relating to
intellectual property and the “Policy of Intellectual Property” and the
“Risk Aversion Plan for Intellectual Property” prepared by the Group,
and access to and transfer of core information within the Group is
subject to clear limits of authority which are only limited to specific
members of the senior management of the Group to avoid excessive
information transfer and reduce the risk of data leakage. The Group
will enter into technical contracts with third parties to safeguard the
interests of technological achievements of both sides.
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Data Privacy

The Group is well aware that personal information is governed under
the “General Code on Civil Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and other relevant laws and regulations, which require that
enterprises shall maintain the right of use of personal information. As
a result, the Group has formulated the confidential management
policy and taken data protection measures necessary for protecting
the interests of all stakeholders. We ensure that employees only have
access to the operational data within their permission sets. We would
not allow disclosure of information unauthorised by the information
owner except otherwise required by law. During the Year, the Group
did not find anything which constituted a material breach of the
aforesaid and other local laws and regulations related to product and

service quality.

CONTRIBUTING TO SOCIETY
Community Investment

Social Integration

Lee & Man Paper has always been working with communities in
contributing to the society in three aspects, namely, environmental
protection, support for the under-privileged and youth development,
making progress together with the public. By fulfilling corporate
social responsibility and increasing public welfare investment, our
Group hopes to improve the ecological environment, assist social
vulnerable groups and promote teenager development, thereby
creating a bright future. The Group has provided support for the
following projects during 2019:
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Environmental Protection

Attaching great importance to environmental protection, the Group
actively engages in local environmental activities in preservation of
the nature. Mr. Lee Man Bun (the Executive Director of the Company)
donated HK$130,000 respectively to New Youth Energy Think Tank
Charitable Foundation for the environmental campaign of “Enough
Plastic”. The campaign cooperated with famous photographers and
many artists to share their experiences in using less and replacing
disposable plastic products in daily life, wishing the community to
form the habit of using less plastic products.

In addition, the Group has collaborated with the Environmental
Protection Administration of Yongchuan District of Chongging for
the “Daluxi River Regulation Project”. In recent years, the rapid social
and economic development in Yongchuan District and the
development of towns along the Daluxi River and the industrial
development have resulted in the discharge of a large amount of
industrial sewage and untreated domestic sewage. Coupled with the
water interception by upstream hydropower stations, the water
quality of Daluxi River has deteriorated, hindering the economic
development of Daluxi River Region seriously. The purpose of river
regulation is to improve the water quality, implement comprehensive
regulation towards the Daluxi River in Yongchuan District, and
protect the natural environment. While proactively establishing the
concept of ecological environmental protection in the community, it
takes both economic development and environmental protection into
consideration.

Support for the Under-privileged

The Group also donated RMB100,000 to support the charity project
of the “Highway Construction for Alleviating Poverty in Siming
Village” by Chongqing Charity Federation, promoting the
infrastructure construction in Siming Village. Maintenance personnel
have repaired 4.4 kilometers of village roads, which not only opened
up an economic path and accelerated resource flows of the village,
but also created a path for connecting the hearts and minds of
villagers by breaking their scattered living modes for a long time. By
installing 14 kilometer-long mountain road protective barriers
between the village and the national highway, it protects the safety
of villagers, conveying our concern and care. In terms of weak
economy of village group members, leaders specialising in plantation
and cultivation industry have facilitated the professionalisation and
standardisation of plantation and cultivation industry so as to
improve product quality and activate branding effect. Meanwhile, we
have established the online sales channel for marketing the villagers'’
specific farm products and wild mushrooms in order to enhance their
popularity. To teach someone how to fish is better than to just give
him a fish, only in this way can the villagers be self-sufficient and
expand the ways of getting rich.
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RE #HERERKRSE (A)

The Group cares for the society and recognises some people may not
receive appropriate medical care due to financial problems. For
instance, families in low income or the elderly may not be able to pay
for the additional medical expenses. In view of this, Mr. Lee Wan
Keung Patrick donated approximately HK$100,000 to Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals in “TWGHs Free Medical Services Donation
Scheme”, supporting medical services for grassroots and helping
patients and under-privileged to live a healthy and happy life.

Meanwhile, the Group donated RMB50,000 to the “Yongchuan
Examination Fund for Cervical Cancer and Breast Cancer” jointly
established by Chongging Women’s Federation and Chongging
Health Committee. The fund focuses on contributing resources on
examination of cervical cancer and breast cancer which pose serious
threat to women'’s health. Since the launch of free screening for
cervical cancer and breast cancer in Yongchuan District in 2009, the
project has covered 23 towns and districts and completed the
examination of cervical cancer and breast cancer for 235,787 women
with detection of 422 cancer and lesion before cancer cases. 264

women from impoverished villages have received timely aid.
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Youth Development

The founders of the Group have spared no effort to support
education and youth development. The Group has sponsored the
building of a number of education facilities, including Patrick Lee
Wan Keung Academic Building in Lingnan University, Hong Kong,
whose construction was donated by Mr. Lee Man Bun in 2011,
demonstrating the zeal of our founders for youth development.

BEER
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Patrick Lee Wan Keung Academic Building in Lingnan University, Hong Kong

BAEEEABTERHEKNE

The Group is also concerned about cultivating the youth to become
future pillars of society. Mr. Lee Man Bun donated HK$1.20 million
to Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank and sponsored
HK$300,000 to its charity show “The Sassy Princess” performed by
Fuk Sing Opera Troupe, aiming at promoting the communication of
youth organizations between Hong Kong and Mainland and
encouraging the youth to make contribution and commitment to
social affairs and public services.

In terms of the education for school-age children, Mr. Lee Man Bun
donated RMB1.23 million to Yunnan Nujiang Zhou School for buying
books and sponsored HK$1 million to Hong Kong Chinese Importers’
and Exporters’ Association Charity Foundation Limited for funding
the “Reading Together” activity. The Group hopes that the children
can develop habits of reading and exploring and can cultivate rich
imagination and creativity by feeling the power of words.

The Group sponsored HK$300,000 to the Third Inauguration
Ceremony of Directors and Dinner Party in 2019 of Hong Kong Shine
Tak Foundation and donated HK$150,000 to the “2019 Shine Tak
Charity Hiking” in order to support the civilian education for the
youth and students in Hong Kong and help them to explore
opportunities in new environment and challenges.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRSE (A)

HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND EBRZ(RE - t8REBR
GOVERNANCE REPORT GUIDE INDEX CECEINEE]
General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPIs Description in this Report
—REER A&
BRENER Hut HEER IS
A  Environmental
A ER
A1 Emissions
A1 BB
General Information on: Emissions
Disclosure
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
—RR = ERBRIRERBHER  mKRTHOHES BERE | Y
EREYVNELESH
@@ BX: &
(b) BTFTHETARGEATZENHEBERLR -
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emission Data
Al.1 HERUmE S R AR R R BUE - HERU BUE
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy’s indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Emission Data
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
A1.2 BEE(SHEN) RERAZ(HE2)HERREREEENRE (M | SEEiE
B ) R(MER)BE(MAEES B - BERMEET
#)-
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BRI -#HERER

HE(E)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—-REER S
BRENER Hut HEER IS
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Wastes
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
A1.3 PMEXAERERWHAE(CAMGE) R(MER)ZE (W | BEEY
BESE BEREFHE) -
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Wastes
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
Al.4 PEAEZEEYAE (AMGTE) R(ER)BE(WIA | BEY
SEEEN - SERBHE) -
A1.5 Description of emission targets established and steps taken to | Emissions, Air Emissions,
achieve them. Sewage Discharge
A1.5 MMFTRI L E B R R R ESE L BRI - | Y - R - )5
IKBERR
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Emissions, Wastes
handled, and description of waste reduction targets established
and steps taken to achieve them.
A16 HMEIEEERBEREEYMNITE - REMPEIIHRE | Y - BEED

BERAERELE SRR TR -

A2 Use of Resources

A2 ERERA

General Policies on efficient use of resources including energy, water | Use of Resources

Disclosure and other raw materials.

— R EREAER(BERR - KREMERME) BB - BIRERA

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Energy and Resource
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kwWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. | Usage Data
per unit of production volume, per facility).

A2.1 REAESNEER SBEEER(NE - [REH)LREE | fERAEBRAZHE

(AFEFRESHE) REE (MU SES B - SBREH
) -
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RE #HERERKRSE (A)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

taken to achieve them.

and KPIs Description in this Report

—BEER KR

BERENIER it HEERRS

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Energy and Resource
production volume, per facility). Usage Data

A2.2 BEKENEE (WMASGESEN - BERETE) - RER N B R R 28R

A2.3 Description of energy efficiency targets established and steps | Use of Resources,

Energy Consumption

is fit for purpose, and water efficiency targets established and

steps taken to achieve them.

A2.3 R FFET R RERARGE B RER REDEL B RMER | BRER - sUR7EE
B ER
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | Use of Resources, Water

Usage

BRIEE -

A2.4 HSKEUE R KR LRl B ARRERE - RIS AKS | BRER - KERES
mEARRAETELERMERIRA SR

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) | Energy and Resource
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Usage Data

A2.5 R mAAREMHNAE(UEAE) R(WER)BLEE | wRRERBEHE

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BRERXAEBR

environment and natural resources and the action taken to
manage them.

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the | Environment and
Disclosure environment and natural resources. Natural Resources

— PRI EE WEBETAHRBERRAERENEATENBR - RELARAER

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | Noise Treatment, Timber

Logging, Environment-

Friendly Products

A3.1 WX EHHRBERRAREFRNEAZTE RO RREE
BRAZENTY -

BERIE - AR -
RIRE i
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RiE -degRERHRE (H)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

(a)

the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

and KPIs Description in this Report

—REKER AERE

BERENIER it HEERRS

A4 Climate Change

A4 RIRB1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- | Cope with Climate
related issues which impacted, and those which may impact, | Change
the issuer.

—MRIKEE BRIREHEERAIESHBETAEEZENERRIKAE | RIRECEY
BEEHEGR -

A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues that have | Cope with Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the | Change
actions taken to manage them.

A4 MACKRRAREHETAELZENEARKHAESE | RIRECEY
B REHTH -

B. Society

B. #&

B1 Employment

B1 {Ef#

General Disclosure Information on: Employment,

Recruitment, Promotion,
Compensation and
Benefits, Employee
Care, Equal
Opportunities and
Anti-Discrimination

— R

EEFHERE BERS TERE B FE®
€ ZIb - RIBAR AR H b8 LA

(@ BX: &

(b) BTHETABEAFZENMEBEIERMBHHER -

B R BAR
HIER - B THE -
TERE BRI
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RIE - -HEaRER

HE (&)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

T °

and KPIs Description in this Report
—REKER AERE
BERENIER it HEERRS
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (full-time or part- | Recruitment, Promotion,
time), age group and geographical region. Compensation and
Benefits
B1.1 BMR - ERAR(NEBEFER)  FRARN KR E| D | B - B R
BiE BB - =l
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Recruitment, Promotion,
region. Compensation and
Benefits
B1.2 RMR - FRARIRMEESHESRKLE - B - B R
=R
B2 Health and Safety
B2 RERZZE
General Information on: Health and Safety
Disclosure
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
—MRIRE BERRHLZE2TIERERREREE# 2B ELEEN - REETE
(a) HE: Rk
(b) ETFTHBETABERZEBNHEBEERRROINER -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the past | Health and Safety
three years (including reporting year).
B2.1 BE=F(BHRERFE)SFAITHRHAZBMLL X - fREET S
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B2.2 AIGEAIERL - R S
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B2.3 HMPTER AR B R R ERE T 2 ARBEBRITRER | @FRELSE
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RE #HERERKRSE (H)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—REKER AERE
BERENIER it HEERRS
B3 Training and development
B3 EEEHI
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | Training and
Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Development
—RIKE FRRTEERT IERENMBELREENER - filliF | BilkER
FEE o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Training and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management, etc.). | Development
B3.1 BUFIREERII(NESREERE HREEESF)EHH | HIIRBER
XiIMEEBDL °
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Training and
and employee category. Development
B3.2 RIUERREERMNED  BREETKIIN TR - B R B R
B4 Labour Standards
B4 ZH IR
General Information on: Labour Standards
Disclosure
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to prevent child
or forced labour.
—MRIKEE BRAMIEE TR ESTH L& T AR
(a) B : K
(b) ETHETABERZENHEBERNLROIOER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Prohibition of Child and
avoid child or forced labour. Forced Labour
B4.1 R BB NEEARRET REH ST - By 1EE Takaah|ss T
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such non-compliance | Prohibition of Child and
practices when discovered. Forced Labour
B4.2 R ERBARHREBIBEPMERIRE R - P& T eksa|ss T
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General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPIs Description in this Report
—BREER KR E

BARENEEZ i HHEERES S

B5 Supply Chain Management
B5 ftEHERE

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | Supply Chain

Disclosure supply chain. Management

—RIKE EIRMHEENRE Mt g RAREBUR HEEER

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Procurement of Raw
Materials

B5.1 R B D HEHHRE o R ELEREE

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Supply Chain

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and | Management
how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.2 A EAERBHEERMNEL  mERTEEEMNNHEER | HERERE
HE  UARBEENTRERGE-
B5.3 Description of practices relating to identify environmental and | Supply Chain

social risks at every stage of the supply chain, and how they are | Management
implemented and monitored.

B5.3 M ERBIHEESARSNRERTSRARNED - | HEEER
VAR BB TT SR BE R 7 0% o
B5.4 Description of practices that promote the use of | Supply Chain

environmentally friendly products and services when selecting | Management

suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.4 HhEREHERRREESARRERMRENEN - A | HERERE
K ARRATT MBS R OK -
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RE -HEK

HE(E)

General Disclosures

and KPIs

—BREER
REENER

Description

R

Relevant Information
in this Report

R E
HERER D

B6 Product Responsibility

B6 EmEE

General

Information on:

Product Safety,

Disclosure Responsible Marketing,
(@)  the policies; and Data Privacy
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
associated with products and services provided and
methods of redress.
—MRIKE BFHMRHERNMRENEREZS  BES SEAME | Enkdr  SBEH -
FEHENARERITER BRHRER
(a) BUR: &
(b) EFTHBETABERZEBNHEBEERRROINER -
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Product Safety
for safety and health reasons.
B6.1 EEACEXERABPRAR2ERREAMALNEKNE | ERLE
DL e
B6.2 Number of product and service-related complaints received and | Product Safety
how they are dealt with.
B6.2 EERRNEmMIRBHIRFEE AR EE X - EmZE
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Intellectual Property
intellectual property rights. Rights
B6.3 s EERRENBEREANED - HIBEE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. | Product Safety
B6.4 il 8 M E B2 N E m B AR EmTE
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RE #HERERKRSE (A)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—REKER AERE

BERENIER it HEERRS

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data Privacy
and how they are implemented and monitored.

B6.5 BRHRER

WA EEEEHRERLEBERE  URBEERTRESRS
& o

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 RES

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a)

the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to prevent
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-bribery and anti-

money Laundering

—MRIKE B LEHRE 9% - BEFRARER By IEBRRR K R 88
(a) BUR: K
(b) BFHBETAGEAZENHBERLRINER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-bribery and anti-
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting | money Laundering
period and the outcomes of the cases.

B7.1 RERPAHBTAXEEERBIEELENETHAR | DILHEBRERE
e 2B MR AER o

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing | Anti-bribery and anti-
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. money Laundering

B7.2 By S e R R WAR T - ARAEBERITRERT X - B LE B BE M sE R 82
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25

BRI -#HE8RE

N
/

[m]

HE(E)

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—REKER AERE

BERENIER it HEERRS

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training for directors and | Anti-bribery and anti-
employees. money Laundering

B7.3 i EERNE TRENREISE - B 1B e N e B 8

B8 Community Investment

B8 HERE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take communities’ interests into consideration.

Social Integration

—RIRE FAUME2ERBREEMCHRFTENBREIERS | HEHR
PEERTRMNDOBE -

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Social Integration
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

B8.1 BIEREE(NHE  REFE  SIFEXR BE X | teig
£ 885) -

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Social Integration

BS.2 EEIHBEMBHAER(WEEXFH) - it R
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 49, CPPCC National
Committee, SBS JP, Chairman of the Company is in charge of
corporate planning and investment projects. Dr. Lee has over 26
years of operational experience in paper manufacturing and is
experienced in professional formula of paper making and product
development. Dr. Lee was conferred the Honorary Degree of Doctor
of Laws in 2014 and holds a Bachelor's Degree in Applied Science
from the University of British Columbia in Canada. Dr. Lee was
awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002" and
received an award for “2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young
Persons Selection Awardees”. Dr. Lee is the brother of Mr. Lee Man
Bun, an Executive Director of the Company and Chief Executive
Officer of the Group and is the brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai

Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Lee Man Bun, aged 39, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH JP, Chief Executive Officer
of the Group, is responsible for production management, sales, daily
operation, quality improvement, repair and maintenance of
production machines and factory staff management etc.. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2015” and is the Founding
Chairman of Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank. He is the
younger brother of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and
an Executive Director of the Company and is the brother-in-law of
Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIREREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continueD)

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, aged 44, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper, logistics planning and optimisation, as well as external affairs
for the Group. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a Bachelor’s Degree
in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from University of British
Columbia in Canada. He has over 18 years of experience in
production management, operations and technological research and
development. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond
and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the
Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 80, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Hong Kong, A Doctor of Philosophy Degree
and a Higher Doctor of Science Degree from the University of
London. He was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the California Institute of
Technology and University of Southern California. He also held the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. He was appointed a Non-official
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member
of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited and Chevalier International Holdings Limited.
All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIRSREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 77, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of the listed company, Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited.

Mr. Peter A. Davies, aged 77, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 49 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David, aged 56, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, has over 20 years of experience
in corporate finance and was formerly a partner of one of the big
four accounting firms in Greater China, holding the position as their
Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. Mr. Chau is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and
Wales ("ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate Finance
Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and was an ex-
committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau is
a member as well as director of the Hong Kong Securities Institute
and the Chairman of Corporate Outreach Committee. Mr. Chau is a
member of Hospital Governing Committee of Pamela Youde
Nethersole Eastern Hospital (“PYNEH") and the Trustee of the PYNEH
Charitable Trust. He is also a member of Jinan Municipal Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultation Conference.

Mr. Chau is an independent non-executive director of BC Technology
Group Limited, China Evergrande Group, Evergrande Health Industry
Group Limited, HengTen Networks Group Limited, IDG Energy
Investment Group Limited and Man Wah Holdings Limited. All the
aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIREREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 53, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group's
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr. Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 31 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Aoyuan Property Group
Limited and DCB Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Main
Board and the GEM Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
respectively. He joined the Group in August 2002.

Mr. Yip Heong Kan, aged 49, is the General Manager of the Group,
is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management and energy
saving projects. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 26 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr. Yan Jean Goo, aged 54, is the Deputy General Manager of
Chongging Lee & Man Tissue, is responsible for the overall operation
& management of tissue business of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of Xiamen and has over 32
years of experience in production and operation management. He
joined the Group in November 2006.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivueD)

Mr. Ng Hok She Harry, aged 44, is the Head of Quality Assurance,
responsible for the tissue paper production quality of the Group. Mr.
Ng holds a Bachelor’s Degree and a Master’s Degree in Mechanical
Engineering from McMaster University in Canada. He has over 18
years of experience in engineering safety aspects management. He
joined the Group in October 2011.

Mr. Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 45, is the Head of the Human
Resources Department of the Group responsible for the human
resources and information technology management of the Group. He
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science & Engineering from
University of Toronto in Canada and has over 20 years of experience
in IT supervision and 12 years of senior management experience from
different multinational companies. He joined the Group in October
2011.

Mr. Chung Wai Fu, aged 55, is the General Manager of Vietnam
Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Vietnam plant operation and
management. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production and
Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 26 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group in November 2008.

Ms. Li Yuen Ling, aged 58, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 35 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivueD)

Mr. Chu Kwok Lung, aged 57, is the Administration Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper and has over 35
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.

Mr. Chan Kong Sang, aged 60, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 37 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.
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OTHER INFORMATION

H 2 &

ULTIMATE SUPPLIERS AND BUYING AGENTS

Besides purchasing directly from the suppliers, the Group also
engages certain independent buying agents to source waste paper
from their ultimate suppliers mainly supermarkets, paper packing
companies and recycling plants. The Group’s buying agents in the
United States and Europe, namely Ralison International Inc., Mark
Lyndon International B.V. and Mark Lyndon Paper Enterprises (UK)
Limited, are ultimately owned by Mr. Albert Chiu Tung-Choi, a
distant relative of the Company’s controlling shareholders, Dr. Lee
Wan Keung Patrick, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man
Bun. Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun are also
executive directors of the Company. These buying agents are not
“connected persons” of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.
They receive a commission for sourcing the raw materials of waste
paper and they did not trade and are contractually obliged not to
take a position on or otherwise maintain an inventory of waste paper
themselves. Their primary role is to coordinate the logistics in order
to have the waste paper delivered to the Group, including on-site
inspections and customs clearance, and thereby reduces the
regulatory risk for the Group. The total prices paid for the waste
paper (including the price of waste paper paid to ultimate suppliers
and commission paid to the buying agents) were made on an arm'’s
length basis. The Group sourced 2% and 19% of its total raw
materials through these buying agents for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively. The commission paid to
these buying agents amounted to HK$9.6 million and HK$81.9
million for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively.
The Group ceased trading with the above three buying agents since
April 2019.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any

interest in the share capital of the five largest suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and a joint venture are set out in

notes 45 and 22 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 120.

A final dividend for 2018 of HK15 cents per share amounting to
HK$657,000,000 and an interim dividend of HK13 cents per share
amounting to HK$568,577,000 in aggregate was paid to the
shareholders during the year. The directors of the Company now
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK13 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2019 to the shareholders on the
register of members on 7 May 2020, amounting to approximately
HK$568 million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$5,901,239,000 (2018:
HK$3,094,848,000), representing the aggregation of the share
premium, the contributed surplus and the retained profits and net of

the share repurchase reserve.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7 of the annual

report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$2,863 million (2018: HK$1,978
million) for the purpose of expanding its business. An amount of
HK$22,534,000 (2018: HK$52,926,000) was transferred from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties for
generating rental income. Details of the movements in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis,
respectively, set out on pages 8 and 10 and pages 11 to 14 of this
Annual Report. The outlook of the Company’s business is discussed
throughout this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis.

1.  Economic climate and individual market
performance

The impact of economic conditions of China would affect sales
and results of the Group. The Group continues to implement
its strategies to develop and strengthen penetration of the
relevant markets. The management of the Group will continue
to make efforts to strictly control costs and manage the usage
of capital fund in order to maintain the Group's
competitiveness in the paper industry.

In addition, the on-going US-China trade friction and recent
novel coronavirus epidemic might post uncertainty to the
Group's business performance, details of the uncertainty are
set out in the Chairman’s statement to the annual report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

%%éiﬁi (IIE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

2.

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could
result in a delay in achieving the Group’s strategic goals. The
risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews
of recruitment and retention practices, remuneration packages
and succession planning within the management team.

Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will
cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit
history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

5.

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign
currency borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group manages and monitors foreign
exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has
entered into certain foreign currency forward contracts to

mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.

Details of the currency risk are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank borrowings
and fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank
borrowings. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure

should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high

standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building up

a good corporate and social relationship and motivating staff and

creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are committed to

contributing to the sustainability of the environment and community

in which we conduct business and where our stakeholders live.

Particulars of the Company’s environmental policies and performance

are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on

pages 31 to 93 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERE(H)

STAKEHOLDERS" ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly.
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way
to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps through the year to
ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our
customers, workforce, suppliers and other stakeholders.

An account of the Company’s relationships with employees is
included in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 11
to 14.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”), details of which are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that the
repurchases would increase the earnings per share of the Company.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERE(H)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun, mH Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, G8s Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Li King
Wai Ross and Mr. Chau Shing Yim David retire and, being eligible,

offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Li
King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 1 April
2017, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive director and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his

retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the directors of the Company is in force.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange (”Listing
Rules”), the following disclosure is included in respect of the
Company’s loan agreements, which contains covenants requiring
performance obligations of the controlling shareholders of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

The Group has certain loan facility agreements where it would
constitute an event of default if any one or all of Dr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun (together
the “Controlling Shareholders”), the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company, ceases to legally and beneficially own, directly or indirectly,
in aggregate at least 51% of the entire issued share capital of and
equity interest in the Company or do not, or cease to, exercise
management control over the Company. Upon the occurrence of any
of the above events, the outstanding liability under the loan facilities

will become immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests of the directors and the chief
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock

Exchange were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

EERTBTBAERRANE
BRETHEENEZER AR

R2019F12A831H  EEREZBITHA
BRHEZHEATEARAR T R EAGE
Eafkt HEARMDRESF  #EAX
RARBEEFARPEGRAN(TESRBPE
B 1) %3527 B 2 B M Frac g 2 1
@Wm o EANMEARARNARBRE EWEITAE

FRABHRHNRETAE AGH R
HER T
BB

RAFEFR0.0258 T2 & B

Percentage of

the issued

share capital

Number of of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {5A&RAQATERIT
EEpE 54 EERHE REBDLL
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 1,358,991,040 31.12%
FEXEEL BEHBEAA
Mr. Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 1,262,932,960 28.92%
PR HE EmEAA
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Held by spouse 4,564,865 0.10%
PR rEE mECBEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.002%
BRI EmEAA

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as at 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2019, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 22 H

ARE -~ HERAR - ELAHRE QA
X [A) Z B B & B F AT By T L 2
IR HE - MEARREFTAEBA
ARAF AR EIEA B Z I S E S
(BIRERERE) MEsS -

FTERR

REBEARAIRE S MG GRDIF3361%A
FEZTERRELMATEE - 102019
F12A318 » THBRR(EERERTR
ABBRINEHNERRBRERARAE
BITRATHER 2B -

wR

RRABER0.0258 T2 EidAR

Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity BEERT MEARSERIT
MRER It A 54 HEBERHE RAF L
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan Held by spouse (note i) 1,262,932,960 28.92%
NS Eea mECERA (FEED
Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner 507,342,000 11.62%
FEREL BEREAA
Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note ii) 507,342,000 11.62%

FEBRRBLL mBECERA (KT

notes:
(i) Under the SFO, Ms Ho Tsz Wan is deemed to be interested on the 1,262,932,960
ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Mr. Lee Man Bun.

(i) Under the SFO, Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested on the
507,342,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 15 to 30 of this
Annual Report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms
available to or from independent third parties, in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole; and within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the
Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the disclosure connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases and the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales. In
2019, the largest supplier accounted for 7.8% of the Group's
purchase of raw materials (2018: 8.6%).

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2019.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$3,253,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

5 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % A ¥

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF

LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its members’ liability is
limited)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 120 to 260,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter
BARETSEE

EEETEE

RREF ERTHEBRBEAITHEE AL
RSB APGRAMBRRNEAR/ESR
MEHE - ELEHREEANATENERES
BRI ABERBETRIERN K17
TEHELEREHEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FITUTEERRET SR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FEW B 5 Rt 2 Bl B a1

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgment and management estimates in evaluating the
expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group’s trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.
RITHANERE HEFZBEM G REREAFTEARKE S
RREEEGREVBMRARCEEE RN BRERREEE 2 E
WE SRR BBMEEER(TAREEERE DTG REHH
kBB EEET -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounting to approximately HK$2,932 million, which represented
approximately 7% of total assets of the Group.

2019512 A310 - KEERKE SRFCFRES H£4029.32(88
T HEEBEENT% -

14

Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:
RITHEEWE ZIRFORE T e R
&

o Understanding how the impairment
loss of trade receivables has been
estimated by management and the
approval procedures for recognising
the impairment loss on trade
receivables;

o IBMEIREMMATREIESERRX
BB 18 R e E 5 BR S SRR
EEBBEZEHRERF
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (conTiNUED) BREITBIE L)

Key audit matter
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FIMAEEBRENEE

Impairment loss on trade receivables

BB 5 et 2 BEE R

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of ECL of trade
receivables based on provision matrix through grouping of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns, after considering internal
credit ratings of trade debtors, aging, repayment history and/or past
due status of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information. In
addition, trade receivables that are credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit impaired
trade receivables is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows with the consideration of expected future credit losses.

WA BHRAMTAMKE  SEEREREREBERAEA G
BKRE SRR EBEEEESE  BEABRUBERADN
TRIBEBALE  KEREHEBAZABEETR - BRie -
BRRERHEREWE SRR BN - B EEET
RIBEBATERF R BEEBE QX R AR ERER
B b BRBESRFAAEPEEBHEEMNTEEFEER
B - BUBESEFEEREZEEBEERNREEZREE
HEMAREEEENRECEARKRERERBE 2 ZEK

5 -

As disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised an amount of HK$54,548,000 in respect of
impairment of trade receivables for the year.

WMERE M MR TSMIMEE  EEFAREWE HRENER
1B © ¥ /54,548,000/8 7T °

Assessing the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
Group's ECL model based on our
understanding on the Group’s
customer portfolio and discussion
with management and the
independent qualified professional
valuer including:

ERATE EEENEFEAH
B REEBERBISERSE
EhEM® - TE EEERE
BHEEFBREAZ TEARBRN
SREBLE

- the credit quality of the
customers, such as any
experience in default, delay in
payments, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern;
and

- EPNEEBZX - fImEE
e - EHINER - BREC DT
MBAHEEERN &

- the provision rates, internal
credit ratings, historical default
rates and forward-looking
information.

- BEX . RBEEFTR BT
EHERFIEEER -

Evaluating the independent
qualified professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and
objectivity.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

118

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BB RS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Ip Chiu Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

5 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GelEmRkEMEEWE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 12431 H IFF/E

NOTES
FisE

Revenue LN 5
Cost of sales HHE R
Gross profit E7
Other income HABKA 7
Impairment losses on trade receivables,  [EUE 5 BE ZURE 518

net of reversal (Nkr =) 8
Other gains and losses Hith s R E8B 9
Distribution and selling expenses DHERBEER
General and administrative expenses BERITHER
Finance costs BT AR 10
Profit before tax PR A& A
Income tax expense FEBZH 1
Profit for the year FERF 12
Other comprehensive expense Hth 2@ H
Item that may be reclassified E#AgeEH R

subsequently to profit or loss: Bm2HEA -

Exchange differences arising on BEBMNEBES L

translation of foreign operations fEHEH

Total comprehensive income FEAZAEKRZ

for the year
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: UTALEHEFERFA(EE)

Owners of the Company KNFHEEA

Perpetual capital securities holders KEERBLHRBA

Non-controlling interests RS
Total comprehensive income AT ATREE2ENE

(expense) attributable to: (X)) -

Owners of the Company KRNBHEEA

Perpetual capital securities holders KBEABHFEEA

Non-controlling interests IR
Earnings per share FRER 16

2019
HK$'000
TEr
27,144,210
(22,051,176)

5,093,034
889,955

(54,548)
191,688
(612,268)
(1,162,805)
(324,861)

4,020,195
(VAERE])]

3,300,265

(1,298,980)

2,001,285

3,235,605
64,721
(61)

3,300,265

1,936,602
64,721
(38)

2,001,285

HK cents
AL

73.95

2018
HK$'000
TAT
32,208,082
(24,699,596)

7,508,486
1,015,109

(67,938)
90,039
(580,571)

(1,518,181)
(319,612)

6,127,332
(1,247,112)

4,880,220

(910,719)

3,969,501

4,880,206

14

4,880,220

3,969,410

91
3,969,501

HK cents
il

109.92
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

maE IR &

At 31 December 2019 #K2019F 12 H31H

NOTES
BRE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERZE 17
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 18
Prepaid lease payments TEREE IR 19
Investment properties BEMHE 20
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EEWE - HENLRER

plant and equipment and land use rights ~ + b AT E] & 21
Interest in a joint venture aEbEER 22
Loan to a joint venture AEPEER 22
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories BE 23
Prepaid lease payments BB ERE 19
Loan to a joint venture BEDLEER 22
Trade and other receivables JEWE 5 R EH MR 24
Bills receivables discounted with recourse  Bff 38 224 > fE W Z 2 AL IR 25
Amounts due from related companies FEUR BB N Rl A IE 26
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREERS 28
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables e E 5 K B At BR K 29
Advances drawn on bills receivables BB = 7 e ZE i

discounted with recourse ARIRTE K 25
Amounts due to related companies JERE B R R FIE 26
Derivative financial instruments PTESRIA 27
Tax payable FET 18
Lease liabilities HEBE 30
Contract liabilities AENEaE 31
Bank borrowings wITEE 32
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBDAEE

LIABILITIES

2019
HK$’000
TERT

28,176,728
1,040,495

584,336

1,106,741

98,343

31,006,643

3,571,075
61,656
5,355,998
461,824
120,749
2,919,462

12,490,764

2,832,628

461,824
15,663

3

189,424
4,867
81,395
4,874,429

8,460,233

4,030,531

35,037,174

2018
HK$'000
TAT

27,443,999
937,107
592,003

425,313

98,343

29,496,765

4,886,346
21,647
55,792

5,956,979

338,354
9,003
2,011,942

13,280,063

3,670,936

338,354
11,678
3,543
275,494

96,107
5,825,466

10,221,578

3,058,485

32,555,250
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e BARR R (E)

At 31 December 2019 #K2019F 12 H31H

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
MosE FET FET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Bank borrowings wITEE 32 7,461,118 7,965,029
Lease liabilities HeaE 30 48,525 —
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 33 1,444,911 1,444,370
8,954,554 9,409,399
26,082,620 23,145,851

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR & E
Share capital f&% A 35 109,170 109,723
Reserves W 23,650,317 23,033,372

Equity attributable to owners RATIEB AR

of the Company 23,759,487 23,143,095
Perpetual capital securities KEBEERFESH 36 2,322,814 —
Non-controlling interests B T 319 2,756

26,082,620 23,145,851

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 260 were F120EF 260 EFTEI MR & M B HERE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 72020563 A5AKE = it & MR E T

March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: B WA TINESFRKEE
LEE MAN CHUN RAYMOND ZE3 {8 LEE MAN BUN Z= 3053
CHAIRMAN & DIRECTOR %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEERBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 12431 H IFF/E

Capital Share Non-  Perpetual
Share Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other repurchase Retained controlling  capital Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests securiies  equity
R k& X

ke BORE EXRE LERE  NEE  WRE  HbBE EERE  BREA Nt OFERER  EAR5  ERUE
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér  TEr TRt TAr T TEr TR TR TEr TR TEr  TEr TEn
(notei)  (oted)  (noteii)  (notely)  (notey)
(

() (W) (i) () Oy
At anuary 2018 ROBEIAIR 1263 1869192 621498 1259 7 %9 (12060 — 19315203 21916,118 - — 21916118

Profit fo the year ERET - - - - - - - — 4880206 4,380,206 14 — 488020
Buchange differences arising B350 £ 7%
ontransation of foreign B4 7R

operations £% — - (910,79%) - - - - - - (910,79) 7 — (910719
Total comprehensve EngRE(LL)

(expenses) income for the &

year - - (910,79%) - - - - — 4880206 399410 9 — 3,969,501
Sharesrepurchasedand ~ RHEER

cancelled HH (2912)  (946,181) - - - - - - - (949093) - - (%49093)
Share repurchased and yetto - RAEER 5%

be canceled (note ) el ofial)] - - - - - - - (113 - (17123 - - (1723
Dividends recognised s~ BZAAEL

distributions (note 15) k& (Hts) — (39153 - - - - - - (@890 (1776104 - = (176104
Capltal contibutionby ~ JeE Mg

non-controlling interest HE - - - - - - - B B B 2665 B 2665
At 31 December 2018 R018E12A31E 109723 30858 (289,208) 12552 9 (2999 (12,0000 (17,236) 23311458 23,143,095 2,75 — 3145851
Profit(oss) for the year EEEA(5E) - - - - - - - — 3235605 3,235,605 (61) 64721 3300265
Bxchange differences ELEH S

ansngon transationof ~ E£2

foreignaperetors ExzE - s - - - - = I B - (2%
Total comprehense EngRE(EL)

(expenses)income for the iz

year — — (1299,003) - - — - — 3235605 1,936,602 (38) 64721 2,001,285
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ReEmZER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 12431 H IFF/E

Capital Share Non-  Perpetual
Share Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other repurchase Retained controlling  capital Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests securiies  equity
R k& X

ke BORE EXRE LERE  NEE  WRE  HbBE EERE  BREA Nt OFERER  EAR5  ERUE

HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000

Thn  TEnr  TEn  TEn TR TR TER TR A TEr  TEr TEr TEn
(notei)  (oted)  (noteii)  (otely)  (notey)

() () (et Obm) (W)

Sharesrepurchasedand ~ RHEAR

canceled S 5 - - - - — U3 (136 G - — )
Dividends recognisedas ~~ HesFRARZHRE

distrbutons note 15) (H3t1s) - - - - - - - — (125577) (125571) - - (12557)
Ditrbution paic on perpetual A E& AR

capitalsecuries (note 15~ AR (15 - - - - - - - - - - - ) 4T)
Capital withdrawal by FabEs

non-controling interest ~~ $EBURE - - - - - - - - - - - %
Issue of perpetual capital BT KEALER

securties note 36) (Hit36) - - - - - - - - - - — 130814 13081

At 31 December 2019 2019128318 109170 30858 (1588301) 12552 9 (2999  (12,060)

5510170 23,759,487 3

o

2322814 26,082,620

notes: B 5

(i) The capital contribution reserve arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in prior (i) LEREDBREARAAASEERZRIERA
years to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group's then ultimate holding A—REEMBRARILEWNB ARG °
company.

(ii) In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the (i)  RESBPIEIEBRAE - AR FLAIRPTIHHE

Company's subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of BRARSERFEREDIRE - EEETD
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the REFMA25%WCRBIEREZERES HERE
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The PHESEMBRARREIN —F¥ AL ZEFQE
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders. S TERRTRER

(i) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the (i)  FFRIfFEEHEIRBEAREBMN2003F9 A REMHK
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the BRSAOHMBARMNRAAEREEANR
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the WHEEEMBRTHROEENZERE
Company's shares issued for the acquisition.

(iv)  The other reserve arose from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries ~ (iv)  E A0 ERIBEFZ MM E AR 2 FFERBRE
from their non-controlling shareholders in prior years. WEE R B AR REEREE -

(v) During the period from 20 December 2018 to 28 December 2018, 2,638,000  (v) M2018F 12 4208 £20184F 12 A28 H #IfH

ordinary shares of the company were repurchased at an aggregate cost of BEAQGE®I2638000H @ & HiK
HK$17,236,000. Subsequently, the repurchased shares were cancelled on 29 17,236,000 7T ~ BEIRHEEE2019F1 A
January 2019, and accordingly, the Company's share capital and share premium 208 WEEEH B AARRARKRGHES
were reduced by HK$66,000 and HK$ 17,170,000 respectively. B35 466,000/ 7T % 17,170,000/ 7T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n/-,r\ EE:%UILE’%%

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 12431 H IFF/E

2019
HK$'000
TRT

4,020,195

324,861
151,792

7,363
(41,981)

(5.740)

54,548

OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEK
Profit before tax B 52 A1 22 A
Adjustments for: B
Finance costs B 75 AR
Depreciation and amortisation iE-258
Loss on disposal of property, HEWXE - BE K
plant and equipment Rz EE
Interest income FMEBA
Net gain from fair value changes of TEEmMIARAE
derivative financial instruments gE)Fils
Recognition of impairment losses on EWE SRR E
trade receivables, net B FEER
Operating cash flows before movements in & & & & ERIHY
working capital KEReRE
Decrease in inventories FERDY
Decrease in trade and other receivables FEUE 5 K E A BR UM
(Increase) decrease in FEUR BEE N R FTE
amounts due from related companies (380 3 >
Decrease in trade and other payables FERTE 5 K E B8R FOR
Increase (decrease) in FE{TREE R A
amounts due to related companies FIEE IR L)
Proceeds from and settlement of HEETE

derivative financial instruments

éﬂlﬂ%fﬁ

4,511,038
2,312,997
271,708

(111,746)
(824,703)

3,985

2,200

6,165,479

(575,646)
(218,700)
(415,048)

Cash generated from operations REXBEFENRS

The PRC Enterprise BB ERER
Income Tax (“EIT") paid (T¥EmBER])

Withholding tax paid BRI

Interest paid EFE

NET CASH FROM REXBRBRAE TR

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

4,956,085

2018
HK$'000
THET

6,127,332

319,612
138,745

10,777
(20,584)

(2,638)

67,938

6,641,182
1,071,814
516,480

12,706
(650,349)

(3,064)

10,308

7,599,077
(921,362)

(153,820)
(389,125)

6,134,770
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

meBRERER (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 12431 H IFF/E

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Deposit paid for acquisition of property,

REED
BEWE  BELRE
BEME  BFELRER

plant and equipment and land use rights THE RS E &
Payments for right-of-use assets EAREEMNK
Loan to a joint venture BETLEEN
Addition to investment properties LAY
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEBMNEERE
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWE - BEK
plant and equipment HIBRT BB
Interest received 2 WFE
NET CASH USED IN REEE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES AR FR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITEE
Dividends paid [RENEESS
Issue of perpetual capital securities BITKBERNES
Payment on repurchase of shares % [0 B 17 1 3K
Distribution paid on Bk EE AR
perpetual capital securities Bk
Repayments of lease liabilities BEBBEER
New bank borrowings raised MESRITEER
Capital (withdrawal) contribution IEPE T =S
by non-controlling interest (IREURA) &
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BMEES
ACTIVITIES FRAREFE
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN RERASEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EinORA ) EEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FEZzRER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR REEEY

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES

EREE2HE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash

FRZBEER
Re%EY
—RITHEBRER S

2019
HK$'000
THRT

(2,326,277)

(1,189,409)
(52,077)
(6,924)
(2,285)

14,016
41,981

(3.520,975)

(18,200,370)

(1,225,577)
2,322,814

(94,633)

(64,721)
(10,349)
16,745,422

(2,399)

(529,813)

905,297

2,011,942
2,223

2,919,462

2018
HK$'000
THAT

(1,864,390)
(427,012)

(22,205)
(4,355)
(691)

39,044
20,584

(2,259,025)

(17,318,680)
(1,776,104)

(966,329)

16,031,471

2,665

(4,026,977)

(151,232)

2,248,641
(85,467)

2,011,942
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 Z Z2019%F 12431 H 1L F/Z

GENERAL 1.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun
and Dr. Lee Wan Keung, Patrick are the substantial
shareholders of the Company. The address of the registered
office and the principal place of business of the Company is
disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the annual

report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and a joint venture
are set out in notes 45 and 22, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.

— AR

KRrELEMABERARAR - R2003F
SH21BIREBEFAEHE R FA(2013
FEIMPNHAEFHER L RERD
BERRBRARF  BROWLREER
BERSFMAERAA([BRAT]) E
meEXEEL EXHEERSE
BERETAARARNANEERE - AR
A Rl 8 B M AE R R 2 Ak
RERATER AR -

ARRRZ—EREERAR  &F
ENBRARILAEEENTER
7 BB B TS SRR BT 5E45 K022 ©

RepBmRRAET(IET]) S
R YRARBZEEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in

these consolidated financial statements.

ER#ET REBTE BT
RELZA(BBMBREE
a1

T 5 2 50 A A AV 3R] R AR S
ABRBYBREEL

AEBRAFEEREBATHE
At Ag([EEGMAE])
B 2 Al REERTBEMBRE
R

EEMBRELEE ME

£16%

HE(ERMBRE AEHEENTRENE
ZBZEY)

-REE23R

BERUBHREEN ALBEEROEMNR
ELLACCEIPY

BAGER sHEIEET - BURSUEE
F195% (BT K)

BAEGER RBERAELRM
F8F(BATA) REERD

BRI REEL  2015F£2017F
CHES BREBYBERE
L RIFF 5 e

Br NPt - ARFE R MK
CHECLE R =R F RN SIS
RNEF MBEFEZ M BERE RR
AR/ SRR ETBHRRZKE
TEEXZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. BRI REETEBYH

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS
17"), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard
to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which

already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance
with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether

a contract contains a lease.

RELZA(BBMBREE
1) e

T 5 2 50 A A AV 3R] R AR S
ABRBYBREEL(Z)

ERMBWMEERNFE16RHEE
REBRAFEEEXEREENE
WEEBF 165 -  BEEVBREE
16 MR BB EAE 175
HE(TBBEGTENE175]) kA8
AR iE o

HEZEH

AEBERERE IR  HEERA
FRGAERE 7R NEE (BERM
BHRERBZES)RERINET
—HLHREBEHMEMBR R
EZAHNERBEAMRELAE16
B MEEET B REEHE
MAEMATESEAEER - Bt
AREEWESHTEEARERB
HzmMERFEHEZBH -

FP2019F 1 A1 B R 2 BAT L&
HzBH  AEBREBERREEY
BREENFIFEMBEREREE
ZEEREEME-HANREGESM
= .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. BRI REETEBYH

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the
related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) at
transition. Any difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening retained profits and comparative
information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent

relevant to the respective lease contracts:

o elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application;

o excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-

use assets at the date of initial application;

o applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
a similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying
assets in similar economic environment. Specifically,
discount rate for certain leases of properties in the
People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"”) was determined
on a portfolio basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. J*EFH%‘)T%T&RTI R BB

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING WEER([EBMBREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTINUED) E'JJ)(%E)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are RS £F 5 58 ) A AR T AT I AR ME
mandatorily effective for the current year RIE BB EERE)
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) BEANERELERFI1RHEE(E)
As a lessee (Continued) /7—:/'%7% TAA (&
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously ERBENDERKEHNZHER
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied REEBER  AEEERE#ES
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at EESRNVRERARZHERSE
the date of initial application. The weighted average lessee’s & o R Z ATE A DNRE T 5 S
incremental borrowing rate applied is 4.3%. BEEB/A3% o
1January
2019
20195
1A18
HK$'000
T
Operating lease commitments 2018512 A31HEE 2
disclosed as at 31 December 2018 A TH 4R E 26,566
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant LR RS R R TIR 2
incremental borrowing rate HEARE 23,685
Less: Recognition exemption — short term leases 3 : FER A% — TR E (13,220)
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 MN2019FE1 AR HEAE 10,465
Analysed as: DA
Current TEE 2,910
Non-current JERE 7,555
10,465
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. J*EFH%‘)TF.T&,.I{I R BB

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BREEN([BBYKREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTINUED) E'JJ)(%E)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are RS 8 6 A T RT R &1
mandatorily effective for the current year RIE BB EERE)
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) BEANERELERFI1RHEE(E)
As a lessee (Continued) EBEMA ()

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019 R2019F 1A 1A AEEE T
comprises the following: BEEEAT

Right-of-use assets

EREEE
HK$'000
TET
Right-of use assets relating to operating leases & & A &8 8 15 5 & 2 8|
recognised upon application of F16RERLE L
HKFRS 16 BERZEREEE 10,465
Reclassified from prepaid RENHEHEREENHE
lease payments (note) (f#EE) 958,754
969,219
By class: Z&A -
Leasehold lands HELH 958,754
Land and buildings T BT 10,465
969,219
note:  Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC and Socialist Republic of i PERYETEFRXNBE(TME]Z
Vietnam (“Vietnam”) were classified as prepaid lease payments as at 31 iﬁﬁimz%ﬁﬁ K7 2018F 124318
December 2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the current and non- SEAENEENRE EEATEN
current portion of prepaid lease payments amounting to HK$21,647,000 ﬁ%i&%iﬁﬂ”%1 65EI - EREERES
and HK$937,107,000 respectively were reclassified to right-of-use assets. Bl 721,647,0007% 7T 5% 937,107,000/%
TZRBRFERDESEDNENOAERE

REEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. BRI REETEBYH

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BREEN([BBYKREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTINUED) Al ) &)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are RS 8 6 A T RT R &1
mandatorily effective for the current year RIE BB EERE)
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) BEANERELERFI1RHEE(E)
As a lessor 1EAML A

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the HREBYEREENFE165RBE
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for B AEEBARAEBREAD
leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these MAZHEREFELFAE - AR
leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial HERVBERABRZRBESNB
application and comparative information has not been restated. MEERE16HAR - B

FIEETG -

The transition to HKFRS 16 has no material impact on the BEEMBHRELENE 16K ZBES
Group's retained profits as at 1 January 2019. RNEBMN2019F1 A1B 2B HEEF

WEEBAZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessor (Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

2. F’Eﬁﬁ%‘ﬁ AIREIERT B BUHK

RELZA(BBMBREE
E'JJ)(%E)

T 5 2 50 A A AV 3R] R AR S
ABRBYBREEL(Z)

EBMBREENFE16RHEE(E)

1EABHFA (&)

LT ASR2019F1B1HZEA
HMBRARFPRRZSEED 2B
BoPLAXEHPFEZBEENL TR
FBIER °

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts under
previously HKFRS 16 at
reported at 1January
31 December 2019
2018 REES
BE BREE
R20185 ERIZ16%
12A31H R2019%F
2%z  Adjustments 1A18H
RHEE AR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEL THET FTBL
Non-current Assets EREBEE
Prepaid lease payments A ERE 937,107 (937,107) —
Right-of-use assets ERAREE — 969,219 969,219
Current Assets REEE
Prepaid lease payments FENMEERIEAE 21,647 (21,647) —
Current Liabilities REEE
Lease liabilities HEaE — 2,910 2,910
Non-current Liabilities FREBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE — 7,555 7,555
note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under B RBEEEF AR E®REE2019F12A°
indirect method for the year ended 31 December 2019, movements in BTHIEFEREEZHMERERE
working capital have been computed based on opening consolidated TEEECEBERERIEZREY
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above. MR R R 2019F 1 B1 B 2 AV EH T
EHE -
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RE MR R M ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTiINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting

period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January
2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

Inventories, or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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RE MR R M ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. Changes in net assets of the joint
venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group'’s
interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES SETBER#)
(CONTINUED)
Investment in a joint venture (Continued) AR ERER(E)
An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the BECREENERRETR RS
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a EEEH T?K’ﬁﬁ AN o g
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint EEPERRRN  REKABHAR
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the SEEMN ?BZ&QHTE&%U BEERB
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and BFAARBEZEMNEBEEREE
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is 2 WEEEZRENEERER -
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any REMANEEEERKRE T A &5
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the BENBEFAABEBLEREXR
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, M EEBAEWEZKRE Y
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in HEEERER -
the period in which the investment is acquired.
The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that rEEESNERESATEHIEESR
the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When any EECEBARLERBE & ﬁ&
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the MESIBELRE  RE2HE@
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in BE(BREHB)RBEEBSTELE
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single 36REEREERE —BEERE
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in B - FERKEEMERTKE S
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying BEABERARABZESERL
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any BRAR) INALLER o o] 2 1R 2R
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying BEEEI GIRTEMNEE H B4
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss BE - DEKRZEEAREAEN
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that Do WZWEZ WD S FEH % E
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently N AIRIEEE G AR E 3657 i
increases. RZMEEE 2 BE -
When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the EEEERERASEE 2 6EDEE
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with IRGK - BHELELERIMES
the joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated MERERERASEEE ZEE D
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint ¥Ew ARAEEZEEMBR
venture that are not related to the Group. KIER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the

Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset

that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required

before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract

are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue under the following accounting

policies:

(i)  Revenue from sale of packaging paper, pulp and tissue
paper is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of goods;

(i)  Revenue from supply of steam and electricity is
recognised at a point in time upon transition steam and

electricity to users; and

(iii)  Revenue from rendering of wharf cargo handing service is
recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group

performs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract

are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases

within the portfolio.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in AR B RABRA R T2 P EE R
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued) FEREEMISMEERE165%) (&)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets KHHERREEEHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption AEEHHEOMA RGBT 121E
to leases of staff quarters and office properties that have a AREREAYEBSBERZE
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date ITEERHAEMFEFEAEHEE
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the R - FRREEEEHRED
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease ERERHL  CHHEEREESR
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets EHEZHENRREAOBANRE
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another BREASEMAREERABER -

systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets 2L E
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: TRAREEXNAERE :

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease HEBEVRTELHE

liability;
° any lease payments made at or before the commencement o RFEMAMKZAELZEM
date, less any lease incentives received; HEMNF  REAFEEKRBEE
B
e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and o AKEFRZEMUIEEEK
N3
e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in s AKRESRFERBERHEBE
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring E - WEMBEEMEMRK
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying K18 A8 B & B R R B RSN AR
asset to the condition required by the terms and HERZRIZ EETRRA

conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property are

presented within “investment properties”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the

cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if

the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments. The Group remeasures
lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the

related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial

discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;

and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular

contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective

date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate
implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than
those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included
in the initial measurement of the net investments in the leases.
Interest income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment

properties measured under fair value model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on

the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional

lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as
a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARME (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of and on the
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or

loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
recognised as an expense when the employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the

cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interest are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the

right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the

initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation

authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost

less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interest in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interest in a
property which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the

relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before
application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties

are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or

for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual

value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine

the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates

of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash

flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the date
of initial application of HKFRS Y/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business

Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-

taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit

impaired.
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FE M| KRMEE (&)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables, loan to a joint venture,
bills receivables discounted with recourse, amounts due from
related companies and bank balances.) The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk

since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast

of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. AEEBEREKE ZERBERL
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables GEHEEERE AEEBAERE
without significant financing component. The ECL on these BEVBHD 2EKE 5 ERER
assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant RETEHEEEE HRFEEZ
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with EHEERSE  AEXEHNERK
appropriate groupings. AR AR5 MR Bl FF 4k Kok ER A TR R

= ¥ 38 A 48 B LRI FEAS o

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss MEABEMITAR  AEBUESERN
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a NREABHEEBETEEEBR
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the B BIEBYVRBEREEERRTE
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether EEM - AEBEBBRAKFEHE
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant BEEE THETEBRAKSGES
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since EEEBBENDERBVEBERERE
initial recognition. BHB LSRR ESEEELN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () f=ERKRBEZEENE)
In particular, the following information is taken into AEmME  ATARAFIHEER
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased ERBEEBMMEENE
significantly: ¥

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) EERBEZEMNGE)
e anactual or expected significant adverse change in o BEBHARER KE - %
the regulatory, economic, or technological KRR EE BN E
environment of the debtor that results in a AR G HER A B
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet EREEBITEBEEN
its debt obligations. EEDII
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the maw b s B R - g
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased EHNFEEHBERI0OKR K
significantly since initial recognition when contractual SEBEEEERR B 5 E
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the RAREE LI - BRIEAREE
Group has reasonable and supportable information that EEBEREEENER SIEFE
demonstrates otherwise. B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FEETTBERE)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMITE(E)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) () f=ERKRBEZEENE)
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the BEWW - EEBILARKRSE
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased HERETAREERR &~
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument SEABRSEZEBLAZEE
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting [2, Bz B 77 45 FE 2R LA PR M AR =
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit #me BB IAKEEREE
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a BER - W)EEORBRBIK
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow ifE A BB Wi BAE
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in TEHEHNBESRERT  Rii)
economic and business conditions in the longer term IR B 4807 I R AR A 3
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the HEAge - BA—E - RIEMEBRK
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. ABTTHEEHNRSREEREN
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit B EEBIERAILIN
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of HEETRAKREERTES
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions. WIIRERR ] NEBRRBZ

EHTABERRR -
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the AEETHEZERE#RNZS
criteria used to identify whether there has been a IR (E B R R B ey AR 2
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as ZEMMREEAREIIEE
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of VARE IR 5% IR 4 T IS & 5B 80 HA A
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the AHAEERBMBEIEM -
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()
(i Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EERESREE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more E-ERZEENEHEES

events of default that have a detrimental impact on the ZeMEEMARKRERE

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have ATFEE  sRHEEREE
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired BE - eRHEERENZERE
includes observable data about the following events: FEATEH 2 ATEBRREE

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (a) BITASBRABFERE
borrower; B DR R

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due (b)y EXD - AINEASGEEASE
event; %

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or () BRAZERA HEH
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s EENCINEGE kS
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower EHRE B TERA—
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not MERATZEERNE
otherwise consider; s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit

or loss.

FE

SETBE#)

TRMIAE)

CREEE)
EHEERE(E)

(iii)

(iv)

EEREEREE(E)
(d) fEFRAH A 8L b A 2E 2
HiMHER 3%

() AMBAREZEREED
HRRERMS -

EREMBTIETFIGERE
B TR B e 0 B AR R U
FIE Bl BEHFHEETT
BRACEARERF - KL
REKRESER  ELEHA
HEBWE  URFERE
AEEMHETREE - TRE
ENMIE A ENERBEASHE
P REFOMITHN - BER
B E BORREE - MIEBK S
BREERFIE - EAHEREER

BRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRIAE)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) TEHEEEENGtERER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability TRHEEBIETE AELN M
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the - BREBR(NEHNER
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The BE)REDNBEXAONEE - 2
assessment of the probability of default and loss given AR R RE BT
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward- ERBESECATIE I ERE
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an RE - EHHEEEBENMGER
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is MR REREEMESE R
determined with the respective risks of default occurring EHEENHBRRNOLLERE
as the weights. E °
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all —BmE EHREEBEERRE
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in BEXNFMAERRAEREG NN
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the ©mE EANE BRI R
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective TR R - BB N ETIR L
interest rate determined at initial recognition. RERBMETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHEE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMITE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (vy EHGEEFBREMNGTERER
(#)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for ERBEEEBEAREEL

cases where evidence at the individual instrument level £ EARERNTIEAERFH

may not yet be available, the financial instruments are BEAEEARBNBERLT
grouped on the following basis: SR TABRUTELEMAS :

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's e SRMITEMUELE(KAEHEH
trade and other receivables, finance lease ZRIWE S REMERR
receivables and amounts due from customers are ERBmERERERER
each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related RFHEBESFRAETR
parties are assessed for expected credit losses on an FTE o BT EE A AR
individual basis); TEH (= B BB EE R FE

&)

o Past-due status; e BHRHAR :

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and e BHAZHEEL - BB RIT
E4

e External credit ratings where available. s EHEMBRZINIEERT
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EEEERE ()

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v) BHEEBENGTENRER

(%)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to EILE T EAEAR A BB N AT
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share RE—HAREEmEsEEERL
similar credit risk characteristics. M= B R R EL
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying MBWAREBEERERAE
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is FE-mMBEEERE SR
credit impaired, in which case interest income is BEBIRI - FEUBERT - F
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset. BWABRE R E E 2 B
REtE o
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit AEERMBEERM T ELRE
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their HEMEBERERRERBEK
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables mIEE - MEKE S RKA
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised Broh - EABREAEE MM E 1B
through a loss allowance account. BBIRER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and reward of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

SETBE#)

TRMIAE)

PREEE)

SRR F A E

MR EERMBEEREZENEF
EEM AEEEZESREER
EREREERBEECBRE YR
g REHEETE—EE ~A5E
FTEfBREREMEE - MAKH
MEEETERBEBRIT AR KX
B REBZEHEEBBREE - A%
EREEBREBTEZ LA
AXNeHEBERBEAGE - WAK
ERECEBeRMEECBRILS
B RkE®R  AEBEEERZS
BLEEW B WK IBEREFE
& o

RABGHER —BABHEK A ERN
@ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ% CEEREERED W R
EMREBZERE  SREBETER -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

A financial instrument issued by a group entity, which includes
no contractual obligations for the Group to deliver cash or
other financial assets to the holders or to exchange financial
assets or financial liabilities with the holders under conditions
that are potentially unfavorable to the Group, is classified as an
equity instrument and is initially recorded at the proceeds
received. Perpetual capital securities issued by the Company
that have the above characteristics are classified as equity

instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for
trading or (jii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging

instrument.

FEESTTHX(#)

TRMIAE)

CRABERESTAE)
BAREGABBR B AR
EeRMABENNOWEREEVMBHRSE
EREIRNEFAHORBE 2K
REE (DFBIEEE  K(INEE
RIRBAREFARE  IDER
BAREFABZZERAR -

TRABEDNHEERE ©

e RABAB®WIIEIHARE
B

o RUMERFESAREEHKFA
BEENCHAIERTANKE
e —mo RABEHRDRA
ME R BERER 3

o HR/MAETHR KRIFZTET
AERMBRERERKEERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHHE#E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMITE(E)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) cHEEREETAE)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued) BAREFAERZ 2 EE(E)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for REEEEZ2RBERRERS

trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business HHWEE 2 ARBUIINZ 2R

combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial BE - AIRNVHEERSEERER

recognition if: REFABRZEHEAE M-

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a o EETEEBEHNBEER DG
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would EYEROTS—B(SFAEH
otherwise arise; or )oK

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial e THABEEKEREELSR
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed BEANKERME 2 —
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in o BIRBEAREE S FE 2R E
accordance with the Group’s documented risk ERSIRERM - RIRZEE
management or investment strategy, and information AN EHBBEANEREE
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or B REKRBEEAABEEERN

flr + 3k

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more e HEK—HESs—HEXZIEA
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire EMEIENEHN 2 —#5 -
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL. RBEABMBHRESERNEIRE

MAEAHANEERERAA
Bt AR °
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RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are
recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to retained profits upon derecognition of the

financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, trade and other
payables and advances drawn on bills receivables discounted
with recourse are subsequently measured at amortised cost,

using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset

and settle the liability simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. SETBER#)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMITE(E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) vaﬂﬁfs DT AE)
Derivative financial instruments FEFITA
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when ?TEI BUTTETAGHNFTBRZ
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently RNAEEVNRERREZARS B
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting MARZARBEENGTE - FIEEN
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. WS sk BB B2 M AERR

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. M THBEZZ2EERR
In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are MRERAREE 2 &5t B (5517 M
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required 3 AAREFTTHAREEA
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the HRREEBECEERBREZ
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily BRMEIED HE - et RRBRE - %
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated EhFRAEERZDEENBEL
assumptions are based on historical experience and other BEHMBEEASERIEER - BR
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may EEM A NNZE MG -
differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an BT RAEEBRE IR FERAERE
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised B - B Gt BB BE
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision TIERI 2 WM - Al Z B H R
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and A RIEET R 2 B Al KRR
future periods if the revision affects both current and future AR - BIRMER] RAR R AR 1R o
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings through groupings of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group's
historical default rates taking into consideration of forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered. In
addition, trade receivables with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables

are disclosed in notes 24 and 38(ii).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2019, a deferred tax asset in relation to
unused tax losses of approximately HK$212,000,000 (2018:
HK$137,000,000) was not recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the expectation for future profit streams changes, a
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a

recognition takes place.

As at 31 December 2019, no further deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised on the undistributed profits of certain group
companies in the PRC after 2008 as the Group plans to retain
those profits in the respective entities for their daily operations
and future developments. In case there is a change in such
plan, additional tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised
in the profit or loss for the period in which the management
intends to declare such profits in the foreseeable future or the
Group's future development plan is amended, whichever is
earlier. Details of the above unrecognised accumulated profits

are set out in note 33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

5. REVENUE 5. WA

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) REBEFEFEHNNBADH
with customers

2019 2018

Types of goods Segments HK$'000 HK$'000
Em¥ER 7 &B TRT FET
Sales of packaging paper Packaging paper 22,387,672 27,156,142

(including linerboard and BRAK

corrugating medium)
HEBRA

(BREFERE

FUAB 4R )
Sales of pulp Pulp 1,693 3,959
SHE AR AER
Sales of tissue paper Tissue paper 4,754,845 5,047,981
SHER ALK M

27,144,210 32,208,082

Timing of revenue recognition
WA AR 2 B

A point in time 27,144,210 32,208,082
—{IE R Pl B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

5.

REVENUE (conminueD)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

The Group sells packaging paper, pulp and tissue paper

directly to customers.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been delivered
to the specific location (delivery) as agreed in the sales
contracts. Following delivery, the customer has full
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 45
to 90 days upon delivery.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8

Operating Segments, based on information reported to the

Company’s executive directors, being the chief operating

decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance, which

focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group’s operating

and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 — Operating Segments

are as follows:

(i

(ii)

(iii)

Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard,
coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high
strength corrugating medium;

Pulp; and

Tissue paper.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 6. DEPER(#)
Segment revenues and results DEM AR X &
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LNTAEEERARESHE D 2
by operating and reportable segments: REBWRAREEDT :
Year ended 31 December 2019 BZ2019F12A318LFE

Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total Eliminations Consolidated
BEL K BEE  oWEF E3 &®a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR T TR TR

REVENUE ON
External sales “opiEE 22,387,672 1,693 4,754,845 27,144,210 — 27,144,210
Inter-segment sales NE 2 HEEE - 926,144 — 926,144 (926,144) —
22,387,672 927,837 4,754,845 28,070,354 (926,144) 27,144,210
SEGMENT PROFIT IBEA 3,514,538 563,472 4,078,263 — 4,078,263

Net gain from fairvalue T4 ¢8I A

changes of derivative NAEEH

finandial instruments Fias 5,740
Unallocated income AAE WA 310,118
Unallocated expenses KOBZETH (49,065)
Finance costs BB (324,861)

Profit before tax % %t Al & A 4,020,195

EGEKER AT 2019 £ 187




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 6. DEPER(#)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBBMARELE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE2018F12A31HLEFE
Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEK iR HEE  AEEE #iH e

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL TAT TRL TBL TBT TAT

REVENUE KA
External sales HoMEE 27,156,142 3959 5,047,981 32,208,082 — 32,208,082
Inter-segment sales N EHE — 1,189,078 — 1,189,078  (1,189,078) —
27,156,142 1,193,037 5047981 33,397,160  (1,189,078) 32,208,082
SEGMENT PROFIT AHBF 5,455,810 898 840,108 6,296,816 — 629,816

Net gain from fairvalue 744 @I A

changes of derivative NAEES

financial instruments el 2,638
Unallocated income AAE 2 WA 250,802
Unallocated expenses KB ZzETH (103,312)
Finance costs TG A (319,612)
Profit before tax % %5t Al & K 6,127,332

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the D & ET IR BB EE 3 PR At
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. ZEAEEGHEE—H - DEAF
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment & D ESFTRENAT - i fE o B
without allocation of net gain from fair value changes of RENTEERMIAEARBEZEHFK
derivative financial instruments, rental income, interest income, = HeWA - FIBIA - EHF
net exchange gain, finance costs and other unallocated Wik~ BAES AR R E Ath R 9 BE AT I
administrative expenses. This is the measure reported to the BR - WDRAEFELERRENER
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance BROPERRRIGMERZFTE
assessment. FE e

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. S EEE NIRRT ERE
/%( o
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RE MR R M ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuep)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable segments:

As at 31 December 2019
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

M2019%12831H

NHEE
ADEZEE

Packaging
paper
HK$'000
THER

31,501,578

993,060

7 EBE R (4#)
NHEERAE

AT REAREDHBE D 2 AKHE

BERBEDN

Tissue

Pulp paper
RE HER
HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT THERT

1,767,513 7,308,854

521,363

Consolidated
SE
HK$'000
THET

40,577,945
2,919,462

43,497,407

1,537,963
15,876,824

17,414,787

Packaging Tissue

paper Pulp paper  Consolidated

BER R BHEH e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET FHET

As at 31 December 2018 ®2018F12A31H

Segment assets DHEE 31,024,498 2,031,539 7,708,849 40,764,886
Unallocated assets KOBEZEE 2,011,942
Consolidated total assets AR EE 42,776,828
Segment liabilities DEEE 1,654,893 18,316 84,353 1,757,562
Unallocated liabilities AoEzEE 17,873,415
Consolidated total liabilities regaE 19,630,977
B EMARAR 2019 £3k 189




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTiNUED) DEBER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) DTHMEEREEE)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REZDBRREERSHBEIBEE
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated R BEEHD T “%ﬁ%‘ (iR
to operating segments other than bank balances and cash and TEHBRBESRATRESHLF
other assets used jointly by reportable segments, and all Fﬁ%Zﬁﬁﬂ;ﬁFF@W)J}{&Fﬁﬁﬁ%
liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than AN THESH(ITESHBMIA -
derivative financial instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings, ERBIE - RITEE BEHIEE
deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities for which reportable BERAREDALBENZEME
segments are jointly liable. BERIN) ©
Other segment information Hfth 5 ZBE R
Packaging Tissue
paper Pulp paper Consolidated
BER AE EEE =E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET BT BT BT
At 31 December 2019 M2019%12A31H
Amounts included in the HESBEEY
measure of segment profit DEEBEERE
or loss or segment assets: INT&%
Addition to non-current assets  JER B & & 1 N
(note) (PH%E) 3,320,223 70,702 264,496 3,655,421
Depreciation of property, =
plant and equipment BB
and right-of-use assets BEWE 1,054,776 191,768 1,325,356
Loss on disposal of property,  HEWME - BE &
plant and equipment RiEzEE 6,936 253 7,363
Impairment loss recognised R 1B HEA 2 fE K
in profit or loss on trade B RTAE
receivables BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conmmuep) 6. ZEMEME)
Other segment information (Continued) HittpEER(£)
Packaging Tissue
paper Pulp paper  Consolidated
BEA N BHEK R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12831H
Amounts included in the HENEEERK
measure of segment profit DHEEBRE
or loss or segment assets: INT&%
Addition to non-current assets 3 i 8 & & 45 0
(note) (KIsE) 1,677,541 102,941 564,727 2,345,209
Depreciation of property, mE - BER
plant and equipment HEWE 996,617 78,651 191,735 1,267,003
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment R B8 10,731 2 44 10,777
Amortisation of prepaid BNEERIE
lease payments ey 17,359 607 3,726 21,692
Impairment loss recognised AR (@A) 2
(reversed) in profit or loss JEW E 5 8R U8 E
on trade receivables &8 69,000 — (1,062) 67,938

note:  Amounts included additions to property, plant and equipment, right-of-

use assets/prepaid lease payments and deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment.

No other amounts are regularly provided to the CODM but not

included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment

assets.

M SEBEMEWE  BERRE  £8
REE/TNHERBERBEYE K
EREEHRNETE -

ﬁﬁﬁméﬁﬁm%kﬁ%iﬁw
BREEMUTERTFETED BB
HUDBEENEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 6. DEPER(#)
Revenue from major products REFTEEMHBA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its LNTAREEREFEZEERHEA
major products: AT

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET

Packaging paper (including linerboard £ 2 4%
and corrugating medium) (BIES4BRE LS GE) 22,387,672 27,156,142
Pulp AR 1,693 3,959
Tissue paper B 4,754,845 5,047,981

27,144,210 32,208,082

Geographical information b 35 & K}

Over 95% (2018: 96%) of the Group's revenue were derived AEEZHABBEIS% (20184
from external customers in the PRC. 96% ) KB FREBIINEES ©
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented REBERDEEERDIREEM
based on the geographical location of the assets. FEHET o

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
The PRC other than Hong Kong FE - BB 26,067,151 27,132,105
Vietnam i) 2,465,140 2,349,426
Malaysia Bk 2,343,481 —

Hong Kong &% 130,871 15,234

31,006,643 29,496,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 6. DEPER(#)
Information about major customers FRIEREFZER
None of the Group's customers contributed over 10% of the AE S FHmERATERAEERT
Group's total revenue for the current and prior reporting PHEAEEBUAEIRIO% °
period.
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HAyg A
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Value added tax and other tax refund ER R R HE MR 434,513 632,990
Income from supply of steam and HEZRARBEABA
electricity 36,910 30,678
Income from wharf cargo handling ESTEEBIRA 20,804 19,446
Sales of materials and waste paper Mkl RE AR HE 85,257 65,130
Interest income from banks IRITFBUA 41,981 20,584
Others H A 270,490 246,281

889,955 1,015,109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TRADE 8. FEWEZRIFREERE (R
RECEIVABLES, NET OF REVERSAL =] %)
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Impairment losses recognised on: WEBERER
— Trade receivables —FERE S RN 54,548 67,938
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 38(i). W E S FE B E R T EE38(i) ©
9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HttmKREE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRT FATT
Net foreign exchange gain OB H e 193,197 98,178
Net gain from fair value changes of PTESBMIAEARE
derivative financial instruments BE)F WS 5,740 2,638
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - WERE&E
plant and equipment )%= (7,363) (10,777)
Others HAth 114 —
191,688 90,039
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BARE R AR
2019 2018
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAGHNEER 3,174 —
Interest on bank borrowings RITEENE 415,048 389,125
Less: amounts capitalised to property, BE WE - BE R
plant and equipment B ER LR (93,361) (69,513)
324,861 319,612
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the FAZERNMABERARTIRN—REE
general borrowings and are calculated by applying a RELS  WAGEREERYIZE
capitalisation rate ranging from 3.20% to 3.30% (2018: 2.43% AL FEFMEH3.20%%53.30%(2018
t0 3.10%) per annum to expenditures on qualifying assets. F:BH243%E3.10%)5H ©
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. MEBZH
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: RERAER 2GR -
Current tax NERFI IR
—The PRC EIT —EEMRETR 489,506 884,183
— PRC withholding tax on dividend —DIRREZ
distribution BRI 218,700 153,820
— Others —H 567 —
708,773 1,038,003
Under-provision in previous year EF T BRE
—The PRC EIT —PEPRMEHR 3,797 732
Deferred tax (note 33) EERTE (M3E33)
— Charge to profit or loss — T AR 7,360 208,377
Total income tax recognised in profit or loss A Bz AR 2 48 FI15 5 719,930 1,247,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED)

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The PRC

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate
income tax at the rate of 25% except that six (2018: six) of
these subsidiaries are entitled to preferential rate of 15% for

the Group’s financial year ended 31 December 2019.

Hong Kong

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

1. MEBIH #)

A% B 2 BRI R B BRI B i
B MBI - BURRER FE
EEEER 2 HEHE -

]

AEEBRFEMNWEARZEAD
E¥BHHEERE25%  MEF M
(2018%F : NA) WEBRAARE R
2019F 12 A3 1B LB FEZER
REEMEHMEISY

BB

MR2018%F3A21H @ BN EeB
@207 F R (1EF]) (B 795 ) 5
BR(TBKRAIER]) - EHERS
AFEHRBHRE - ZKOIER
R2018F3 A28 ER BIEE
WHREBAEFERTE o BIBEW RS
FIEHE  GEREEEENEM
BEBTLRAEILS 25%EF « B
BREBETHERKIE16.5%
Mo THEMNEGHMBHELNE
EER RN BERIR16.5%M 5
— R -

RAREERBE TG BRI
RS BEHEAVBEHRRBMN
TRE - BEFEHAMEFEH
RIGETERRBFIA16.5%FH ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED)

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 10%. They are entitled to a corporate
income tax exemption for four years from the first profit-
making year and a reduction of 50% for the following nine
years. No provision for Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has
been made for both years as the Vietnam subsidiaries entitled

tax exemption for both years.

Malaysia

The Malaysia subsidiaries are subjected to Malaysia Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 24%. No provision for Malaysia
Corporate Income Tax has been made for both years as the
Malaysia subsidiaries did not have assessable profits subject to

Malaysia Corporate Income Tax during the years.

Others

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

11.

MEB &)
A

R PP B & AR 4% 55 58/99/M 5 V%
SRMAI - B ER R HRNRPIHE
FERORPFIFMER)  ARRASHAE
STHEERANFRRPIARL QR
HEEm e

(4=

7 B B8 2 B 242 10 % B R U B
MEEMEHR HEABEEMEEL
BNFEEFNFERREEME
BN BERNES0%BM % - AR
ff &~ BIR M EFESE A BB
% MYBOMEFEIEMERMD
EFEHiEeE -

R

BRATHE R R RE24% B X8
MERADEEMBN - ARE XK
P B AR N FE AL EFRAE
CEMBRZERREN - A E
AMEFEEFIRSRAGEEME
TR -

HAft

HihBNEEEREL K IERRE
BIBDEEBERER 2 HEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED) 1. MEBZE#)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FABBHLERESGRAESRE
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 2 EW ST BFERNAT -

other comprehensive income as follows:

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Profit before tax K %54 R B 5] 4,020,195 6,127,332
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% FERTLE25% 2 Bk

(2018: 25%) (note) (20184 : 25% ) (FfisE) 1,005,049 1,531,833
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR0 32 &Y

for tax purpose M E 181,408 163,134
Tax effect of income not taxable BARTOKAD

for tax purpose TS & (80,775) (25,314)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERMBERNRBEE 3,886 17,969
Effect of tax exemption granted to R R B A A

Macau and Vietnam subsidiaries BHREHTHTE (66,999) (101,366)
Effect of concessionary rates granted to R B A B

the PRC subsidiaries BEEHRE E’J%; (375,788) (308,148)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7 E fth 7354 [= 2B I B

operating in other jurisdictions NEINARMENTE 49,352 (31,728)
Under-provision in previous years BAFETERE 3,797 732
Tax charge for the year FAMBHRZ 719,930 1,247,112
note: This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a ek - WREAEBRBARBOEFREEMEZ

substantial portion of the Group’s operation is based. AEEER 2 BTSRRI E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FE&A

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FEEFIEHNG (5T A) ¢
charging (crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (note 13) EEME (MsF13) 38,345 38,050
Staff salaries and other benefits, BTIHS MEMBAH -
excluding those of directors TRIEES 1,105,753 1,183,240
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFFEIHE
schemes, excluding those of directors TRIEES 87,022 82,120
Total employee benefit expense EERMAZ A% 1,231,120 1,303,410
Capitalised in inventories EFEAX (CIRED)] (915,230)
330,090 388,180
Auditors’ remuneration Z SRR Bl &
— Audit services — ZE R 8,519 7,866
— Non-audit services — IR BAR TS 1,186 1,082
Cost of inventories recognised as expense  FE R ANFER A 22,051,176 24,699,596
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TET AR E IR 21,692
Depreciation of property, W - BER
plant and equipment RETE 1,293,075 1,267,003
Depreciation of investment properties KWEMEIRE 22,576 22,314
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 32,281 —
Total depreciation and amortisation TENEHERE 1,347,932 1,311,009
Capitalised in inventories BEEEARE GREIREDE  (1,172,264)
151,792 138,745
Operating lease rentals in respect of land ~ + 3 REFH
and buildings wEfeEfRe 35,076
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (conTinuED) 12. FERF &)
2019
HK$°000
FET
Gross rental income from WEMEZ
investment properties e s A
Less: e
— direct operating expenses incurred for —FRNEEESRAL
investment properties that generated "EYHEZ
rental income during the year BEEERY
— direct operating expenses incurred for —FANFEEERSHAD
investment properties that did not KREMHELZ
generate rental income during the year BEEERSY

(23,427)

2018
HK$'000
FH

(28,097)

246

174

(27,677)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

13. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EERERIHITEMS
OFFICER'S EMOLUMENTS

FREFLRERATENHESRE
EALEMRR R QBRI ELT

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

Other emoluments
Hinif <

Contributions

Salaries to retirement

and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees H&R EHREF Total
e = @Al STEIER A&t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THT THT THT THT
2019 20196
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond FXEEBT 16,500 16,500
Mr. Lee Man Bun Qe
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHTE) 14,830 16,500
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRBEE 2,983 3,700
Non-executive director IHTEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BERIHRKR
Independent non-executive directors BV IHHITEE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIRAE

Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Peter A. Daviest £

BERLE

35,958

38,345
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

13. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EENERAHATEMES (&)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Other emoluments
Hiole
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees Hek RIKER Total
kR Hiv iz ATEIf T Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz THT T THT
2018 2018F
Executive directors HITEZE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond WL 16,500 — — 16,500
Mr. Lee Man Bun FREE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHHTE) 14,988 1,512 — 16,500
Mr. Li King Wai Ross TRBEE 2,983 717 — 3,700
Non-executive director FHITEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong ERAHE — — — —

Independent non-executive directors B HHITEE

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRIRAE 450 — - 450
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. DaviesSt & 450 — — 450
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AR E 450 — — 450
35,821 2,229 — 38,050
The executive directors’, non-executive directors’ and it TESE T ESRE S
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown EHTEE2MEETELES T
above were mainly for their services in connection with the DRAAERANTEAEEBETEERLRL
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group and EERNBIEENREZME -

for their services as directors of the Company respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

13. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those

for services rendered by him as the Chairman.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any

emoluments during these periods.

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2018: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 13.
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals,

including directors, were as follows:

14.

. EZREFITENS (@)

FXRBEFASARRAERE - Lt
BEZMeBREERTFMER
B IR B o

HZE2019F 20184 12 A31H 1k
FE AEEBVEINE@HME T
EEERFHEEMALMAREH
BRKAEEWRDNZEZME - ZEH
M mENEEREMNS

FuGRESMEAL

rEEZEMEzAMAL  HEe
=Zh(2018%F : ZML) BAARRESR
MEMESERMEI13EE - Aflu®k
mHeAB(BEEE) 2GS
o

2019 2018
HK$000 HK$'000
THET FET
Salaries and other benefits He hEMET] 41,158 41,695
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 3R 4k 18 F| 5T 21 £ 2% 36 18
41,713
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

15.

The emoluments were within the following bands:

2019

No. of
employee
BETAH

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000

1,500,001# 7L E2,000,000/% 7T
2,000,001787%2,500,000/8 7T
2,500,00178 7L %3,000,00078 7T
3,500,001/%7£%4,000,000/8 7T
16,000,001 L E 16,500,000/ 7T

DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTION TO PERPETUAL

CAPITAL SECURITIES

2019
HK$'000
FERT

Dividends recognised as distribution:
Final dividend of HK$0.15 in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2018
(2018: final dividend of HK$0.20 in
respect of the year ended
31 December 2017) per share
Interim dividend of HK$0.13 in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: interim dividend of HK$0.20
in respect of the year ended
31 December 2018) per share

BRBDIRZIRE
HE2018F12A31HIEFEZ R
ARG B EAZ0. 158 7 (20184 ¢
HZE2017F12A31BLEFEZ
RER B EAR0.2077T)
657,000
HE2019F12831BEFEZF
HR B ER%0.13/8 70 (20184
HZE2018F12A31HIEFEZ
P EIRE B B R%0.20% L)
568,577

1,225,577

14. AfuBReME AT 2)
W N ETEHER

2018
No. of
employee
BIAH

15. RE /" KBEEXRFSF 2 DK

2018
HK$'000
TAET

892,153

883,951

1,776,104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M| KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

15.

16.

DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTION TO PERPETUAL
CAPITAL SECURITIES (conTinUED)

A final dividend of HK$0.13 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: final dividend of HK$0.15 per
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In addition, the Company has made a distribution on perpetual
capital securities of HK$64,721,000 (2018: nil) to the securities
holders during the year ended 31 December 2019.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$3,235,605,000 (2018: HK$4,880,206,000) and weighted
average number of 4,375,449,449 (2018: 4,439,977,907)
shares in issue during the year.

No diluted earnings per share in both years was presented as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during
both years.

15.

16.

2

(#)

EFEFREEZE20199F12 A 31
HEFEXRBRESR13EB T
(20184 : H=2018F12A8318 1t
FERPREFROISET) - A
FREEERERE A IE -

KBEARRZF 20K

A - RELE 2019412 A31 A&
B KRR KEEARABHIELE D
k64,721,000 7T (20184 : &) T
BEHEIFBA -

BRER

BRAEFTDAKRRREE AEER
FE AT 3,235,605,000/87C(2018
4 : 4,880,206,000/8 L) NFEARE
TR AD IN#E T 9804,375,449,449
B% (20184 : 4,439,977,907) B
EFH -

P PR E F R Y R TT R 2 B
Bl AT E2SRETR
Rl o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W%  BERRME
Freehold
lands and
owned Furniture,
properties fixtures and Motor
KA¥BE  Computer  equipment  Leasehold vehiclesand Plantand Construction
T#HER system &fih - B improvements yacht  machinery  inprogress Total
BENE ERRG EERRGE AENEEE REREE  BERES ERIR A3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR TEL FET TR TEL T ThEL
cosT KA
At 1 January 2018 20181418 6,666,099 52,341 1,040,500 526,530 139,663 21,928,620 4523973 34,871,726
Exchange realignment ERENAA (278,269) 2.413) (31,971) (21,885) (2,983) (572,437) (38,456) (948 414)
Additions NE 49,705 589 11,185 4723 297 286,504 1,622,646 1,978,323
Transfers BE 603,277 9,481 21,949 24,679 8,616 2,565,948 (3,233,950) —
Transfer toinvestment ~ EEERENE
properties (Note 20) (Fiz20) — — — — — — (52,926) (52,926)
Transfer to prepaid lease SR ZBEFHE
payments TE - - - - — - (5,799) (5,799)
Disposalshwritten off e/ B - - (6,359) 2,078) (15.239) (55,780) - (79,456)
At 31 December 2018 2018F12A318 7,040,812 59,998 1,035,304 531,969 133,028 24,152,855 2,815,488 35,769,454
Exchange realignment EREHAA (103,357) (1,022) (13,089) (9,057) (1,121) (782,213) (29,500) (939,359)
Additions HE 123,695 803 6,910 4728 M 147,960 2,578,496 2,863,333
Transfers ey 358,888 3,709 20,944 9,206 3921 663,346 (1,060,014) —
Transfer to investment BRERENE
properties (Note 20) (Fiz20) — — — — — — (22,534) (22,534)
Transfer to right-of-use ~ #AEFRELE
assets — - — — — — (5,016) (5,016)
Disposalsfwritten off LE /MK (1,798) (639) (2,384) 23) (6,343) (29,810) — (40,997)
At 31 December 2019 2019E12A318 7,418,240 62,849 1,047,685 536,823 130,226 24,152,138 4,276,920 37,624,881
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 January 2018 2018517818 1,791,980 43,719 512,599 263,607 56,115 4,750,851 - 7,418,871
Bichange redlignment~ [E 3§ B3 A (81,031) (996) (19212) (11,375) (1,802) (216368) - (330,784)
Provided for the year FREE 323,556 6,324 21,066 27,431 8,389 880,237 - 1,267,003
Eliminated on disposals/ 1 & /#EE
written off HH — — (5,774 (2,069) (3,407) (18,385) — (29,635)
At 31 December 2018 2018124318 2,034,505 49,047 508,679 277,594 59,295 5,396,335 — 8,325,455
Exchange realignment ERERNAR (36,762) (484) (7,980) (5,054) (745) (99,734) — (150,759)
Provided for the year FREE 329,795 5427 20,646 27,071 11,237 898,899 — 1,293,075
Eliminated on disposals/ & /R
written off Eaf] (1,004) (64) (2,219) (7) (5,789) (10,535) — (19,618)
At 31 December 2019 2019124318 2,326,534 53,926 519,126 299,604 63,998 6,184,965 — 9,448,153
CARRYING VALUE EHE
At 31 December 2019 2019F12A318 5,091,706 8923 528,559 237,219 66,228 17,967,173 4,276,920 28,176,728
At 31 December 2018 2018%E12A318 5,006,307 10,951 526,625 254,375 73,733 18,756,520 2,815,488 27,443,999
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. % - BERZ®E#)

(CONTINUED)

notes: BT

(i) The above owned properties of the Group represent owned properties on (i) bl ANEE R Y TR B ERAE
land under medium-term lease in the PRC. Bt E2AEME -

(i) ~ Certain owned properties of the Group are erected on land in the PRC (i) SEEBEETHEDERRDAETSE
with respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of EXEAEZRE L E - K2019
ownership. At 31 December 2019, the carrying value of such owned F1I2A3AE  ZEFEVEZER
properties was HK$1,760,103,000 (2018: HK$1,985,043,000). In the & A 1,760,103,000 78 7T (2018 £ :
opinion of directors, the absence of formal title to these owned properties 1,985,043,0008 ) - BER /R
does not impair the value of the relevant owned properties to the Group RERAVMEIAEERITGEES
as the Group has paid substantially the full purchase consideration of EHREFAENXER  ERAEAKEDX
these land use rights and the probability of being evicted on the ground RNABHBEZS LibE AR IRER
of an absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that VAR 5 1E 3 9 75 1 9 3% | 1 U 81+ 3 &
formal title of these owned properties will be granted to the Group in due e RMTEM ERNEEETAH
course. REESERTAEREWEZERAE

BiE o

(i) As disclosed in note 44, certain portions of the owned properties have (i) wWAKTFE44FT - HAEWEETETHD
been leased to a related party. These owned properties were not ERTF-—BEAL - AR EERSUT
reclassified as investment properties as the leased portions are BB ZEREMEALRDERKEY
insignificant. E

(iv)  Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and (iv) BRERBIBRMKAZRELMWIN W% -
equipment other than freehold lands and construction in progress over W= M i Rt R AR RISREER
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated RTEET AT A LA B AR0A SHIR I B LA
residual values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per SHRAS - FEMNT -
annum:

Owned properties 20 to 50 years BEME 20&50%F
Computer system 10% BB 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% BAAL -~ BEERE R&HE 20%
Leasehold improvements 5% - 15% HEMEEE 5%-15%
Motor vehicles and yacht 5% —20% VAT KR 5%-20%
Plant and machinery 3% - 20% B Bt 23 3'5%-20%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

18.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January 2019 A2019F181H

Carrying amount REE

As at 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31H

Carrying amount BREE

For the year ended B ZE2019%12A31H
31 December 2019 LHEE

Depreciation charge mEER

Expense relating to short-term %2 8970 & & 7 AR 9144
leases and other leases with & & B B 15 7R 5 2 )

lease terms end within 12 F165 HE12 AR
months of the date of initial TR EMmBEE Y
application of HKFRS 16 HEER

Total cash outflows for leases FMEZR&HmEAET

Additions to right-of-use assets {§ F #& & 2= 15 N

18. EREEE

Leasehold Land and
ET buildings Total
HELT i T RIEF a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET

958,754 10,465 969,219

985,503 1,040,495

13,220

62,426

108,095
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 HIFF/Z

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conminuED) 18. EREEE#)

For both years, the Group entered into leases for certain of its
staff quarters and office premises. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 year to 19 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the

period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests. The leasehold land components of these owned
properties are presented separately only if the payments made
can be allocated reliably.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying
amount of HK$13,347,000 (2018: HK$56,172,000) in which

the Group is in the process of obtaining.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters. As at 31 December 2019, the portfolio of these
outstanding short-term leases is similar to the portfolio during
the year ended 31 December 2019 with the corresponding
short-term lease expense disclosed in note 12.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$51,002,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$108,095,000 as at 31
December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

RREFE  AEBERETFELIR
ERMAEYETLEE - HES
AEERI1FE19FE]Z - HE
MER T BB H R - B ERE
BT ER R R G - REEEE
R E AR EGHERR F AR - A&
EEAGHCERREEAIES
#7 HAR -

goN s AEBHEAEBEETELE
REMEZIERBTFRERLE
F e AEENFYEED (BIEE
MEELH) 2ERFAA - BAL
EMERDFEL —RERNR -
EBEMRMXNRIARMA S A
B UERAENXZHEHELHWED
FEBILIR -

TEBEMEMEHRE L2
T ERET  BRTEEEAR
13,347,000 & 7t ( 2018 &
56,172,000 L) v & T AN &
EEAEREEGEF °

AEBERBEIBE T L EBA
- R2019F12A318  WERT
HEREHERE T UM 12T E
HZE2019F12A31HIEFERES
HMEEBR2HEE -

AN - FA2019%12 8318 » E{FEMH
& FE108,095,0008 c 82
EA{E51,002,0008 CEHER -
BRERERIN HEBELER
LA AFE 2 HEE E eI 7 2
o MEBETIRERE ZHEIT
R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

19.

20.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 19. EHERE
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land AEEENHEERECETRHREE
held under medium-term leases located in: IE—FZ?EE:HTMLLB’Q\ :
2018
HK$'000
FAT
The PRC H 908,880
Vietnam gl 49,874
958,754
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BEREMEIIN -
Non-current asset EMEEE 937,107
Current asset mENE E 21,647
958,754
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CREYE

The Group leases out commercial and industrial properties
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 10 years, with unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain annual lease

payment that are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and lessee’s

option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

AEERBREHEHELEBERT

EVE HEeSAREN HEAR
NI FMH/IE105F - AEAETE

ERLTEREEPHRFEHIN - KEB
PHEAHNEHENETFERE
B

AREBEEHEE ZHA BEAZINE R
B AMAEEENREEERARH
DeEERE HEAHNAERS
TR BERE MABEARERTE
AR ZIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTiINUED) 20. REWE (&)
HK$'000
FHT
cosT R
At 1 January 2018 R2018%F181H 598,054
Transfer from property, plant and equipment  EHE S W - BE K& E
(note 17) (PfFEE17) 52,926
Additions NE 4,355
Exchange realignment [EREHEE (26,215)
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12H31H 629,120
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ~ HEE B Y% - KE R BE
(note 17) (fIzE17) 22,534
Additions NE 2,285
Exchange realignment fELEHEE (10,957)
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 642,982
DEPRECIATION weE
At 1 January 2018 R2018%F1H1H 16,452
Provided for the year FNEE 22,314
Exchange realignment fEH BEMAEE (1,649)
At 31 December 2018 M2018%12H31H 37,117
Provided for the year F RS 22,576
Exchange realignment R EMAEE (1,047)
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H 58,646
CARRYING VALUE BREIE
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 584,336
At 31 December 2018 M2018%F12A31H 592,003
During the year ended 31 December 2019, certain property, REZ2019F12A31BIEFE -
plant and equipment situated in PRC with carrying amounts of HREEBECHNEMERE BE
HK$22,534,000 (2018: HK$52,926,000) was transferred to B A %022,534,0008 7T (2018 :
investment properties as the management had changed the use 52,926,000 L) 2 & TAL R H

of the properties.

ZOE BEMRBECERIRE
E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

20.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED)

The fair value of the Group’s commercial properties at 31
December 2019 was HK$138,999,000 (31 December 2018:
HK$142,298,000). The fair value of the commercial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE S
MEME L EETEBRAT (2018 EERMFIFEME T
BEFEAMR AT, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the market
comparable approach, with reference to recent market prices
for similar properties in similar locations and conditions, where
appropriate.

The fair value of the Group’s industrial properties at 31
December 2019 was HK$488,336,000 (31 December 2018:
HK$475,926,000). The fair value of the industrial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE &S
MEME T EETEBRAT (2018 EERMFIFEME T
BEFEAMRAT), an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the income
capitalisation approach by reference to the market rentals of all
lettable properties and capitalisation rate observed by the
valuer for the similar properties in the locality and adjusted
based on the valuer's knowledge of the factors specific to the
respective properties.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

20. REWE (&)

REBHBEEDMENR2019F12 A
31827278 A138,999,0007% 7T
(2018412 A31H : 142,298,000
BIT) c MEMEZ AR BRBER
EEEHUECBUAEAREEME
MEEMMNEHE THWEEFGS
PRAGE(20184F : EERFIE H E
THEEFGHEBRAR)  EWHL
RESZHEEMERNLUME R
AROR (B ) 2L AT 35 B S 1E
ZIHERE -

REBHIEMENR2019F12 A
318 22 % {8 %A488,336,0007% 7T
(2018412 A31H : 475,926,000
BIT) c TEWMEZ AR BREBER
EEEHUECBUAEAREEME
MEEMMNEHE THEEFGS
PRAGE (20184 : EERFIE Hh E
THEEFHEBRAR) - REE
SEWEREWEmMBILEDE
WmisHe REBEMB2EMMNE
MR W RBHEMEEENELR
BIERNEBEELFABRBIELNM
BESE -

RIEFHRENRZAAER - B
MEZESRBEEREREB A
;@ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

20. REWE (&)

M20194 K% 2018412 A31H » K
EEREVEFBRARBERZ
BEEREMNT

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED)

Details of the Group's investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

Fair value Valuation Relationship of unobservable
Category hierarchy Fair value Carrying value Technique Key unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
<)) DRERE DE REE HERR IRTTRRMEKE FUBRREUN LB BE
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAR TAL TR TAL

Commercial ~ Level 3 138,999 142,298 138,764 141,116 Market comparable ~ Transaction prices for similar ~ An increase/decrease in the

properties 3% approach properties after accounting for market transaction prices for
mENE TR EA floor areas and floor level - similar properties would result
Renminbi ("RMB") 71,744 per in an increase/decrease in fair

square meter value and vice versa.
AENEEHREEREREE  FEVETSRHERLN/ A
LXBR-FIRARY LEERS AR ELN/

(TARE T, 7447 R RZ A

Industrial Level 3 488,336 475,926 450,887 Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate of 3% to 5% The fair values of the Group's

properties 34
Ix0%

approach

L6z

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

AAMEER3%ES%

Average monthly rent of RMB5.25
per square meter per month

FHARABAGTIX
ARHS5.257

industrial properties are inversely
related to capitalisation rates
which were determined by
prevailing market transactions,
conditions and expectations.

REBTIENERAEREAL
BRI - BR(CRBIER
REATSERS  RARE
,Hﬂ

In addition, increase in fair value
of industrial properties is also
attributable to the increase in
market rental during the year.

A - TEMERAEROEMT
FRNFRTISESOEN

FRALELAEBAKBHEIR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

& RIS AR R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

20. 20.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED)

All of the Group's investment properties are located in the PRC.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 20-50 years

21. 21.

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

LAND USE RIGHTS

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment are disclosed

in note 40.

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

BREW=R#)
REEHERENESA

o

Rk
IS ST ES T L
B ERMT

=

¥

20Z=504F
BEVE BERRERL
hEREMTET =

FINFATERAKEATHEERE
MEENME  BMEMRERLH
ERENE -BEDE BER
REHBREATER M 40 E -

PANY.
=

Cost of an unlisted investment in joint A& & MNE
venture R ETHREKAR
Exchange realignment &R EHMAEE

Share of profit and other comprehensive F&1& & 7 & E #b,
2 E K

income

/m\%,\m(ﬁﬂ?\fii)

— I

Loan to a joint venture (note ii)

H

— current

— non-current

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET

55,792

98,343

159,999 154,135
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continuED) 22. EELERER(#)

notes: Bt 5

(i) Details of the Group’s joint venture and its subsidiary at the end of the (i) RRERRNEE 2L 0ERENE
reporting periods are as follows: NCIES I
Name of joint venture Place of
and its subsidiary incorporation and Proportion of issued and fully
BRELER Form of entity operations paid up capital held by the Group Principal activity
EWEARER BEES RIREELY REESECRTRARRALE TEEH

Directly Indirectly
¢4 B GE:3 583

Joint venture:

REdE:

Southern Hill Company Limited Limited incorporated ~ Hong Kong —  Investment holding
HEBERAT ERARML 30 RER

Its wholly-owned subsidiary:

H2ERERERR:

REEXMRARAR Limited incorporated  The PRC 50 Provision of port facilties
(Ruichang Lee & Man BBRAFNL b RtEORIE
Logistics Company Limited)

(ii) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of (ii) % A& A K% 55,491,00070 (FHE R
repayment and provided to a joint venture in the form of a shareholder’s #61,656,0007%8 7T ) Jh & [E F F F F
loan and forms part of the net investment in the joint venture, except for 3.8% M B RAEMR2020F 12 A31HER
an amount of RMB55,491,000 (equivalent to approximately SN BERDEER REREETE
HK$61,656,000) which carries interest at the fixed rate of 3.8% per WE S WUARRERFERNIREEKAEE
annum, and is repayable on 31 December 2020. BOEFREN—FD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

S
S

23. INVENTORIES 23. 7

\
J

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Raw materials R 2,743,664 3,610,014
Finished goods BAK @ 827,411 1,276,332

3,571,075 4,886,346

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. BWE Z RHEMIRR

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Trade receivables U E 5 BRI 3,067,681 3,143,965
Less: allowance for credit losses o EEEERE (135,924) (84,973)

2,931,757 3,058,992
Bills receivables rEUwEE 722,502 1,093,681

3,654,259 4,152,673

Prepayments and deposits for purchase & & R £ 8 (- 5018
of raw materials kil & 696,219 551,886
Other deposits and prepayments HibzT® MFEf 708 268,576 193,939
Value-added tax receivables FE W 32 (8 I8 457,045 595,667
Other receivables JiE WOEL At BR SR 279,899 462,814

5,355,998 5,956,979

As at 1 January 2018, trade receivables from contracts with MR2018F1 818 KEEFAHH
customers amounted to HK$3,113,488,000. FEULE 5 BE 2% 5 3,113,488,000 i
T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueD)

notes:

(U]

(iif)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date.

24. EREZ R HMERK (2)

LR
0)

AEBERERETAHELA - SFEZ
BEEZEFPNEELEERAETEEFEER
- EREEHERTEELERIMN
BEF  BEPEERBEEHMTURY - K
KRERTEFPNTHEERRISHE
90H - LT RZEERAMEINZ BEKE
ZREBRRNREDT

Aged: BRER -
Not exceeding 30 days TiBiE30H
31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
91-120 days 91-120H
Over 120 days 1208 &£

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$38,622,000 (2018: HK$44,592,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$33,697,000 (2018:
HK$17,667,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default as the Group considered such balances could be recovered
based on repayment history, the financial conditions and the current
credit worthiness of each customers. Other than bills received, the Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

As at 31 December 2019, the trade receivables of an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$920,526,000 (2018: HK$733,280,000) was secured by
customers’ property interests and machinery being held as collateral.

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

(ii)

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

FEx FIT

3,579,848 3,355,730

35,789 683,939

4,925 74,183

15,811 21,103

17,886 17,718

3,654,259 4,152,673
MW2019F 12 A31H » A& EE

KB ZEREHRTREEREA
£ 38,622,000 & st ( 2018 &F
44,592,000 7T ) 2 FEW B P BR R
REMAREEEH - CZOHERE
F o A 233,697,0008 7T (20184 :
17,667,000/ 7T ) B HI90 R 5 A | &
KERBEDN  BAEEREET—FP
ZRAERGEE  MBERRREITESR
MR RABMELESHRA FLAME - RE
WEEN - REBWARESESRIHE
R CIE:R

M2019F 12 A31H » FEEAS X
920,526,000 7T (20184 : 733,280,000
BILIZERBESER  HEBPZWE
s R AR R R E AR -

WIAEBEE BRI EEBTENE

HK$
us$

BT
e

WE S REMBRNOT -
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
45,608 73,729
58,703 75,083

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 38(ii).

(iii)

A B 5 & E M BRI 2 B E AT (A A
B FE38() ©

BXERAR AR 2019 F3R]

217
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

25.

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group’s financial assets as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 that were transferred to banks by
discounting/endorsing these receivables on a full recourse basis.
As the Group has not transferred the significant risks and
rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise
the full carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised
the cash received on the transfer as a collateralised borrowing.
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position.

25. cHMEEEE

AR BAREERK2019F %2018
F12A3MVB U2 B ERERA R
B/ BEEETRITZEHEE -
R 7N &R B30 K % I 55 FE URAR SR AR
BZBREDRARKERER - i
HEBHERBERERZ2E2HER
B THEEMRIRRSERAE
HEH HESREERAEEZ
A ISR RIABE K AT o

Bills receivables
discounted to
banks with full recourse

RITHEREZ
FEWREIERER
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount of transferred assets EEEENRASHE 461,824 338,354
Carrying amount of transferred liabilities 3% & (FH) IR & 28 (461,824) (338,354)
Net position FEEAR M —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

R B IS AR MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED

COMPANIES

Amounts due from related companies disclosed pursuant to

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap 622G are as

follows:

Name of related company

BEAFEHE

Balance at

31 December
2019
120194
128318 &8
HK$'000
FHT

Terms

3%

Lee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing Limited
(“LMIML") (note a)

BNESARAR(EXEL])
GET))

Lee & Man Chemical
Company Limited and its
Subsidiaries ("LMC Group”)
BXCIARARREMBATF
([EBXtI&E])

On Wah Environmental
Protection Technology
Company Limited ("On Wah")
(note b)
ZERRMBRBEBRRA(Z
CiE)

£))

Unsecured and
non-interest

bearing

BERRRE

Unsecured and
non-interest
bearing

BERRER

Unsecured and
non-interest

bearing

BEARRRE

100,114

120,749

26. BW()BEQTFRE

RIEFER
PR FE M R

ARG HIEE622GF AT
NAFIAEAT -

Balance at Maximum amount

1 January outstanding during the year

2019 FRRIEEEHE
R2019%F
TR1B &8 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TEx T

10,684

100,114
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e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 26. BW({T)BEE R RFKIA(4)

COMPANIES (conTinuED)

The amounts due from related companies represent trade FEWEERNRREBEEYIEXE

balance due from LMIML and LMC Group. The amounts are MEXICIEENE SR - 2%

unsecured, interest-free with credit period of 45 days and are BREDEER 28 WEEEH

aged less than 45 days. 458 K iRE D458 -

notes: BT

(@ The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King Wai () EDARFRBREZERRB MAKRR
Ross, who is also a daughter of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the RATERRFTERB L2 LZMERE
substantive shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li King Wai Ross is a BH -  TEEREBARRES -

director of the Company.

(b)  The company is indirectly controlled by Ms. Lee Man Ching, a sister of Dr. (b) HRARAARAEZEXEBLREX
Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, the directors of the XS A 2 BRIk MR AR 2SS i R R
Company. il

The amounts due from related companies that are I?EU@@F%% EREEKE

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency B RE W B N Rl SRIEE S0

of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2019 2018

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Amounts due from related companies & Y B 8 A B I8

- HK$ — BT 1,567
The amounts due to related companies represent trade balance ENBEEARFBNENEX(ET
due to LMC Group. LMC Group is beneficially owned and SENESESR  EX(IE
controlled by Mr. Lee Man Yan, an associate of Dr. Lee Man AAARESENEE LT RE R
Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, the directors of the EEZHBBAIEZEXRALEEDH
Company. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, with BREY ZEFEBEHEKE R
average credit period of 30 days and are aged less than 30 B FHEEH308 RERDI30

days. =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. fTHEERMI A

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$°000
FEx TR

Derivative financial liabilities TELHMERS
- net settlement —FERW

Foreign currency forward contracts SNECRERE 49
(note) (M%)

3,543

note:
Foreign currency forward contracts

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at 31
December 2019 are as follows:

Notional amount

LN

B EE
SIEEHER

MR2019F 12 A3V BAREIINERBEN 2 £
ZRFINT ¢

Currency conversion

aEEn

2 contracts to buy USD1,868,000 in total
217 A4 E1,868,000% T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at 31
December 2018 are as follows:

Notional amount

M2eH

USD 1 to HK$7.7869-7.7894
13670 54,7.78698 71-7.7894 78 7T

H2018F 12 A3 MHAREIIERBENZE

RIGEFAT -

Currency conversion

BEin

4 contracts to buy EUR18,396,000 in total
45 & 415 18,396,0008 7T

The above contracts will mature within twelve months (2018: twelve months)
after the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were calculated using
discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable forward foreign exchange
rates.

EUR1 to HK$9.1380-9.2866
18T 3£9.1380-9.286675 7T

LM EKERREBRREZ12(E A (20184 : 12
BA)NEE -

bBafiEeRTAZ AR ETREEBERI
BEXSWZARBASRETH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 28. MITHEHBRRE
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and BTERERE2BEASEEFAED
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three BRe MR A F3ME A S AN E
months or less. HRITER -
Bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies WHNEHRERERBIGEEKAE
other than the functional currency of the relevant group RIRTTREB R SHIIMT ¢

entities are set out below:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&T FABT

HK$ BT 20,071 25,350

us$ M 1,578,729 353,337

Euro (“EUR") &t ([ BT ) 192 25,869
29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 29. ENESZ K HEMERRK

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Trade and bills payables ENE S REBEER 1,387,515 1,935,034

Construction fee payable R T2 554,603 616,327

Accruals EEER 605,361 745,179

Other payables H A 5R0B 285,149 374,396

2,832,628 3,670,936
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

sz Eh e
29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTiNUED) 29. ENESZREMBRR &)
notes: Bt 5
(i) The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to (i) BHHE 2 FHRKEHH30E1200 1T
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables . TRARBERRRERAH 2R
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. NBHRBBRRZERIN -
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FAET
Aged: BREC
Not exceeding 30 days @308 759,184 776,731
31-60 days 31-60H 189,914 448,024
61-90 days 61-90H 243,733 396,863
91-120 days 91-120H 123,059 287,573
Over 120 days 12084 £ 71,625 25,843
1,387,515 1,935,034
(i) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (i) WINEREETRENEERENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: NEHRHMEZRNT :
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
HK$ BT 1,367 466
EUR BT 27,677 230,832
us$ T 547,889 1,300,535
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HE&SE

31 December
2019
20194
12A31H
HK$'000
FHET

Lease Liabilities payable: ERBEEEE

Within one year —F R

Within a period of more than one year but not  #838— 18 A M 4E 2 HARS
more than two years

Within a period of more than two years but not #8388 A A T 4E 2 HA RS
more than five years

Within a period of more than five years 838 1 F 2 HAA

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months & : 1218 A NEEE 2

shown under current liabilities SRR REEEYR
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 122@A%EESEZ
shown under non-current liabilities CHERIERBEEIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. ENEE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Receipts in advance from customers KB EP 2 KK 81,395 96,107
Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance from customers EHBEBERERPHARTHED
for unsatisfied performance obligations and are recognised as EFEKZ  TEAEBRTKS
revenue when the Group performs its obligations under the HHBEHNETRERABRA - ES
contracts. At contract inception, performance obligation is NEBE  BHEETEHE —FRK
expected to be satisfied within one year. SEAK ©
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRIWRAARAEEZIWAERS -
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward BEZVEANEBBELEEREZVE
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance BEREE TR ZBOEE -

obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TR

Revenue recognised that was included B4 4B EE )
in the contract liability balance at the 4548 2 W AFER
beginning of the year 92,025 128,260
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

BRI T (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

32. BANK BORROWINGS 32. RITEE
The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, AEBZERTEE(2HHAEIR
comprised: )B%E
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Bank loans RITERK 12,162,312 13,395,908
Bank import loans RITHEOER 173,235 394,587
12,335,547 13,790,495
The bank borrowings are repayable as follows: $R1T{& & 8B HRHMT
Within one year —FER 4,874,429 5,825,466
More than one year, but not exceeding BR—FELRAME
two years 1,389,486 3,979,408
More than two years, but not exceeding BEMFELARAESF
five years 6,071,632 3,985,621
12,335,547 13,790,495
Less: Amount due within one year shown B YR AREBER
under current liabilities —FRNE| EFE (4,874,429) (5,825,466)
Amount due after one year —F & EHHIE 7,461,118 7,965,029
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

32. BANK BORROWINGS (conminueD)

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

32. RITEE &)

Fixed-rate borrowings

Variable-rate borrowings

m
\
/

4 A
i

i
i

AREEERBHAT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TR
316,891 —
PAOENLTAN 13,790,495
WPREELLTYAN 13,790,495

notes:

U]

(ii)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's variable-rate borrowings carry
variable interest rates ranging from Hong Kong Interbanks Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus 0.80% to HIBOR plus 1.35% (2018: ranging from HIBOR
0.90% to HIBOR 1.40%).

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank
borrowings are as follows:

MiEE
()

Variable-rate borrowings FEEE

HK$3,770,485,000 (2018: HK$5,206,987,000) in bank borrowings of
HK$4,874,429,000 (2018: HK$5,825,466,000) which are repayable
within one year contain repayable on demand clauses.

(if)

MR2019%12A318 » AEEZEEE
FEXHEBRITREFRE([FEBR
TRIZEHRE])I0.80%ZE1.35%(2018
F:BEBRITAZHFREM00% 2
1.40%) °

A ERIT S B 2 W FIE AT
mF -

2019 2018

ERLY 3.34%

— &~ 5| 89 48 17 {& B 4,874,429,000
7L (20184 : 5,825,466,00078 7T )
&+ 3,770,485,00078 7T (20184 :
5,206,987,000 L) S EEKER Z

L34
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 HIFF/Z

33.

228

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 33.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
and movement thereon during the current and prior year:

ELEBIERE

THRATESHRRELEHER R
AEER FFEEZ R -

Undistributed

earnings

Accelerated ofthe PRC

tax subsidiaries

depreciation HR [ Ff
IR B DTz Total
TE KOBRER &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiBT FHET FHET
At 1 January 2018 2018118 1,015,037 266,971 1,282,008
Charge to profit or loss FFAEZ 107,263 101,114 208,377
Exchange differences EH =% (46,015) — (46,015)
At 31 December 2018 R2018412H31H 1,076,285 368,085 1,444,370
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 5+ A (£ A )82 109,675 (102,315) 7,360
Exchange differences PE 7 =58 (897) (5,922) (6,819)
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H 1,185,063 259,848 1,444,911

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$212,000,000 (2018: HK$197,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such losses for both years
due to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 31
December 2019, tax losses of approximately HK$37,000,000
(2018: HK$37,000,000) attributable to the PRC subsidiaries,
approximately HK$84,000,000 (2018: HK$84,000,000)
attributable to the Vietnam subsidiaries will expire at various
dates up to and including 2022 (2018: 2022) and
approximately HK$61,000,000 (2018: HK$51,000,000)
attributable to the Malaysia subsidiaries will expire at various
dates up to and including 2026. The remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$30,000,000 (2018: HK$25,000,000)
attributable to the Hong Kong subsidiaries may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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MN2019F12A31H » KEBH K
BHEAEEINARATN Z2FHE
&5 18 49 /212,000,000 7T (2018
£ : 197,000,000 7T ) » B &
ETREARRAF KRR - METFE
VTARZEFGIEBERARLEHEE
B o 2019%F12A31H - BHHEE
18 #7 37,000,000 & jT ( 2018 £ :
37,000,000/ 70 ) 2R B B 8
B & #984,000,000% JT (20184 :
84,000,000/ L) REBEMHEB L
A BREZWEFE2022F (2018
F:2022F) 2% @R A HE
i » % #761,000,0008 T (2018
% :51,000,000/870) %k 8 FRA
THBARIZHMBERBEREZN
BIE2026F 2 Z AR B EREIHR -
N Z BRI EE 430,000,000 7T
(20184 : 25,000,000/87T) KB E
BB AR - B ER AR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 Z Z2019%F 12431 H 1L F/Z

33.

34.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (conTinuep)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to
retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$7,023
million (2018: HK$7,023 million) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes monthly the lower of
HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution payable on the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$87,022,000 (2018: HK$82,120,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes. As at 31 December 2019,
contributions of HK$77,225 (2018: HK$58,340) due in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2019 had not been paid to the
plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the end of the
reporting period.

34.

EEREEE#E)

BIEFRBEMERSHE - 52008
F1AVAREF KB QB HRIRN
AFE RS MEBIAN - K
BARBHFERFEH£7023E BT
(20184 : 7023 B L) EBH2E
RNERTERNGREUBRERTRE
ERTE AAEBE ARG T ES
Cl AR N ERNEZEA TR
RERK KR -

REBEEBRERMBAEREER
Y—HBEEEE - BEEEE
MEERASENEESHRTSE -
NEBEAERABENES - AK
121,500 T A B A HFRAN
5% @ UBIEE B%E - mgiEL 2l
WK EHEBZ MR-

AEEH RS ENE—TEIHN
EERRFEEFELATERMAER -

TENEARREANEESZ2 D
BB 2 im0 B R B R K AR A
el - FENEARERERT S
METADL - FRKENE S
FOAERBEHZA - REEHIRK
wAGE R ME-BEERRIELIEE

K

REZEP R 28 1187,022,000
BT (20184 : 82,120,000870) A
REBIZFTERTE 2 BT L EFHZ
ZEtEl 2 B o 7201912 A
318 » EZE2019F12A318 1
FEWMARMNETEIMFKT7,225% T
(2018%F : 58,340/87L) ° % FHA
MG REESZ -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. RA<
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EBRYE &5
Note HK$'000
it TER
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 2018 1H1H »
at 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 2018F12A318 Rk
and 31 December 2019 2019%12A31H
BFH%0.0258 LAY @A 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2018%F 118
at 1 January 2018 FR0.0258 LR L BK 4,505,404,000 112,635
Share repurchased and cancelled B BBl Rt 88 (i) (116,496,000) (2,912)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2018%F12A31H
at 31 December 2018 FR0.0258THEBR 4,388,908,000 109,723
Share repurchased and cancelled AR &5 (i) (22,100,000) (553)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each #2019 12A318
at 31 December 2019 FAR0.0258 LA & B 4,366,808,000 109,170
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RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

35. SHARE CAPITAL (conminuED)

Note:
@)

The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as

35. A (&)

G
() ARARBRABEEFZBRADT :

follows:

2019 20194
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRI ER expenses)
Month of #5R0.0258 T Highest Lowest AHERKRE
repurchases e A5 2EBR BE RIE (EE"E)
HK$ HK$ HK$°000
BT BT FET
January 2019 20194 1A 6,270,000 40,790
August 2019 201948 A 12,169,000 49,631
October 2019 2019108 1,023,000 4,212
19,462,000 94,633

2018 20185
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRI ER expenses)
Fh20.0258 T Highest Lowest AHERNRE
Month of repurchases  #&6] A {5 2 EBR && HIE (EFE)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT B IT FET
January 2018 20184 1R 5,404,000 9.21 8.96 49,149
March 2018 201843 A 39,236,000 9.00 8.21 344,724
June 2018 201846 A 32,764,000 8.90 7.83 273,321
August 2018 201848 A 16,209,000 8.18 7.02 124,020
September 2018 2018494 4,163,000 7.19 7.07 29,901
October 2018 20184 10A4 14,059,000 7.14 6.61 97,716
December 2018 2018412 A 7,299,000 6.57 6.34 47,498
119,134,000 966,329

Out of 119,134,000 ordinary shares repurchased during 2018,
116,496,000 shares were cancelled during the year ended 31 December

2018 while the remaining 2,638,000 ordinary shares were cancelled in

January 2019.

NEZE20185F 12 A31 B IEEE
119,134,000 R E R E @R &+ -
116,496,000 8% i (0 B 7 F R EE8H -
& T~ 22,638,000 i% & i@ B BE 1% £
201941 A FEeH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 Z Z2019%F 12431 H 1L F/Z

36.

37.

232

PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

On 29 May 2019, the Company (the “Issuer”) issued USD300
million perpetual capital securities at an issue price of 100 per
cent which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Distribution is
payable semi-annually in arrears based on a fixed rate of 5.5
per cent per annum. Distribution by the Issuer may be deferred
at its sole discretion. These perpetual capital securities have no
fixed maturity and are redeemable in whole, but not in part, at
the Issuer’s option on 29 May 2024, or any distribution
payment date falling thereafter at their principal amounts
together with any accrued, unpaid or deferred distributions.
While any distributions are unpaid or deferred, the Company
will not declare, pay dividends or make distributions or similar
periodic payments in respect of, or repurchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire any securities of lower rank.

Distribution to holders of perpetual capital securities may be
deferred at the Group’s discretion and in which event, the
Company and the Issuer will not declare/pay any dividends or
distributions, redeem, reduce, cancel or buy-back any of the
Company’s and/or the Issuer’s share capital.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the bank borrowings, and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
various reserves and perpetual capital securities.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

36.

37.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i)

(ii)

Categories of financial instruments

38. €m T A

(i)

Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHEKAINEREE
Financial liabilities EHMER

Fair value through profit or loss —
derivative financial instruments

L F TN

Amortised cost

mRRER AR -
TEERTA

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include loan to a
joint venture, trade and other receivables, bills receivables
discounted with recourse, amounts due from (to) related
companies, derivative financial instruments, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, advances
drawn on bills receivable discounted with recourse and
bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

(i)

EHMIAEER
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT
7,596,192 7,128,921
E] 3,543
ZLELNE 17,066,283

SRR EEE N RBE

AEENEZESHTIABEA
ELEER  BKRES KEA
BRAR - BT3B =M 2 PR R PR AL
]/ ER () BEEARRE -
PTESMIT A - RITEHER
& ENEBESHREMBER - M
BREZEREERRBMNR
RIBITHEE - SR T AMFS
RABRAMERE - HZEER
TEBBAMNERRIETISERR
(B RER - FXRR KRR
ERRER)  EERB KRR
B R o & MZERR
WEREHIA T - EREE
BREZEZERR - ABRE
R A B IR B E H 18 i o
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e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(a)  Currency risk
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitors other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of
hedging instruments when the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group's significant
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding
intercompany balances and derivative financial
instruments, that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities at the reporting dates are as follows:

Monetary assets (note):

38. T B (%)

(i)

HK$ BT
Us$ ETT
EUR LT
Monetary liabilities (note):

HK$ BT
us$ ETT
EUR BT

note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of
which the exchange exposure is not significant.

PSR EEE N RBE

(&

5 R

(a) EH&E=RE
REBTFENERS %
7N 5= [ 8 A S HNES [ R
oM mHERK - BT
FRAKINE R - AEE R
ETFERINERZ FETLHN
MRHAR - ERESR
PEERHEMINE R - W
EENVERERETT
A o

REBERHE B I IEAE
AEEERY S E
ZIBEBEENREEKRA
BB EREITE
TR TARIN WREE
LN

B E () -

2019 2018
HK$"000 HK$°000
TEx TR
65,680 100,647

1,637,718 428,420
192 25,869

E¥aE(ME)

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAET
1,367 466

721,321 1,301,297
27,677 233,878

Mis: LB EARER
ERDESEBREL/ B
BT ETERE |
RBTTERETTHE - Et
I 48 & RO SRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 38. E@T A (&)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREBEEEIRBEEK
policies (Continued) (&)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) EMEpR(4E)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in N - AINEEEHE 2 ED
foreign currencies are as follows: RNEEREHRINT -

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Assets BE
us$ X 349,671 445,639
HK$ BT 316,729 221,007
RMB AR — 335,593
EUR BT 51,237 67,148
Liabilities =R
us$ e 377,220 777,962
HK$ BT 552,686 654,449
RMB AR 5,340,356 1,391,529
EUR BX T 51,237 67,148
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of AEEFEZEERTHE
EUR against HK$, and HK$ and US$ against RMB. T MBTRETHEAR

BREBTE -

EGERER AT 2019 £ 235
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e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

38. T B (%)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) B¥ERESEBENREE
policies (Continued) (&)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) EMEpR(4E)

The following tables detail the Group'’s sensitivity to
a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2018: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. On
this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit and equity where the functional
currency of the relevant group entities strengthens

against the foreign currencies by 5%, and vice

TR AN SR B A
HEBIERT - HEE
EERB o EKLHE
HEINE EFARTRES%
(20184 : 5% ) B B
f& °5% (20184 : 5%)
BERNRETEERABE
e SN ES B BRF B A A UK
ELE - REEERING
ERMAIEREEBIED
RS - HRESTRE
FEUINETHEM RERNE
BIgE (BENINEEE
ZABABAEK) - R
FRABREBRE - Dk
HNEETE RENS5% BB - £
IEET - EEEEE
B2 EEHINEAE
5% + Tt B &=
#EnmA  RZIRA o

versa.
(Decrease) increase Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit in equity
BREER D) & 8 Or 2)
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET THRT FET
HK$ BT (6,736) 14,418
us$ e (43,703) ()
RMB AR 4,085 222,960
EUR BX T 1,167 (7)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep) 38. R I HE(#)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) B¥ERESEBENREE
policies (Continued) (&)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) EMEpR(4E)
All foreign currency forward contracts in note 27 A E27 2 B INE

EHA XN TIEREITHE
T EFH(2018%  BATTH

are to hedge the rise of USD against HK$ (2018:
the rise of EUR against HK$).

BT EF) -
The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to TRF AR EE L INE T
a 5% (2018: 5%) strengthening or weakening on BERZES5% (20184 :

59% ) 1 BB + I
FiE LB BRI T -

the foreign currencies and all other variables were
held constant.

2019 2018

Strengthening
by 5% leading
to increase in

Weakening
by 5% leading
to decrease in

Strengthening
by 5% leading
to increase in

Weakening
by 5% leading
to decrease in

post-tax profit  post-tax profit post-tax profit post-tax profit

FES%EH BES%EH FHE5%EEH B21E5% 85

RARREN BEEFES EEEEl=yi. e e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER THT THL

usb e 725 725 — —
EUR BT — — 8,267 8,267
8,267 8,267
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from

bank balances are insignificant.

The Group's fair value and cash flow interest risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. The Group has not entered into any
interest rate hedging contracts, but considers that
the interest rate of bank borrowings is relatively
stable and so no interest rate swap was used to
hedge the exposure to interest rate risk in current
year. The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant

interest rate exposure should the need arise.

38. T B (%)

(ii)

BREREERNRBEE
(&)

EE1EAC P

(b)

& E R
REERITHERIIES -
HRBITHISH XK -
RITHEBAR RS RER
K o AT - AEER
RZIRITHEBR IR
By - BYEIRITA ARSI
MERBHRBSREN X
BB RE -

AEBEZRARERRER
ENREREZDRIEE

BMIREEAM - A&
RS RvARS OS2 ped
B4 ERBRITEED
FERIBEIBTE - PIAEAR
FEARA AN i B
xR - BEEEET
XEBiEEREARRS
ZEHMEANNHN R

G o
ZON
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of
HK$12,018,656,000 (2018: HK$13,790,495,000),
if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2019 after taking into account the
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the
capitalisation rate ranging from 3.20% to 3.30%
(2018: 2.43% to 3.10%) would decrease/increase
by HK$35,862,000 (2018: decrease/increase by
HK$44,495,000).

38. TR T R (%)

(ii)

BXERAR AR 2019 F3R]

BREREERNRBEE

(%)

EE1EAC P

(b)

FEEE ()
FRED

TS REDTRER
BEMARFEITET AN
KEBEE © BhFERT
fEE  E%EEELIH
BRI RS DR
RNBEHRANENAE
REFH/RENTHK
B¢ o F 38 hn sk R 4 50
HEHSHARTIEEEA
£ T8 ¥ M 2 2 e 55 2R R A
BRELLE - REEER
MR FIER BEE AT
fl o

FL A& #012,018,656,000
% ot (2018 #F
13,790,495,000 & 7T )
ZEBRITEEME -
fid ¥ & £ F T B 50
BB mMABEMEH
20194 12 A31 B IE&F
£ 8 B 18 2 F A 5T KA
EAREF EBH320% %
3.30% (20184 : 2.43%
EZ3.10% ) EZ2ER
ftEEX K% - &R
A/ # f135,862,000 8
L (20184 : j{d /#n
44,495,000/ 7T) °
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model under
application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or
based on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are

banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is
considered minimal.

38. T B (%)

(ii)

BREREERNRBEE
(&)

EERB KR ERT
MR2019F12A31H » A& H
EHF I REBITETMEH
MBEBEENRREERRKE
FEMBARRAREINZED
BREMEENEREE -

AEEREGEERR  AKHE
EEEEZE-HABEER
ER#E FEEHUAREME
22 RERILUREAHE R
RERERETTE) - UbSD - AR H
EEBBEEMBEREERSE9
FREEREEEEEAEE
Y B 5 B KA R b 3 1R TR AR
ETRERG - Bt - BF
REAKEZEERAREAX
B e

HRR BT REEFRRY
ZIRTT BWRBEERITES
MTAZEERRER -

AEEBNEYE ZERBIEA
BEF  BEZETERME
@i o Fih  NREBEEFREE
2 B AR AEK. o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep) 38. R I HE(#)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREERNREE
policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) =5 BORE s ()
In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is BT E féf SEEHNEERR
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to G REFERESESEER L
a joint venture. Because the Group's involvement in the FHREREZERM - AAKRE
management of joint venture, the Group is in a position HE2EAEDPENEIE - K&

to monitor their financial performance and would take

l%)&’iﬁ*i HUYBERRNUE

timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise WA A N 178 A REHR é
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the EkHBIEKERE - Bt
Group’s exposure to the credit risk associated with loan BEREAE @EZA%/—\M/\

to joint venture is low.

EXEFSIENEERRBE -

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

A& B2 AEEE R R AR5
HEBATER

Internal Other financial
credit rating Description Trade receivables assets/other items
AESEEEE biE EUE HER A emAE /HibER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL- 12-month ECL
gt and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired NEARBEERR
HITROERBEEYALARNEE KIBEHEERE-
FEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL- 12-month ECL
EHE R usually settle in full not credit-impaired NAAESEEEE
ERAREHARENERTECR2UER LARPEERE-
FEEHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
[ credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired BAEHEERE-FEERA
information developed internally or BAEHEERE-
external resources FEERE
BRARBHEEHINBERBRENR
EAUREERRBEZEEM
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
BB credit-impaired credit-impaired KaRBEEFR-EERAME
RRBELAEENEERE RARHEERE-
EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris  Amount is written off Amount is written off
s in severe financial difficulty and the FUEHER FEME

Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

B TF%EWWAEE%T@EWKI%&H
AEETEERERKEHI
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 38. €T A (#&)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREEZERNREE
policies (Continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERR KREFE(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFMAZEREEEIEN
Group's trade and other receivables, loan to a joint M7 REBEWE S K EH MR
venture, bills receivables discounted with recourse and HARELEER  WEBRE
amounts due from related companies which are subject ZRERWEBRRRREWREER
to ECL assessment: AIFIENEERRE
Financial assets at amortised costs B AR AR 2 B E
12-month
or 2019 Gross 2018 Gross
External Internal lifetime ECL carryingamount  carryingamount
Notes  creditrating creditrating NHEAZLES 2019% 20185
M BEETSR  AREEFS BHEEES BEEE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FEL
Trade receivables 24 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 3,050,647 3,126,931
EWE BET TEA (BrzE2) (provision matrix)
REBREEER
BR(E4EN)
Loss Credit-impaired 17,034 17,034
B EERE
3,067,681 3,143,965
Amounts due from 26 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 120,749 9,003
related companies THE 2 NEARSEE
ElEEL R
Bank balances 28 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 2,917,366 2,003,561
FITHERR EER TER NEABHEE
Bills receivables 24 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 722,502 1,093,681
[l EE EER TER NEABHREE
Bills receivables discounted 25 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 461,824 338,354
with recourse ERRB T NEABHEREE
MERE EURE
iz
Loan to ajoint venture 22 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 159,999 154,135
BELEER TER (BrzEr) NEARHEE
Other receivables 24 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 279,899 462,814
FEWE AR TER (BzE1) NEABHEE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 38. @Rt T A (&)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREERNRER
policies (Continued) ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERB RRETG(E)
Financial assets at amortised costs (Continued) KA BE 2 F B E
(%)
Notes: Mt T
1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group 1. AREBIABE REHER LT
uses past due and repayment information to assess whether credit BV ANKEERARES
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. B IMEARNSEERBREE -
Not past due/
No fixed
repayment
terms
JEBER A
BEIRR
HK$'000
FET
Amounts due from related companies FE W A E 1 B RRIE 120,749
Loan to a joint venture BELEER 159,999
Other receivables JFEE LS L fth BR 50 279,899
2. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified 2. RERESER  AEEER
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime EEMBREEAEIRHE
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balance or TR S TEBEE R AT
credit-impaired, the Group determines the expected credit losses EiEEE  BRASARNESHK
on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal FEREZ BRI - KEEH
credit rating. The average loss rates for the year ended 31 L E 8 B RABEE X E A
December 2019 was 3.90% (2018: 2.17%). EEFAMENEEETEREER

B HZE2019F12A31HLF
EZFHEBEXE3.90% (2018
F:2.17%) °
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

244

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$15,093,800,000 (2018: HK$15,134,144,000). Details

of bank borrowings are set out in note 32.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

38. TR T R (%)

(ii)

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report

BREREERNRBEE
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HESRERDFEZAESR
REeEBYWKT  -BEBREER
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R

AEBMBEBRBROTEEARE
ERBES KR R2019
F12A831H  A&EHEK
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

38. T B (%)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREEZERNREE

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In addition, the following tables detail the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.

Liquidity tables

Weighted  Repayable
average  on demand
effective  or less than
interest rate 1 month
ERflz EEZREX
NETHE  FHMMER
% HK$000
Balt Tén

31 December 2019 2019%E12R31A

Non-derivative financial 374 4 @& &
liabilities

Trade and other payables  [ETE 5 RE 85 1,641,645
Advancedrawnon bils B ZEENEE

receivables discounted BT

with recourse 461,824
Amounts due to related  [EREERAIFE

companies 15,663
Bank borrowings RITRE

-~ fived rates -8 53,631
Bank borrowings RAHE

- variable-rate -28 3,996,137

6,168,900

1-3 3 months
months

EX]
HKS'000
TET

397,446

87,750

18,686

503,882

(&

MEBE SRR (E

F - TRFALAKETES
BTRZREBMUEDN - ZRTY
RERFEEENTETAN
AFRELNFHRESREIR °
fid A IR E - RIPTHEE
RETLEBRBERARRITH
U af B AR PR TRORI A R B
E o AKEREANIHER
HUTEESRIAENRSED
- AERERARAGHNIHA
DBTHOTETAR SR ZER
MERRE -

MEED K

Carrying

Total  amountat

1-5 undiscounted 31 December
years  cash flows 2019
2019%
128318
ZEEE
HK$'000
TR

to 1year

3k
ReREa
HK$'000
ThRn

MEREIE
HKS000
T#x

125%
HK$'000
i

188,176 2,221,261 2,221,261

461,824 461,824

15,663 15,663

179325 320,706 316,891

559,901 8355698 12930422 12,018,656

927,402 8355698 15955882 15,040,301
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 38. @M I A (&)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREBEEEIRBEEK
policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REESER(E
Liquidity tables (Continued) TEERK(E)

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  on demand Total amount at
effective  orless than 1-3 3 months 15 undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month months to 1 year years  cash flows 2018
20185
ERHE  RERER AR 128318

mEFSE  dOMERE  1E3AR 3MEARIE 125F Bgnsas  EREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEyt FEL FEn TAn TEn FEL TEn

31 December 2018 2018%12A31H
Non-derivative financial 474 £ BEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables R EFREMER — 176745 844,886 313416 — 295751 2925757
Advance drawn onbills B ZEENZE
receivables discounted BB EREH

with recourse — 338,354 — — — 338,354 338,354
Amounts due torelated B/ B A AIZUR

companies — 11,677 - - — 11,677 11,677
Bank borrowings RiTRE

- Variable-rate ) 334 5,213,694 199,715 427,07 8506982 14347462 13,790,495

7,331,180 1,044,601 740,487 8506982 17623250 17,066,283

246 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report
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RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

38. TR T R (%)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) B¥ERESEBENREE
policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REESER(E
Liquidity tables (Continued) B E DT ()
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause MAEREERERBKERZR
are included in the “repayable on demand or less than 1 TIEER M EBASW
month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at AT EZRERSK DM
31 December 2019 and 2018, the aggregate undiscounted 8 A1 zEE - R2019F &
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to 2018 F 12 A31 8 » 2%k
HK$3,770,485,000 and HK$5,206,987,000 respectively. TERZAFTRACRES
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the A & 3,770,485,000 & T &
directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks 5,206,987,0007 7T ° & J& 7
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand REE2HBMRR - EEH
immediate repayment. The directors believe that such B RITPKRATEITEBNES
bank loans will be repaid after the reporting date in o BRAEEARER - H
accordance with the following scheduled repayment EHE - ZERITEEBRA
dates set out in the loan agreements: REBBZERBERBHRM
BoBEERABRERAT
Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause B 75 FE SRR B R 2 SR1T 18
based on scheduled repayments: EIiRH B E 8 5K
Weighted
average Total
effective  Less than 1-3  3months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months to1year  cash flows amount
ERAE L3}
MEFHE  HSMER  123ER 3BAZIE REKEAH REE
% HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
Rl FHR FER FER FER FER
As at 31 December 2019 1201912 5318 395 3671156 101,120 M6 3TIBSR 3770485
As at 31 December 2018 #2018 12 A31H 3.34 4,905,124 284,593 27,517 5217,234 5,206,987

BXERAR AR 2019 F3R]
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

248

38. TR T R (%)

financial position
INECGRBRE RN ER S BT AR
ROoBEARTESRBIEA

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to

their fair values.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2019 Annual Report

(iii) Fair value (iii) ARE
Fair value measurements recognised in the R BERARERZ AR EE
statement of financial position =
This note provides information about how the Group AT REAEEAFEES T
determines fair values of various financial assets and AemEERSRBEARE
financial liabilities. ZER o
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial AEBRESREERSRE
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each BERERERRZ A BER
reporting period. The following table gives information B TRIEHINAEEZES
about how the fair values of these financial assets and MEERSBEBEARENE
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the BRLCEBFAFRARMERZ
valuation technique(s) and inputs used). RIE) °
Fair value as at
Financial assets/ 31 December 2019  Fair value Valuation techniques
Financial liabilities #"2019%12H8318 hierarchy and key inputs
SREE SRAEE ZARE AREHE HAEFIRETERXRE
Foreign currency forward Liabilities — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
contracts classified as derivative ~ HK$3,000 E2 are estimated based on the
financial instruments in the BE— applicable forward foreign
consolidated statement of 3,000 7T exchange rates
financial position RERFBERSMETIER
INECRBRE BN ER S BT RS AR A BRAMNERBEERE
ZoBERTEEMIA
Fairvalue as at
Financial assets/ 31 December2018 Fairvalue Valuation techniques
Financial liabilities #2018 12H31H hierarchy and key inputs
CHMEE/ AR’ ZARE ARERR  HESFAREZKE
Foreign currency forward Liabilities — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
contracts classified as derivative ~ HK$3,543,000 F2M are estimated based on the
financial instruments in the BE— applicable forward foreign
consolidated statement of 3,543,000/ 7T exchange rates

ARRFBEHREREIER
BRI EREEGE

EERRREAMBHRERER
BERSRAGBREBHEKAZE
WeEmMERAEEARE -

<



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 Z Z2019%F 12431 H 1L F/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 38. ®® T A (#)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) %8 - ATHTREEER
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHREBEUBHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERERAR
agreements
The disclosures set out in the tables below include TRFEBRENFIAITEFE
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to HEEZHIEUMREE N 2®
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar MEEREBEAEE TR
agreement that covers similar financial instruments, ZfFUemIA  THERDS
irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group's ERAKEGES M BARAKE
consolidated statement of financial position. i o
Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable FHH  TRTRFHEEER
master netting arrangements and similar agreements ERBUBZEET 2 2MEE
As at 31 December 2019 720194 12H31H

Gross amount ~ Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial assets
liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated  in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
finandial finandial PERGEHBRRR
Gross amounts position position HEvERSE

of recognised REE R&& Cash collateral
financial assets  BIBAtRR  HHRRAR Financial EETE Net
BEREH HHzOER 252  instruments BElES amount
Description BE EEAE <SRAGAE <REETE (TELRIA Efm it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn T#n Tin TiEn TiEn TiEn

Bank balances RIS n - ni — - 731
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B B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 Z Z2019%F 12431 H 1L F/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuED) 38. ®® T A (#)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) 588 THITRFELE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHREBEUBHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERESREEE)
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable FHE ATRTRFRGEER
master netting arrangements and similar agreements ERBEUHZET 22MAR
As at 31 December 2019 "2019512H31H8

Grossamount  Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial liabilities
assets presented

set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off

consolidated  consolidated  in the consolidated statement

statementof  statement of of financial position
Gross amounts financial financial BERGERERAR
of recognised position position ¥z EREH
financial RE& R&E& Cash collateral
liabilites ~ BI#EMRE BERRE Financial pledged 3
BRASH HEZERRZ 252  instruments Bs amount
Description BE ARAE CSREELE CSRARFE {TEeRIA £ ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TiEx TiEn TAT TAR TAR
Derivative financial fEeBER
liabilities
~ Foreign currency —SMEREBAL
forward contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable master

netting agreements and similar
agreements (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018

(Gross amount
of recognised
financial
assets

set off in the
consolidated

38. T B (%)

(iv) F8#E  THTRFREE
ZHREMUBRET 2@
EEREREE#E

2018 12H31H

Net amounts
of financial
liabilities
presented

in the

consolidated

Related amounts not set off
in the consolidated statement

statementof  statement of of financial position
Gross amounts financial financial TENTRRBRAE
of recognised position position HHEABSE
financial ity iy Cash collateral
liabilities  BIHEAAR BB Financial pledged Net
BREASH HE/EED £R7  instruments Be amount
Description ok BEEE <REAEHE SFERYE (T4SRIA g #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAL AL T T AT
Derivative financial TEemEs
liabilities
- Foreign currency —SMERHAN
forward contracts (3.543) - (3.543) — — (3,543)
BXGEMARAR 2019 £ 251




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

39. OPERATING LEASES 39, EEAY

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,

which fall due as follows:

SEEREBA

RmERR - NEBERET A HH
M REFREBEON A RAE
MREEENKNT

2018
HK$'000
TR

—FR
“EFERFA
HBAAF

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

Over five years

15,827
7,987
2,752

26,566

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for staff quarters and certain of its office properties. For
staff quarters and office properties, leases are negotiated for

terms ranged from 1 year to 10 years with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2019, rental income in
respect of industrial properties, office spaces, certain shops and
staff quarters and plant and machinery in the PRC was
HK$58,919,000 (2018: HK$62,350,000), net of negligible
outgoings. Leases are within one to ten years.

KEHEREEASBEREIRS
REETHAZMEEMHESR -
BEIBEERNAEYELENMER
H—FE+F BB T# -

SEESHBEA

NEE2019F12A31BIEFE -
ERAPEONIXEME  WRAE A
THBNEIBES RKE & #:E
MASBA(ENBRHBTZE 2R
%) 458,919,000 7T (20184 :
62,350,000 7T) - HEH A —F
E+F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

39. OPERATING LEASES (continueD) 39. KEMY#)
The Group as lessor (Continued) SEEABEAE)
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HEZEBSRERENRAT
2019
HK$'000
TER
Within one year —F N 55,889
In the second year MRE—F 57,425
In the third year RE=F 53,294
In the fourth year REMF 54,646
In the fifth year MNERE 55,392
After five years NSRSt 149,630
426,276
The Group had contracted with tenants for the following AREERHEHBAFEITSANBER
future minimum lease payments: KHRENRA :
2018
HK$'000
FHET
Within one year —F R 54,549
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEERENRN 217,468
After five years HBiBAEF 190,531
462,548
40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40, BEAREYE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Capital expenditures contracted for MERTHERNGA I EHRE
but not provided in the consolidated FREEETIEEDN
financial statements in respect of BARRAX
acquisition of:
- property, plant and equipment — ¥ - BB NMERE 3,194,166 2,358,009
- land use rights — T ih{E A 135,121 241,021
3,329,287 2,599,030
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e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 41, RERETRELENEE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TREAMINEAEEHBMEETHE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash EMBEED  BREBSRIIFRS
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for 2y METDEENEBELER
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EREIXARBREREWDBEEN
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash SECZEAERENERAREGD
flows from financing activities. FrisziEene -
Distribution
payableon
perpetual
capital
securities
Lease Bank Dividend XiE
liabilities  borrowings payable EXEH Total
HERE RITEE EfRE 2R At

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TEL TAL

At 1 January 2018 201841 A1H — 15,077,704 — — 15,077,704
Financing cash flows BEREARE — (1,287,209 (1,776,104) —  (3063313)
Declaration of dividend BN — — 1,776,104 — 1,776,104
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H — 13,790,495 — — 13,790,495
Adjustment upon application [ERA B A REEA

of HKFRS 16 F165 2B 10,465 — — — 10,465
At 1 January 2019 2019F1 A1H

(restated) (mE5|) 10,465 13,790,495 — — 13,800,960
Finance cost recognised (Note 10)  Bf %A% A B2 (Hfz£10) 3,174 — — — 3,174
Additions bl 51,002 — — — 51,002
Exchange realignment EXEHES (900) — — — (900)
Financing cash flows HERGME (10349)  (1,454,948)  (1,225,577) (64,721)  (2,755,595)
Dedlaration of dividend BN — — 1,225,577 — 1,225,577
Distribution of perpetual capital ~ KEBAE LR

securities — — — 64,721 64,721
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A318 53,392 12,335,547 — — 12,388,939
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= A
=

BRI (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

42.

43.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s acquisition
of property, plant and equipment was settled through transfer
of deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of
HK$505,415,000 (2018: HK$93,210,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's acquisition
of prepaid lease payments was settle through transfer of
deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of
HK$54,649,000.

INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

42.

43.

FRERS

HZE2019F 128318 ILFE -
AEBBEVE BELREBE
f 505,415,000 7 JC ( 2018 F
93,210,000/ 70) h B A FE W
BRI & o

HZE2018F12A31BILFE -
AEEBEBEENEEREEF
54,649,000 T I BAFENE
AT & o o

KRB B IR E R

RNAFR2019F 2018412 A 31
B2z AR R BT

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Non-current asset FRBEE

Investments in subsidiaries RPN RS 637,977 637,977

Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG B E] 13,536,657 12,315,476
Other receivables JrE LT EL A BR 5k 1,946 10
Bank balances HITHE R 1,552,805 2,567
15,091,408 12,318,053

Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables P& E AR BR 3k 5,749 4,759
Amount due to a subsidiary AR NG 7,455,134 9,746,700
7,460,883 9,751,459
Net current assets REBEEFEE 7,630,525 2,566,594
8,268,502 3,204,571
Share capital &N 109,170 109,723
Reserves (Note) (M) 5,901,239 3,094,848
Perpetual capital securities KB ENFEFH 2,258,093 —
Total equity arEn 8,268,502 3,204,571
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e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

43. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43.
THE COMPANY (contivueD)

KRB BARRER (&)

3 RERD

Note: Movements in reserves

Share
Share Contributed repurchase Retained Total
premium surplus reserve profits reserve
&7 % (B BH&% ROBLORFAE BEEF ArER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 MR2018F1A1H 1,869,192 634,977 — 188,819 2,692,988
Shares repurchased and &7 B [@ & 5% 4
cancelled (946,181) — (17,236) — (963,417)
Profit for the year FERF — — — 3,141,381 3,141,381
Dividends recognised WRAD K2R E
as distributions (892,153) — — (883,951) (1,776,104)
At 31 December 2018 720184 12431H 30,858 634,977 (17,236) 2,446,249 3,094,848
Shares repurchased and %17 B8 [2] 1% 5 8%
cancelled — — 17,236 (111,316) (94,080)
Profit for the year FEAFN — — — 4,126,048 4,126,048
Dividends recognised BRRDIKZRE
as distributions —_ — (1,225,577) (1,225,577)
At 31 December 2019 2019612 A31H 30,858 634,977 — 5,235,404 5,901,239

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries acquired by
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in September 2003 and

the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

ARANBIZEHREARTIANATEH2003
FOAZEBEEMAMBRBEIHBARZ
BRBEFEGABEAARAGZKER
BAZRARBEZZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE MR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

44. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY

DISCLOSURES

During the year, the Group had significant transactions with

related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be

connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant

transactions with these parties during the year are as follows:

(i) Related and connected party transactions

Name of party
BMEALER

Nature of transactions

RAME

44. HEBERBEEALTIE

TR ASEERBAL(ETAL
R R B AR BB AR R AR AR 1 R R
ALVETERR S - FREZF A
TETNERRZRZMT

(i) HERBEALIRZS

2019
HK$'000
TR

2018
HK$'000
THL

LMIML (as defined in note 26)
BXEE(ERAME26)

Lee & Man Paper Products Company Limited
(notea)
BX#mER AR (MTa)

LMC Group (as defined in note 26)
BX{tT£E(T&RHE26)

Winfibre Group (note b)
Winfibre 8 (FizEb)

OnWah (as definedin note 26)
ZE(EEAME26)

Finished goods sold by the Group
SEHERNM
Income fromsupply of steamand
electricity
REEZRRENZEA
Raw materials purchased
by the Group
EERERH

Licence fee expenses incurred
by the Group
SEFAEE N

Income fromsupply of steamand
electricity
REZERREN 2B

Raw materials purchased by the Group

SEBERN

Rentalincomein respect of office spaces

MOEREBWA

Steam and electricity fee paid
by the Group

SEENEZRREEREE

Rentalfee paid by the Group

SECAHES

Agent fee paid by the Group

SEENAEE

Raw materials purchased by the Group

SEBERMH

33,311 84,079

2,249

3,035

1,987

71,490

74,600

91,383

108,375

1,849 1,928

72,030

2,509

27,090 —
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e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

44. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 44, \EEERBAEA TIHE (&)
DISCLOSURES (continuED)
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) HEEERBEEALIXRZ(E)
(Continued)
notes: B 5
(@) The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li (@) ERARBFLELREZRBHET
King Wai Ross, who is also a daughter of Dr. Lee Wan Keung RARARFTERRFEEB L
Patrick, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li King Wai ZRAEEZERR TREXE
Ross is a director of the Company. REARBESE -
(b)  The companies are ultimately controlled by Mr.Ng Yu Hung, a (b) EBERAFBARAETERRZTE
step brother of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a substantial BIE L BB HTBEERK
shareholder of the Company. 2 o
(ii) Related and connected party balances (i) *BEREIEA LR
Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related AEERBAATRK IR
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in EALTZREELERFREAR
the consolidated statement of financial position and note kRE MO R R 26
26.
(iii) Compensation of key management (i) TEEEEREFHMH
personnel
The remunerations of the directors and other members of EXRAMETFREREXRRR
key management during the year were as follows: FRZMERT

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Short-term benefits 52 HAE T 41,158 41,695
Post-employment benefits RIREN 36 18

41,194 41,713
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. KRB EEMB A RFE

OF THE COMPANY

KRB EZEMEBARNR2019F &
201812 A31AMEBWT ¢

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued and fully paid

establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary HRAL/ &L/ BRRARRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activties
KRARER BRREELY e ALRAERRILA IERH
Directly Indirectly
Ef B
2018
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands (note i)~ Ordinary shares - US$4 —  Investment holding
RAERTHE (M) gaR-457 REER
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited ~~ British Virgin Islands (note i)~ Ordinary share - US$1 100%  Investment holding
RERAHS () tak-150 REER
Viantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HKS2 100%  Investment holding
HERRAT 3 ERR-28n REER
Millon Profit Corporation Limited Hong Kong Registered capital - 100%  Investment holding
EERRERLA EA HK$100 REER
EBR-100E7
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Offshore) ~ Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
Trading Limited B AF9100,0007 materials
HE(RRERAZRE)ES RERE
ERAT
Wang Kei (Macao Commercial Offshore) ~ Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
Trading Limited 15! AP%100,0007 materials
TA(RFRRAARE) E5RRAT RERE
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Factory Co. Lid) ol (ki) US$156,480,000 trading of paper
RREVESRARAT AR -156,480,000% FHEERES
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note ii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) R (M3kil) U5$680,000,000 trading of paper
EREEHARLT AR -680,000,000% 7 FREERES
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note ii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Company Limited) B 15$393,000,000 trading of paper
THEEEARRLT &% -393,000,000% 7T FHEERES
(Chongging Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) ol (ki) 159322,430,000 trading of paper
ERENESERDA HER-322, 43000057 REEERES
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e MR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ Z2019F 12 H31HIFF/Z

45, PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. KRB EFEMWEB LA RIFIE &)
OF THE COMPANY (contivuED)

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary ihaL/RL/ BRARARBAES/ held by the Company Principal activities
KEARAR BRREELY e ALNRFEERRILA IEER
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2018
(Chongging Lee & Man Pulp The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) ol (Migkil) US$172,830,000 trading of pulp
EREXHEERL HER-172,830, 00057 2REERRS
(Jiangyi Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note ii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) o (M3til) 15$100,000,000 trading of paper
TREESERLT HET-100,000,000%7 FHEERZS
(Chongging Lee & Man Tissue The PRC (note ii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) ol (Migti) U5§425,000,000 trading of tissue
BRENAERATEERLA SR -425,000,000% products
EraERtERES
Vitnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited i 15$300,000,000 trading of paper
&% -300,000,000% 7 FHEERES
Grand Fortress Global Limited British Virgin Islands (note i)~ Ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
BRRRERAT RRRAHE () US$100 RELR
EBR-1005T
notes: M EE
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENEBBEE -
(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZERAREPEIKILZIERER
PRC. E
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FRINNBEERARTELELSE
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results or XELEERBENARAINE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other DAl - BERR IHEMMER
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AINFBEFEAKEBNRILE -

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at MERSFAEMER - SHERQ
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. AMECAREENEBES -
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